
City of Fort Atkinson 
City Manager’s Office 

101 N. Main Street 
Fort Atkinson, WI 53538 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
IN PERSON AND VIA ZOOM 

TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 21, 2021 – 7:00 PM 
CITY HALL – SECOND FLOOR 

If you have special needs or circumstances which may make communication or accessibility 
difficult at the meeting, please call (920) 563-7760.  Accommodations will, to the fullest extent 

possible, be made available on request by a person with a disability. 

AGENDA 
1. Call meeting to order

2. Roll call

3. Public Hearings – None

4. Public Comment: The City Council will receive comments from City residents. Comments
are generally limited to three minutes per individual. Anyone wishing to speak is required
to sign up in advance or state the following items for the record when called upon:
name, address, subject matter, and contact information. No action will be taken on any
public comments unless the item is also elsewhere on the agenda.

5. Consent Agenda: The Consent Agenda outlined below is hereby presented for action by
the City Council. Items may be removed from the Consent Agenda on the request of any
one Council member. Items not removed may be adopted by one action without debate.
Removed items may be taken up either immediately after the Consent Agenda or placed
later on the agenda at the discretion of the Council President.

a. Review and possible action relating to the minutes of the September 7, 2021
regular City Council meeting (Ebbert)

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/81946009258?pwd=ZUk0ZXNFY1lvY2xHRUVoQk83RFdlQT09 

Meeting ID: 819 4600 9258 
Passcode: 53538 

Dial by Location 
+1 312 626 6799

AGENDA

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/81946009258?pwd=ZUk0ZXNFY1lvY2xHRUVoQk83RFdlQT09


b. Review and possible action relating to the minutes of the September 14, 2021
Plan Commission meeting (Ebbert)

c. City Sewer, Water, and Stormwater Utility Financial Statements as of August
31, 2021 (Ebbert)

d. Review and possible action relating to building, plumbing, and electrical permit
report for August, 2021 (Juarez)

e. Review and possible action relating to the City Clerk-issued License and Permit
Report for August 2021 (Ebbert)

f. Review and possible action relating to a Special Event: Fort Atkinson Area
Chamber of Commerce 25th Annual Lighted Holiday Parade on November 13,
2021 (Ebbert)

6. Petitions, Requests, and Communications – None

7. Resolutions and Ordinances:

a. Third/Final reading of an Ordinance to amend Sections 2-52(c) and 15.10.13(2)
and to create Section 2-3 of the City of Fort Atkinson Municipal Code relating to
allowing electronic participation at meetings by members of the City Council,
Boards, Commissions, and Committees (LeMire)

8. Reports of Officers, Boards, and Committees:

a. City Manager’s Report (LeMire)

9. Unfinished Business

a. Review and possible action relating to the General Development Plan for the U-
Haul Planned Unit Development project located at 1307/1309 High Street
(PUD-2021-01) (Selle)

10. New Business:

a. Review and possible action relating to an estimate from Century Fence Company
for pavement markings for 2021 road construction projects for $34,780 (Selle)

b. Review and possible action relating to the 2022 Recycling Grant Application to
the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources (Selle)

c. Review and possible action relating to a proposal from Tactical Athlete Health
and Performance Institute, LLC for the City’s participation in the Rebound
program (LeMire)

11. Miscellaneous – None

12. Claims, Appropriations and Contract Payments:



a. Review and possible action relating to the Verified Claims presented by the
Director of Finance and authorization of payment (Ebbert)

13. The City Council may consider a motion to convene in closed session pursuant to State
Stat. §19.85(1)(e) to deliberate or negotiate the purchasing of public properties

14. The City Council may continue in closed session pursuant to State Stat. §19.85(1)(c) to
consider employment, promotion, compensation, or performance evaluation data of
any public employee over which the governmental body has jurisdiction or exercises
responsibility [6-month review of the City Manager]

15. Adjournment

Date Posted: September 17, 2021 

CC: City Council; City Staff; City Attorney; News Media; Fort Atkinson School District; Fort Atkinson 
Chamber of Commerce 

Visit us online! City news and information can be found at www.fortatkinsonwi.net, and be sure to follow 
us on Facebook @FortAtkinsonWI. 

http://www.fortatkinsonwi.net/


City of Fort Atkinson 
City Clerk/Treasurer’s Office 

101 N. Main Street 
Fort Atkinson, WI 53538 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
IN PERSON AND VIA ZOOM 

TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 7, 2021 – 7:00 PM 

1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER
President Scherer called the meeting to order at 7:00 pm.

2. ROLL CALL
Present: Cm. Becker, Cm. Hartwick, Cm. Housley, Cm. Johnson and President Scherer. Also
present: City Manager, City Attorney, City Engineer, City Clerk/Treasurer, Police Chief and Fire
Chief.

3. PUBLIC HEARINGS – None

4. PUBLIC COMMENT
Ann Engelman, 428 Sherman Avenue – spoke in support of the poetry wall which will be
located on the north wall of Hometown Pharmacy.

Erin Ryan, 1210 Arndt Street - owner of Ryan Brothers. Ryan Bros has provided ambulance 
service to Fort Atkinson since 2001. Mr. Ryan spoke of their businesses’ commitment to the 
community. He would like the Council to not discontinue the contract for ambulance services. 

Cody Letson, paramedic with Ryan Brothers for 10 years. Spoke in support of the service 
provided by Ryan Brothers since 2001. He would like the Council to not discontinue the 
contract for ambulance services.  

Todd Overdahl, 620 Washington Street, employee of Ryan Brothers for 17 years. Discussed his 
service and dedication to the community as an employee of Ryan Brothers.  

5. CONSENT AGENDA:
a) Review and possible action relating to the minutes of the August 17, 2021 regular City
Council meeting (Ebbert)
b) Review and possible action relating to the minutes of the August 24, 2021 Plan
Commission meeting (Ebbert)
Cm. Becker moved, seconded by Cm. Housley to approve the Consent Agenda as listed, items
5.a. and 5.b. Motion carried.

6. PETITIONS, REQUESTS, AND COMMUNICATIONS
a) Presentation from Vandewalle and Associates relating to the Banker Road Neighborhood
Concept Plan (LeMire)

AGENDA



Manager LeMire introduced Brian Munson from Vandewalle to present the neighborhood 
concept plan. Mr. Munson reviewed the concept plan focusing on the design of the 
neighborhood, streets and utilities. The plan provides various styles of housing from single to 
multi family. The plan is a starting point for a developer to devise a proposal that could suit 
Fort Atkinson and the experienced growth.  

b) Review and possible action relating to the Banker Road Neighborhood Concept Plans
(LeMire)
Cm. Becker moved, seconded by Cm. Johnson to approve the Banker Road Neighborhood
Concept Plan set as presented by Vandewalle and Associates, and to direct City Staff to
prepare a Request for Proposals for distribution to qualified developers. Motion carried
unanimously.

c) Presentation relating to a proposal for additional staffing for Fire/EMS Services and Police
Services (Rausch/Bump)
Chief Rausch provided a presentation on the need for additional staffing for the Fire
Department. He discussed the increase in call volume already in 2021 with the same staffing
levels since 1974. FAFD consists of 4 full-time firefighters and 41 paid-on-call firefighters. Of
those firefighters, 17 are EMTs, 5 are EMRs and 3 are paramedics. Requested staffing includes
6 full-time firefighter/paramedics and 6 full-time firefighter/EMTs.

Chief Bump discussed his Department staffing levels and the call volume they have 
experienced the past few years. Twelve dedicated patrol officers with a minimum of two 
actively patrolling at any time. The Department has a total of 20 sworn officers including the 
Chief, Captains and Lieutenants. The state average is based on a community of 8,000 with a 
typical roster of 16 officers. Since 2011 the agency has struggled to meet all of its obligation 
with the level of sworn officers. Requesting to add two full time officers to the Department. 
Future development could bring up to 800 residents therefore requiring additional officers.  

7. RESOLUTIONS AND ORDINANCES:
a) Second reading of an Ordinance to amend Sections 2-52(c) and 15.10.13(2) and to create
Section 2-3 of the City of Fort Atkinson Municipal Code relating to allowing electronic
participation at meetings by members of the City Council, Boards, Commissions, and
Committees (LeMire)
Cm. Hartwick moved, seconded by Cm. Johnson to direct the City Manager to prepare this
Ordinance for a third and final reading at the meeting on September 21, 2021. Motion carried.

8. REPORTS OF OFFICERS, BOARDS, AND COMMITTEES:
a) City Manager’s Report (LeMire)
No action taken.

9. UNFINISHED BUSINESS – NONE

10. NEW BUSINESS:



a) Review and possible action relating to a one-lot Certified Survey Map for the Badgerland
After School Enrichment (BASE) project located at 520 Edward Street/509 Clarence Street (CSM-
2021-05) (Selle)
Engineer Selle reviewed the request for the future site of BASE. This was reviewed by the Plan
Commission and Departments without concerns.

Cm. Becker moved, seconded by Cm. Johnson to approve the one-lot Certified Survey Map for 
the BASE project located at 520 Edward Street/509 Clarence Street. Motion carried 
unanimously  

b) Review and possible action relating to the Ryan Brothers Fort Atkinson, LLC, Contract for
Provision of Ambulance and Emergency Medical Services (EMS) (LeMire)
Manager LeMire reviewed the existing contract held with Ryan Brothers. A provision of the
contract is that a notice must be given between September 1st and November 30th the year
prior for termination. Providing notice of contract termination between this time period in
2021 will provide a contract end date of December 31, 2022.

Cm. Hartwick stated this request is larger than just a contract as this is leading to additional  
staffing for the Fire and Police Department. She asked if action on this item must be taken  
tonight or if it can be on another agenda. LeMire stated there is a small window for providing 
notice of contract termination.  

Cm. Becker noted the budget restrictions that limit options and the Council is in a tough 
position.  

President Scherer stated this is not a referendum on the service provided by Ryan Brothers. 
This is to serve our community and how it will affect the citizens.  

Cm. Becker moved, seconded by Cm. Johnson to direct the City Manager to provide official 
notice to prevent the automatic extension of the 911 ambulance service contract with Ryan 
Brothers Fort Atkinson, LLC, which will end the existing contract for services on December 31, 
2022 at 11:59 PM CDT. Motion carried unanimously. 

c) Review and possible action relating to a Request for Proposals for Referendum
Consulting and Communications Services for a potential Public Safety Referendum in April
2022 (LeMire)
Manager LeMire prescribed the process to seek proposals for communication services.

Cm. Hartwick moved, seconded by Cm. Becker to authorize the City Manager to distribute the 
Request for Proposals for Referendum Consulting and Communications Services to 
experienced communications consultants and through the League of Wisconsin Municipalities 
website. Motion carried unanimously.  

11. MISCELLANEOUS – NONE



12. CLAIMS, APPROPRIATIONS AND CONTRACT PAYMENTS:
a) Review and possible action relating to the Verified Claims presented by the Director of
Finance and authorization of payment (Ebbert)

Cm. Becker moved, seconded by Cm. Johnson to approve the list of verified claims and 
authorize payment. Motion carried unanimously. 

13. THE CITY COUNCIL MAY CONSIDER A MOTION TO CONVENE IN CLOSED SESSION
PURSUANT TO STATE STAT. §19.85(1)(C) TO CONSIDER EMPLOYMENT, PROMOTION,
COMPENSATION, OR PERFORMANCE EVALUATION DATA OF ANY PUBLIC EMPLOYEE
OVER WHICH THE GOVERNMENTAL BODY HAS JURISDICTION OR EXERCISES
RESPONSIBILITY [6-MONTH REVIEW OF THE CITY MANAGER]

Cm. Becker moved, seconded by Cm. Hartwick to adjourn into closed session pursuant to State 
Stat. §19.85(1)(c) to consider employment, promotion, compensation, or performance  
evaluation data of any public employee over which the governmental body has jurisdiction  
or exercises responsibility for the 6-month review of the City Manager. Motion carried  
unanimously. 

14. ADJOURNMENT
Cm. Hartwick moved, seconded by Cm. Becker to adjourn. Meeting adjourned at 9:22 pm.



City of Fort Atkinson 
City Clerk/Treasurer’s Office 

101 N. Main Street 
Fort Atkinson, WI 53538 

PLAN COMMISSION MEETING 
IN PERSON AND VIA ZOOM 

TUESDAY, SEPTEMBER 14, 2021 – 4:00 PM 

1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER
Manager LeMire called the meeting to order at 4:00 pm.

2. ROLL CALL
Present: Cm. Becker, Cm. Highfield, Cm. Kessenich, Cm. Schultz, Cm. Lescohier, Manager LeMire
and Engineer Selle.  Also present: City Attorney, Clerk/Treasurer, Public Works Superintendent
and Building Inspector.

3. REVIEW AND POSSIBLE ACTION RELATING TO THE MINUTES OF THE AUGUST 24, 2021
REGULAR PLAN COMMISSION MEETING.

Cm. Kessenich provided a correction to the adjournment of the meeting on the 24th as she 
could not be heard therefore she did not send the motion for adjournment at that meeting. 

Cm. Becker moved, seconded by Cm. Highfield to approve minutes with the correction as noted 
above. Motion carried.  

4. REVIEW AND POSSIBLE RECOMMENDATION TO THE CITY COUNCIL RELATING TO THE
GENERAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR THE U HAUL PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT LOCATED
AT 1590 HIGH STREET (PUD-2021-01)(SELLE)

Engineer Selle reviewed the GDP for the location. 

Cm. Kessenich inquired on the features for the bicycle riders. There is a designated area near 
the building where riders can refill bike tires, use restroom facilities and have access to a 
drinking fountain. Restrooms are available during regular store hours.  

Cm. Becker asked about a structure that was noted with a canopy roof. The roof was changed in 
the plan to be a metal roof.  

Cm. Kessenich requested clarification on the retail spaces in the complex. The restaurant will 
remain and two other retail locations are available.  

Cm. Lescohier moved, seconded by Cm. Kessenich to recommend the City Council approve the 
General Development Plan for the U Haul Planned Unit Development located at 1309 High 
Street subject to recommendations noted by Vandewalle. Motion carried.  

5. ADJOURNMENT

AGENDA



Cm. Becker moved, seconded by Cm. Kessenich to adjourn. Meeting adjourned at 4:25 pm. 

Respectfully submitted 
Michelle Ebbert 
Clerk/Treasurer 



Permit Report 

08/01/2021 - 08/31/2021 

Group: Add/ Alter Commen::ial 

21768 117-119 N Bare 
Main St. Properties 

LLC 

Group: detached garage 

21765 910 Grove St. Paul Smith 

21766 820 Banker Ted Urdahl 
Rd. 

21777 330 Garfield Ed & Carissa 
St. Davis 

21786 832 McCoy Cody Rutter 
Park Rd. 

Add/ Alter Remodel 
Commercial break room 

detached Raze existing 
garage detached 

garage and 
build new 
detached 
garage. 

detached Raze existing 
garage detached 

garage and 
build new 
detached 
garage. 

detached new detached 
garage garage 

detached Moving 
garage detached 

garage onto 
new slab 

15,000 $90.00 

Group Total: :l 

29,600 $116.40 

10,000 $159.60 

30,000 $114.00 

3,000 $80.00 

�;f:'---,,?1r11;;11111 ,.��:,r,�:- - ,-�- -· :�H = -: -�--,-.- :--�:• ,--�;r,-, -:--·-: _:-', �--,�.l� ";· --.- ::--- �-�, i ,_-,---$471�001 
Jifjj[<�L ·""'- Ztil:«--- ____ ---- _____ .. __ --•-'------ ----·-- ----,--~---------- -•··-----'---�-- __ -••-----· _ � 

Group Total: 4 

Group: Electrical 

21747 10 Madison Ace Hardware Electrical 220V & pump 0 $45.00 
Ave. 

21753 333 Monroe Sonjia Electrical 200 amp 0 $60.75 
St. Schneider service 

21758 618 Talent Roxsolid Electrical New single 0 $150.00 
Tr. Creations LLC ' family home 

electrical 

Page: l. of 6 

AGENDA



21759 1105 Phillip Martin Electrical PV system 0 $450,00 
Menomonee 
Ct. 

21763 1643 MARIA DE LA Electrical New single 0 $150.00 
Montclair Pl. LUZ LIRA & family home 

JESUS Electrical 
ANTONIO 
CHAIREZ 
CAMPA 

21767 1716-1718 RTLE Electrical New two 0 $160.00 
Montclair Pl. Properties family Electric 

LLC 

21770 612 Craig Electrical 18 openings, 0 $48.50 
Chippewa Ct. Engstrom 1 220V repair 

fire damage, 

21774 324 Lincoln Russ Stachel Electrical Service 100 0 $55.00 
St. amp 

overhead 

21778 328 S High Harlan Electrical 25 openings 0 $48.75 
St. Pelischek garage 

21783 604 Robert Charles Electrical rewire home 0 $120.00 
St. Wagner to remove 

knob & Tube 

21787 1420 S. Main Nancy & Electrical Service 0 $55.75 
St. Laura 

Hollen berger 

21788 218 Heritage Dave Krause Electrical basement 0 $59,00 
Dr. finish 

21790 413 Heth St. Karen Electrical 3openings & 0 $42.25 
Haubenschild pole light 

21792 219 Janesville Aaron Phillips Electrical Service panel 0 $55,00 
Ave. replacement 

21794 213 Julie Green Electrical Replace A/C 0 $40.00 
Roosevelt St. 

21796 316 Grove St. Doug & Electrical nine openings 0 $36.75 
Christine 
Horstmeyer 

21797 925 Fort Atkinson Electrical Over 600 0 $375.00 
Lexington High School amp service 
Blvd. and new 

HVAC 
electrical 

21802 608 Simon & Electrical Replace A/C 0 $40.00 
Chippewa Ct. Sarah 

Dorfman 

2 6 



Group Total: 19 

Group: fence 

21748 575 W Homes for Fence 6' privacy 2,000 $55.00 
Blackhawk Independent fence in rear 
Dr. Living yard 

21750 302 E. Jeff Patrick Fence 4' Chainlink 2,843 $55.00 
Cramer St. Fence 

21769 636 Grant St. Calvin Trail Fence 6' privacy 2,000 $55.00 
fence in rear 
yard 

21779 329 Wilcox Kimberly Fence 6' privacy 4,800 $55.00 
St. Stevens fence in rear 

yard 

Group Total: 4 

Group: Home Occupation 

21749 121 W Marianne Home Create 5,000 $103.60 
Blackhawk Bardenwerper Occupation Fabrics 
Dr. business in 

attic of 
garage 

Group Total: 1 

Group: HVAC 

21761 1643 MARIA DE LA HVAC New single 0 $135.00 
Montclair Pl. LUZ LIRA & family home 

JESUS HVAC 
ANTONIO 
CHAIREZ 
CAMPA 

21775 1243 Lillian Courtney HVAC Gas line 0 $60.00 
St. Bielewski 

21791 1716-1718 RTLE HVAC New two 0 $240.00 
Montclair Pl. Properties family hvac 

LLC 

21793 213 Julie Green HVAC Replace A/C 0 $65.00 
Roosevelt St. 

21795 432 Jones Mike Ferro HVAC replacement 0 $240.00 
Ave. HVAC 

Page: 3 of 6 



21801 608 Simon & HVAC Replace A/C 0 $65.00 
Chippewa Ct. Sarah 

Dorfman 

21803 309 Bluff St. St. Paul's HVAC Replace A/C 0 $65.00 
Lutheran 
School 

Group Total: 1 

Group: New Single Family 

21760 1643 MARIA DE LA New Single New single 300,000 $731.20 
Montclair Pl. LUZ LIRA & Family family home 

JESUS 
ANTONIO 
CHAIREZ 
CAMPA 

Group Total: 1 

Group: Plumbing 

21762 1643 MARIA DE LA Plumbing New single 0 $201.00 
Montclair Pl. LUZ LIRA & family home 

JESUS Plumbing 
ANTONIO 
CHAIREZ 
CAMPA 

21771 1614-1618 Joseph Esther Plumbing New two 0 $180.00 
Premier Pl. family condo 

laterals 

21773 535 Berea Dr. Bethany Plumbing New school 0 $474.00 
Evangelical plumbing 
Lutheran 
Church 

21780 1233 Andrew Plumbing Fire 0 $105.00 
Janesville Logan protection 
Ave. lateral 

21782 604 Robert Jacob Willey Plumbing Replumb 0 $54.00 
St. 

21784 218 Heritage Dave Krause Plumbing Adding 0 $48.00 
Dr. basement 

bath 

21789 923 Gail Pl. Torres Efren Plumbing shower 0 $36.00 
. remodel 

Page: 4 of 6 



Group Total: 8 

Group: Right of Way Opening Permit 

21754 320 JACKSON AMY LUEDER Right of Way DRIVEWAY 0 $50.00 
ST Opening APPROACH 

Permit 

21755 1002 N HIGH Right of Way DRIVEWAY 0 $50.00 
ST Opening APPROACH 

Permit 

21756 1135 S MAIN Right of Way DRIVEWAY 0 $50.00 
ST Opening APPROACH 

Permit 

21757 1109/1155 Right of Way CARRIAGE 0 $50.00 
TALCOTT Opening WALK 
AVE Permit REMOVAL 

21772 1614-1618 Joseph Esther Right of Way Opening for 0 $50.00 
Premier Pl. Opening laterals 

Permit 

21781 1233 Andrew Right of Way Fire 0 $50.00 
Janesville Logan Opening protection 
Ave. Permit lateral 

21799 216 McMillen Holly Wolf Right of Way Sewer Lateral 0 $50.00 
St. Opening 

Permit 

Group Total: 1 

Group: Sign 

21752 88 S. Main St. Bridge at Sign Temporary 500 $55.00 
River & Main sign permit 

21764 1510 Harold1s Sign Wall sign 2,000 $55.00 
Janesville Muffler 
Ave. 

21805 100 E. Opportunities Sign Monument 2,500 $55.00 
Blackhawk Inc. sign replace 
Dr. 

r-·,; ·;,;-.,-::��n;;�: '.'/,'·:,', ·�r '<. -�:,,:, <'',""'', :1�'\'':'"<c,;· '�:::��:•.,i::?:'-7·�-·-~•_'f''":'·'�f-:,- ·.·-·_"•,·: .. "':Ur ·;:$165�1
8
'

1'1�-t-��:d;..: � ... '..l..L..,__.� '=� �- �==�=' �=-..!..= �� • ..;:,' --� ...... al. ,; •• J.•1 =-L::...l= ' �--......... 'LL�"'--" ', { ��"'- _, --�~�·-' 

Group Total: l 

Page: 5 of 6 



Group: Single Family Alteration/ Addition 

21751 324 Hilltop Judy Woychik Single Family 
Tr. Alteration/Ad 

21776 612 Craig 
Chippewa Ct. Engstrom 

21785 218 Heritage Dave Krause 
Dr. 

21800 617 Grant St. Molly & 
Whitney 
Larson 

dition 

Single Family 
Alteration/ Ad 
dition 

Single Family 
Alteration/ Ad 
dition 

Single Family 
Alteration/ Ad 
dition 

Egress 
window 

repair fire 
damage. 

Basement 
Finish 

foundation 
repair 

4,784 $31.50 

160,000 $150.00 

20,000 $141.45 

17,000 $31.50 

GrOUJ) Total: 4 

Total Records: 59 9/7/2021 

Page: 6 of 6 



City of Fort Atkinson 
City Clerk/Treasurer’s Office 

101 N. Main Street 
Fort Atkinson, WI 53538 

MEMORANDUM 

DATE: September 21, 2021 

TO: Fort Atkinson City Council  

FROM:  Michelle Ebbert, City Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director 

RE: Monthly Report of Licenses and Permits Issued by the City Clerk 

The following is a list of the Licenses and Permits issued by the City Clerk for the period of 
August 14, 2021 through September 17, 2021, per the City of Fort Atkinson Municipal Code of 
Ordinances. No action is necessary by City Council, as these licenses and permits have already 
been issued. This report is for informational purposes only.  

BEEKEEPING 
None  

OPERATOR 
Licensing Period – July 1, 2021 – June 30, 2022 

Applicant Place of Employment Recommended Approval 
by Fort Atkinson  

Police Department 
Aja Briley Creamery 201 X 
Zachary Meyer Festival Foods X 
Stacy Cervantes-Dominguez Brickhouse Pizza Pub X 
Zachery Prickett Mr Brews Taphouse X 
Alyssa Fitzwater Kwik Trip – Madison Avenue X 
Courtney Fleischmann Pizza Hut X 
Dawn McDermott American Legion Dugout X 
Brandon Stewart Pizza Hut X 
Erin Ehler Open X 
Susan Teubert American Legion Dugout X 
James Rodriquez Kwik Trip – Madison Avenue X 
Madyson McWilliam Mr Brews Taphouse X 

MOBILE MERCHANT 
None 

DOOR-TO-DOOR RESIDENTIAL / DIRECT SELLER 
None 

AGENDA



City of Fort Atkinson 
City Clerk/Treasurer’s Office 

101 N. Main Street 
Fort Atkinson, WI 53538 

MEMORANDUM 

DATE: September 21, 2021 

TO: Fort Atkinson City Council 

FROM:  Michelle Ebbert, City Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director 

RE: Review and possible action relating to Special Event: 
Fort Atkinson Chamber of Commerce – Holiday Parade 

BACKGROUND 
The City of Fort Atkinson is committed to supporting quality special events throughout the 
community. The Special Event Guide and Application was created to assist with planning events 
in the city and to allow appropriate contact information be obtained and forwarded to 
Departments.  The planning guide is designed to assist members of the community in the 
planning, preparation and running of events and programs in Fort Atkinson.  

The Special Event Guide defines a special event as a planned extraordinary occurrence or 
temporary aggregation of attractions, open to the public, that (a) is conducted on public 
property, (b) is conducted on private property and has a substantial impact on public property, 
(c) has activities that request special temporary licenses; or (d) require special city services,
whether open to the public or not, including but not limited to, any of the following: street
closures, provisions of barricades, garbage cans, stages or special no parking signs, special
electrical services, or special police protection. Special events include, but not limited to,
neighborhood and community festivals, parades, processions, fairs, and bicycle or foot races.

DISCUSSION 
Event: Holiday Parade 
Dates and Hours of Event: Saturday, November 13, 2021  
Street Closures will begin at 4:00 pm and end approximately 15 minutes following the parade 
Parade will begin at 6:30 pm  
Locations: Staging at the Middle School and St. Paul’s parking lots near 4th, East and Bluff 
Streets. 
Contact Person: Anna Jensen, Associated Director Chamber of Commerce 
Contact Person: Marissa Weidenfeller, Parade Chairperson 
Estimated Number of Attendees:  1000 

Included is a detailed map specifics the parade route, street closures and proper detour for 
traffic during the parade.  

AGENDA



Event information was routed to Departments with the following comments without concerns. 

Police Department: 
No concerns based on the road closures and map provided. Road closure times are appropriate. 

We need to make sure all barricades are set up at the correct times. The roadway will remain 
closed for approximately 15 minutes after the parade stops. Then we will open the parade 
route roadways. This event has a large community response and we want to make sure the 
majority of pedestrians have moved on before we open the route.  

This event will require additional officers including a supervisor consistent with prior event 
years. This will require that Captain Chad Lange, our Operations Captain be involved in any 
planning meeting moving forward.  

Public Works Department: 
Appropriate barricades will be staged to allow proper street closures. 

There will be no alcohol sales or consumption in conjunction with this event. 

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 
There is no financial impact to the City of Fort Atkinson for the event. 

RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that City Council approve the Fort Atkinson Chamber of Commerce Holiday 
Parade for Saturday November 13, 2021 and various street closures.  

ATTACHMENTS 
Special Event Application, Event Description, Event Map 



Phone Number: 

Is the Business/Group Organizing Event: 

Event Name: 

Event Date: 

Event Location: 

Check all applicable boxes: 

□ I am renting a City Park

□ I will be having music

�ill be closing a street(s) 

DI will be selllng beer aild/orwine• 

CITY OF FORT ATKINSON 

Special Event Application 

Email: 

Special Event Details 

-e 

Hours of Event: 

Attach copy of paid park rental from Parks & Recreation (920) 563-7781. 

Start and end time of music: 

Attach site diagram with details. Barricades can be provided by Public Works upon request (920) 563-7771. 

Attach Temporary License and Bartender/Operator Applications. Contact City Clerk (920) 563-7760 

*Restroom Plan o/so required with sales of beer and/or wine, Refer to the Special Event Guide.

□ I will be erecting a tent, canopy or other tempora1y structure. 

By signing, I agree to the following sta tements: 

I understand I am responsible for a fire safety and medical plan. I understand it is my responsiblllty to read the Special Events Guide. I understand I may be 
required to provide Proof of Insurance. I am responsible to contact each Department to arrange for assistance. I understand I am responsible for timely clean up 
after the event, 

Responsible Party Signature� J� 
Office Use Only 

Date Su mitted to Clerk: g / 30/Ji �a I Date Emailed to Departments: 9 l f � f JI);{!(? 
Department Comments, Concerns, Actlon(s) to be taken 

Clerk/Treasurer 

EMS• Ryan Brothers Ambulance 

iz:I Engineer and Building Inspection 

CZI Electrician 

IZ:f Fire and Rescue Department 

121 Library and Museum 

C2f Park.I & Recreation 

Police Department 

-el Public Works D epartment 

&:a"wastewater and Water Utility 

Date Reported to City Council (If necessary): 

Comments, Contingencies, Findings: 

\ 



Ms. Rebecca Houseman-LeMire August 30, 2021 

Ms. Houseman-LeMire       August 30, 2021 

City of Fort Atkinson      

101 N. Main St. 

Fort Atkinson, WI  53538 

Dear Ms. Houseman-LeMire: 

This is our formal request to be included on the agenda for the City Council meeting, September 7th .  The Fort 

Atkinson Area Chamber of Commerce Holiday Parade is scheduled for Saturday, November 13th at 5:30 pm.  We 

will strictly limit the parade to 60 entries to minimize street closure times.  

Parade entries will assemble in the Fort Atkinson Middle School and St. Paul’s parking lot located on S 4th Street 

East and Bluff Street. The parade entries will exit onto Milwaukee Ave East from Bluff and High Street; go west 

to Main Street, north on Main Street, and then west on to Madison Avenue.  It is our intention that all motorized 

or animal-drawn floats will continue on Madison Avenue to Robert Street and return to the starting point and 

that all walking entries will return near the Bike Trail entrance. 

We ask that the Department of Public Works drop off road barricades and post “No Parking Signs” late on 

Friday, November 12. These are needed on East Milwaukee Avenue from Main Street to Bluff Street; on S. High 

Street and Bluff Street, from Milwaukee Ave to S. 4th Street; on Main Street from Milwaukee Ave to Madison 

Ave. See map attached for specific location of barricades.  

We request that the following streets be closed Saturday, November 13 from 4:00 pm until approximately 6:30 

pm to avoid traffic issues leading up to, during, and after the parade.  

Request of streets to be closed is as follows: 

4:00pm  

 East Milwaukee Ave at S. Main St-closed to Bluff Street

 S 3rd Street E. at High Street-closed to Bluff Street
4:45pm

 Main St to be closed from Milwaukee Ave to Madison Ave and Madison Ave to Robert Street

Sincerely, 

Anna Jensen, Associate Director       Marissa Weidenfeller 

Fort Atkinson Chamber of Commerce       Parade Chairperson 

FORT ATKINSON AREA 

CHAMBER OF COMMERCE

Anna Jensen 

Associate Director 

244 N Main Street 

Fort Atkinson, WI 53538 

P|(920) 563-3210 



ITT!-
� 
24 

- ---

¥ 

f 

Holiday Parade 
25 l;;f

C... CRAMER 

Quantity Description Svrnbol 

30 Detour Signage [Ill!] w 
No Parking Signs 

65 3:00- 6:00 • 
Wire stokes in ground 

No Parking Signs 

37 4:00- 6:00 • 

Wire attached to cones 

29 
No Parking Signs 
4:00- 6:00 • 

Wire stokes in ground 

Saw Horse 
60 Barricade 

Parade Route 
Hwy 12 detour 

NA Hwy 89 detour 
Bus 26 detour 
Hwv 106 detour 

Note: Deliver 70 orange cones 
70 to the middle school parking. 

lot when installing signs. 

,,_ 

'-- -

wfJfr S. W 'W,!"),11 At,.,� M 

� 
1 

�I ' §2185 ' 

�22 

h,\K£ 

l:t 

J, 
I �ffiS 

1 Put Road Oosed ahead sign 
'on rood-/west side). 

, Put 3 cones in rront of sign 

���2�r' 

C'JRTI_� 

-- ----

✓ §

----

i 

11 

!I•� Oelh,,.. 

70 conn 
• • to scnooa •• pot11.ln9 lot 

, ....... _ ... ..._ - , I -- 1-- I -

'-IAACEVSJD� OR 



City of Fort Atkinson 
City Clerk/Treasurer’s Office 

101 N. Main Street 
Fort Atkinson, WI 53538 

MEMORANDUM 

DATE: September 21, 2021 

TO: Fort Atkinson City Council 

FROM:  Michelle Ebbert, City Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director 

RE: Review and possible action relating to Special Event: 
Fort Atkinson Chamber of Commerce – Holiday Parade 

BACKGROUND 
The City of Fort Atkinson is committed to supporting quality special events throughout the 
community. The Special Event Guide and Application was created to assist with planning events 
in the city and to allow appropriate contact information be obtained and forwarded to 
Departments.  The planning guide is designed to assist members of the community in the 
planning, preparation and running of events and programs in Fort Atkinson.  

The Special Event Guide defines a special event as a planned extraordinary occurrence or 
temporary aggregation of attractions, open to the public, that (a) is conducted on public 
property, (b) is conducted on private property and has a substantial impact on public property, 
(c) has activities that request special temporary licenses; or (d) require special city services,
whether open to the public or not, including but not limited to, any of the following: street
closures, provisions of barricades, garbage cans, stages or special no parking signs, special
electrical services, or special police protection. Special events include, but not limited to,
neighborhood and community festivals, parades, processions, fairs, and bicycle or foot races.

DISCUSSION 
Event: Holiday Parade 
Dates and Hours of Event: Saturday, November 13, 2021  
Street Closures will begin at 4:00 pm and end approximately 15 minutes following the parade 
Parade will begin at 6:30 pm  
Locations: Staging at the Middle School and St. Paul’s parking lots near 4th, East and Bluff 
Streets. 
Contact Person: Anna Jensen, Associated Director Chamber of Commerce 
Contact Person: Marissa Weidenfeller, Parade Chairperson 
Estimated Number of Attendees:  1000 

Included is a detailed map specifics the parade route, street closures and proper detour for 
traffic during the parade.  



Event information was routed to Departments with the following comments without concerns. 

Police Department: 
No concerns based on the road closures and map provided. Road closure times are appropriate. 

We need to make sure all barricades are set up at the correct times. The roadway will remain 
closed for approximately 15 minutes after the parade stops. Then we will open the parade 
route roadways. This event has a large community response and we want to make sure the 
majority of pedestrians have moved on before we open the route.  

This event will require additional officers including a supervisor consistent with prior event 
years. This will require that Captain Chad Lange, our Operations Captain be involved in any 
planning meeting moving forward.  

Public Works Department: 
Appropriate barricades will be staged to allow proper street closures. 

There will be no alcohol sales or consumption in conjunction with this event. 

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 
There is no financial impact to the City of Fort Atkinson for the event. 

RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that City Council approve the Fort Atkinson Chamber of Commerce Holiday 
Parade for Saturday November 13, 2021 and various street closures.  

ATTACHMENTS 
Special Event Application, Event Description, Event Map 





City of Fort Atkinson 
City Manager’s Office 

101 N. Main Street 
Fort Atkinson, WI 53538 

MEMORANDUM 

DATE: September 21, 2021  

TO: Fort Atkinson City Council  

FROM:  Rebecca Houseman LeMire, City Manager 

RE: Ordinance to amend Sections 2-52(c) and 15.10.13(2) and to create Section 2-3 
of the City of Fort Atkinson Municipal Code relating to allowing electronic 
participation at meetings by members of the City Council, Boards, 
Commissions, and Committees  

BACKGROUND 
Due to the COVID-19 pandemic over the last 18 months, the City has transitioned from in-
person City Council, Board, Commission, and Committee meetings to fully remote or virtual 
meetings. The City has been using the Zoom teleconference application to support virtual 
public meetings with success. City staff also use various teleconference applications for staff 
meetings, meetings with the public and consultants, and any other meetings when the virtual 
option is convenient and desirable.  

DISCUSSION 
In the April 2021 issue of The Municipality, the League of Wisconsin Municipalities’ monthly 
publication, Attorney Brian Sajdak contemplates electronic meetings under the New Robert’s 
Rules of Order. The City has not adopted Robert’s Rules of Order in its entirety; however, the 
Council and other Boards, Commissions, and Committees use the Rules as a guide for meeting 
management. In the attached article, Attorney Sajdak points out that the code of ordinances 
that includes the bylaws for governmental bodies should specifically authorize electronic 
meetings if the governing body desires to continue to meet in that manner beyond an 
emergency situation or authorization.  

The City of Fort Atkinson desires to continue to support virtual public meetings through the 
pandemic and in the future when appropriate and convenient for the City Council, members 
of Boards, Commissions, and Committees; staff members; and the general public. 
Additionally, the City desires to provide an option for hybrid meetings in the future, when the 
City’s technology in the Council meeting room allows for it, to support both in person 
participation and virtual participate in a hybrid environment.  

The City Attorney has drafted the attached Ordinance relating to electronic participation at 
meetings by members of the City Council, Boards, Commissions, and Committees. This 
document amends three sections of the City’s Code of General Ordinances. The first two 
Sections simply refer to Section 3, which amends 2-3 of the Code to define and permit 
remote electronic or virtual meetings and hybrid meetings. This section also establishes rules 

AGENDA



 
 

and requirements for members of the governing bodies and the public to attend such virtual 
or hybrid meetings.  
 
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 
This ordinance change is not expected to impact the City financially. The City Council Chambers 
has been upgraded to accommodate hybrid public meetings, and we have held successful City 
Council and Plan Commission hybrid meetings. American Recovery Plan Act funds were used to 
pay for the upgrades.   
 
RECOMMENDATION 
The City Attorney drafted the attached ordinance. All City Department Heads have reviewed it, 
and pertinent feedback was incorporated.  
 
The Ordinance Committee reviewed this ordinance at the meeting on August 3, 2021 and 
recommended that the City Council review and adopt it.  
 
The City Council performed the first and second readings of this ordinance on August 17th and 
September 7th, respectfully. Staff recommends that the City Council perform the third/final 
reading of this ordinance and adopt it.  
 
ATTACHMENTS 
The Municipality Electronic Meetings Under the New Robert’s Rules of Order; Redline Virtual 
Meeting Ordinance; Clean Copy Virtual Meeting Ordinance 



The Municipality  |  April 2021 33

Legal

▶ p.34

Robert Heinlein, the so-called dean of 
science fiction writers, wrote in Time 
Enough for Love that “progress isn’t 
made by early risers. It’s made by lazy 
men trying to find easier ways to do 
something.” So it is with electronic 
meetings – something for many of us 
that was born from COVID-19 necessity. 
Yet, as the pandemic wanes, the push to 
continue with electronic meetings will be 
made largely because they are convenient 
and easy. Many do not see progress here, 
but instead fear of running afoul of 
proper parliamentary procedure or, worse, 
Wisconsin’s Open Meetings Law. 

The fears of this technological advance 
are not unjustified. However, as Isaac 
Asimov once noted, “any technological 
advance can be dangerous. Fire was 
dangerous from the start, and so (even 
more so) was speech - and both are 
still dangerous to this day - but human 
beings would not be human without 
them.” Thankfully, at least from a 
parliamentary procedure perspective, 
any fears that might have existed may 
be allayed with the recent publication 
of Robert’s Rule of Order Newly Revised 
(RONR, 12th Ed.). 1, 2

For the first time the RONR expressly 
contemplates electronic meetings for a 
parent body such as a common council 
or village board. Initially, it is important 
to note that under RONR 9:30, the 
default provision for these bodies is 
that a meeting must be held as a “single 
official gathering in one room or area.” 
Electronic meetings for a parent body 

must be expressly authorized in the 
bylaws for the body. RONR 9:31. For 
a governmental body, this means your 
code of ordinances should authorize 
electronic meetings. Accordingly, if your 
municipal code adopts Robert’s Rules 
but you have not codified authority 
to hold electronic meetings, a conflict 
exists that could subject actions taken to 
potential legal challenges.

In making the decision to authorize 
electronic meetings, RONR advises 
that specific rules should be established 
to guide participation in the meeting, 
keeping in mind that “simultaneous 
aural communication is essential to the 
deliberative character of the meeting.” 
RONR 9:34. To assist in this regard, 
the 12th Edition includes a 14-page 
appendix with sample rules that could be 
used depending on the type of electronic 
meetings to be used by the body. 

Before addressing the suggested rules, 
the oft-repeated caution about Robert’s 
Rules should be repeated here – the rules 
are drafted with larger deliberative bodies 
in mind, and they often do not translate 
well to smaller local government bodies. 
The suggested rules provide an excellent 
example of this caution in that they do 
not include any rules related to access 
and/or participation in an electronic 
meeting by members of the public. 

Perhaps such rules are unnecessary for 
large deliberative bodies, but for local 
governments in Wisconsin such rules are 
critical since they help address many fears 

raised by electronic meetings under the 
Open Meetings Law. You should discuss 
your rules with your municipal attorney 
to ensure your electronic meetings do not 
run afoul of the Open Meetings Law. 

The sample rules proposed in RONR 
are based upon four meeting scenarios. 
First, a full-featured internet meeting. 
This meeting type utilizes an internet 
service that integrates audio and/or video 
with text and voting capabilities. The 
second meeting type is a mixed telephone 
and internet meeting. Here, participants 
utilize the phone to communicate and 
the internet for the purpose of having 
secret votes and sharing documents. 
Third is a speakerphone meeting. Under 
this approach, the majority of members 
meet in person while some members may 
call in to participate by speaker phone. 
Finally, the telephone-only option, which 
is self-evident. 

Within these meeting scenarios, 
the proposed rules address multiple 
aspects that you will want to consider 
should you wish to authorize electronic 
meetings. On the simpler side, the 
rules address how notice of the 
meeting is provided and the process for 
attending the meeting. More complex 
considerations include how to count a 
quorum depending on the location of 
members, how to handle motions and 
voting, and technical issues like if and 
when a member can be forcibly muted 
or disconnected. 

FOR THE GOOD OF THE ORDER

FO
R

 T
H

E 

GOOD OF THE O
R

D
ER

For the Good
of the Order

Electronic Meetings Under the  
New Robert’s Rules of Order 

Attorney Brian C. Sajdak, Wesolowski, Reidenbach & Sajdak, S.C.



The Municipality  |  April 202134

Legal

Legal Captions
Employees 370
HR Matters article by Attorney 
Lisa Bergersen explains how “100% 
Healed” policies, requiring employees 
to be released by their health care 
provider with no restrictions prior 
to returning to their jobs, can 
violate state and federal disability 
discrimination laws. To minimize 
legal liability such policies should be 
eliminated or rewritten to be flexible 
and allow an employee to return to 
work, even with restrictions, if the 
employer can accommodate those 
restrictions without undue hardship or 
posing a direct threat to safety. 

Platting 174 
Zoning 526
Article provides overview of Wis. 
Stat. § 62.23(7) zoning authority and 
§ 236.45 local subdivision regulation 
authority and summarizes Wisconsin 
Supreme Court decision in Anderson 
v. Town of Newbold, 2021 WI 6, 
which reviews functional analysis 

courts use to determine whether 
an ordinance is a zoning ordinance 
and holds town ordinance imposing 
minimum width on lakefront lot was 
a lawful exercise of town’s subdivision 
authority rather than a shoreland 
zoning ordinance regulating 
shoreland zoning more restrictively 
than state law.

Powers of Municipalities 941 

Article by attorney Matt Dregne 
(Stafford Rosenbaum LLP) 
emphasizes importance of rule of 
law, particularly in context of land 
use decisions, and distinguishes how 
it applies when making legislative 
decisions versus when making quasi-
judicial decisions that require an 
impartial decision-maker to decide a 
particular matter after making factual 
findings based on evidentiary record 
and applying existing legal standards.

1.  For additional coverage of the changes in the 12th Edition of 
Robert’s Rules, see the “For the Good of the Order” columns 
in The Municipality by Daniel Foth in the September 2020 and 
Michael May in February 2021.

2.  All subsequent citations in this column to RONR are to the 
12th Edition.

This column cannot address all of the 
permutations because those communities 
that choose to authorize electronic 
meetings will each do so in different 
ways. Those communities that choose to 
go this route are well-advised to review 
all of the proposed rules to best tailor 
your rules to your meeting structure. As 
discussed above, such review should also 
involve an analysis of the Open Meetings 
Law to ensure there is no conflict with 
your rules. 

About the Author:

Brian C. Sajdak is a member of 
Wesolowski, Reidenbach & Sajdak, 
S.C. where he serves as municipal 
counsel to multiple southeast Wisconsin 
municipalities. In addition to his 
municipal law practice, he also practices 
in the areas of zoning and land use, 
condemnation, tax assessment, civil 
litigation, and real estate law. Mr. Sajdak 
earned his B.S. degree from the University 
of Wisconsin-Madison and his J.D. 
degree from Marquette University Law 
School. He is a member of the State Bar 
of Wisconsin where he is a member of the 
Administrative and Local Government 
Law Section and the Government 
Lawyers Division. Mr. Sajdak served 
two terms on the Administrative 
and Local Government Law Section 
Board, including serving as the Chair 
of the Section, and is a past Co-Chair 
of the Public Education Committee’s 
Publications & Technology Task Force. 
Contact Brian at brian@wrslegal.net

Board of Review Training Requirement
The Board of Review (BOR) hear property owners’ objections to their tax 
assessments. In 2021, Wisconsin Law requires that at least one member 
of the BOR obtain Wisconsin Department of Revenue (DOR) approved 
training within two years of the BOR’s first two-hour meeting. While it 
is recommended that all BOR members be trained, the law requires that 
only one member undergo training. (Wis. Stat. §§ 70.46(4) & 73.03(55).) 
Only 2021 training is certified. 

The UW-Madison Division of Extension Local Government Education, 
the Wisconsin Department of Revenue (DOR), the Wisconsin Towns 
Association, and the League of Wisconsin Municipalities again 
partnered to develop the 2021 Board of Review (BOR) training. A 
new “How to Conduct a Board of Review Hearing” video and updated 
materials are available here: https://localgovernment.extension.wisc.edu/
board-of-review-training/



 

 

ORDINANCE NO. ____ 
 

AN ORDINANCE  
TO AMEND SECTIONS 2-52(c) AND 15.10.13(2) AND TO CREATE SECTION 2-3  

OF THE CITY OF FORT ATKINSON MUNICIPAL CODE 
RELATING TO ALLOWING ELECTRONIC PARTICIPATION AT MEETINGS BY MEMBERS OF CITY 

COUNCIL, BOARDS, COMMISSIONS, AND COMMITTEES 
 
 WHEREAS, on May 18, 2004, the City Council adopted Amended Ordinance 2-52(c) of 
Article II which governs the City Council meeting; and  
 

WHEREAS, on October 20, 2020, the City Council adopted Section 15.10.13(2) specifying 
the details of the meetings of the Board of Appeals; and  

 
WHEREAS, since the adopted of the above ordinances, the City Council has determined 

that the establishment of language allowing for electronic participation by members of the City 
Council and other boards, commissions, and committees is warranted.  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, the City Council of the City of Fort Atkinson, Wisconsin, do ordain as 
follows: 

 
Section 1. Section 2-52(c) of the City of Fort Atkinson Municipal Code is hereby 

amended to read as follows: 
 
“Sec. 2-52. – Meetings.  
 

(a) Regular meetings. The Council shall meet annually on the third Tuesday of April for 
the purpose of organization, and regular meetings shall be held on the first and third 
Tuesdays of every month thereafter. If the date for such regular meeting falls upon a 
legal holiday or day of election, the council may meet the following Thursday.  

(b) Special meetings. Special meetings of the council may be called by the council 
president, or by any two councilmembers or by the city manager, by filing a written 
notice to members as required by Wis. Stats. §62.11(2); however, such written 
notice of meeting may be waived by any member.  

(c) Time and place. Regular meetings of the council shall be held in the council 
chambers in the municipal building in the city at 7:00 p.m. Special meetings shall be 
held at the same place and at the time designated in the notice thereof, except as 
found in Section 2-3 of the Municipal Code.  

 
(Code 1969, §1.01; Ord. No. 615, 5-18-04)” 
 

Section 2. Section 15.10.13(2) of the City of Fort Atkinson Municipal Code (Zoning 
Ordinance) is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 



 

 

“Section 15.10.13: Board of Zoning Appeals 
 

(2) Meetings. All meetings of the Board shall be held at the Municipal Building unless a 
different meeting place is announced in a public notice of the meeting, except as 
found in Section 2-3 of the Municipal Code. All meetings shall be held at the call of 
the Building Inspector and at such other times as the Board may determine. The 
Building Inspector, or in his absence the Acting Chairman, may administer oath and 
compel the attendance of witnesses. Three (3) members shall constitute a quorum.”  

 
Section 3. Section 2-3 of the City of Fort Atkinson Municipal Code is hereby created to 

read as follows: 
 
“Section 2-3. – Reserved. Remote Electronic or Virtual Meetings. 
 

A. Remote electronic or virtual meetings generally. In lieu of meeting in person at the 

Municipal Building, the City Manager may make any meetings of the City Council, or 

its committees, including any Special Meeting, a remote electronic or virtual 

meeting or a hybrid meeting. A remote electronic or virtual meeting shall be 

conducted partially or entirely by telephone, electronically, or by other means of 

two-way communication so as to provide maximum participation by members and 

the public, in a manner consistent with the provisions of the Wisconsin Open 

Meetings law. A hybrid meeting combines virtual and in-person participation by the 

Council, Committees, Staff, and/or the public in order to accommodate schedules 

and promote engagement. Such meetings may also take place upon a majority vote 

of the City Council in advance of the proposed meeting date. 

 
B. Members attending virtual and/or hybrid meetings. All members of the City Council 

or committees shall be provided the capability to hear one another or otherwise 

communicate with one another during the conduct of the meeting, and to hear or 

read all discussion, comment, and testimony in a manner designed to provide 

greatest amount of openness and participation. Whenever possible, a two-way 

video connection should be utilized by member(s) appearing in this manner. 

 
C. Public attending virtual and/or hybrid meetings. Members of the public shall be able 

to hear or read all discussion, testimony and votes, in a manner designed to provide 

maximum notice and openness. For meetings or hearings requiring public 

commentary or input, a method shall be utilized to assure that such comment or 

input shall be received in a timely manner by the members of the City Council, 

boards, commissions or committees. 

 
D. Quorum. Virtual meeting attendance by any or all members of the City Council, 

boards, commissions, or committees shall be considered the same as physical 



 

 

presence at the meeting for purposes of counting toward quorum and the ability to 

cast a vote at the meeting. 

 
E. Minutes. The minutes of a meeting conducted by telephone, electronically, or other 

means are open to public inspection. Any audio or video recording of the meeting 

shall be made available in accordance with Wisconsin public records law and 

retained by the custodian of records in accordance with the City’s records retention 

schedule. 

 
F. Technical requirements and malfunctions. Each member is responsible for his or her 

connection to the internet and telephone conference call; no action shall be 

invalidated on the grounds that the loss of, or poor quality of, a member’s individual 

connection prevented him or her from participating in the meeting. 

 
G. Other Boards and Commissions. Other boards and commissions performing business 

for or on behalf of the City of Fort Atkinson, including citizen commissions, shall be 

permitted to conduct meetings in the manner described above. 

 
Section 4. This ordinance shall take effect upon passage, posting, or publication as 

provided by law. 
 
Enacted by the City Council of the City of Fort Atkinson, Jefferson County, Wisconsin, 

this __________ day of ____________, 2021.  
 
 
 
             
       Chris Scherer, President 

ATTEST: 
 
 
         
Michelle Ebbert, City Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director 



ORDINANCE NO. ____ 
 

AN ORDINANCE  
TO AMEND SECTIONS 2-52(c) AND 15.10.13(2) AND TO CREATE SECTION 2-3  

OF THE CITY OF FORT ATKINSON MUNICIPAL CODE 
RELATING TO ALLOWING ELECTRONIC PARTICIPATION AT MEETINGS BY MEMBERS OF CITY 

COUNCIL, BOARDS, COMMISSIONS, AND COMMITTEES 
 
 WHEREAS, on May 18, 2004, the City Council adopted Amended Ordinance 2-52(c) of 
Article II which governs the City Council meeting; and  
 

WHEREAS, on October 20, 2020, the City Council adopted Section 15.10.13(2) specifying 
the details of the meetings of the Board of Appeals; and  

 
WHEREAS, since the adopted of the above ordinances, the City Council has determined 

that the establishment of language allowing for electronic participation by members of the City 
Council and other boards, commissions, and committees is warranted.  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, the City Council of the City of Fort Atkinson, Wisconsin, do ordain as 
follows: 

 
Section 1. Section 2-52(c) of the City of Fort Atkinson Municipal Code is hereby 

amended to read as follows: 
 
“Sec. 2-52. – Meetings.  
 

(a) Regular meetings. The Council shall meet annually on the third Tuesday of April for 
the purpose of organization, and regular meetings shall be held on the first and third 
Tuesdays of every month thereafter. If the date for such regular meeting falls upon a 
legal holiday or day of election, the council may meet the following Thursday.  

(b) Special meetings. Special meetings of the council may be called by the council 
president, or by any two councilmembers or by the city manager, by filing a written 
notice to members as required by Wis. Stats. §62.11(2); however, such written 
notice of meeting may be waived by any member.  

(c) Time and place. Regular meetings of the council shall be held in the council 
chambers in the municipal building in the city at 7:00 p.m. Special meetings shall be 
held at the same place and at the time designated in the notice thereof, except as 
found in Section 2-3 of the Municipal Code.  

 
(Code 1969, §1.01; Ord. No. 615, 5-18-04)” 
 

Section 2. Section 15.10.13(2) of the City of Fort Atkinson Municipal Code (Zoning 
Ordinance) is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 



“Section 15.10.13: Board of Zoning Appeals 
 

(2) Meetings. All meetings of the Board shall be held at the Municipal Building unless a 
different meeting place is announced in a public notice of the meeting, except as 
found in Section 2-3 of the Municipal Code. All meetings shall be held at the call of 
the Building Inspector and at such other times as the Board may determine. The 
Building Inspector, or in his absence the Acting Chairman, may administer oath and 
compel the attendance of witnesses. Three (3) members shall constitute a quorum.”  

 
Section 3. Section 2-3 of the City of Fort Atkinson Municipal Code is hereby created to 

read as follows: 
 
“Section 2-3. –  Remote Electronic or Virtual Meetings. 
 

A. Remote electronic or virtual meetings generally. In lieu of meeting in person at the 
Municipal Building, the City Manager may make any meetings of the City Council, or 
its committees, including any Special Meeting, a remote electronic or virtual 
meeting or a hybrid meeting. A remote electronic or virtual meeting shall be 
conducted partially or entirely by telephone, electronically, or by other means of 
two-way communication so as to provide maximum participation by members and 
the public, in a manner consistent with the provisions of the Wisconsin Open 
Meetings law. A hybrid meeting combines virtual and in-person participation by the 
Council, Committees, Staff, and/or the public in order to accommodate schedules 
and promote engagement. Such meetings may also take place upon a majority vote 
of the City Council in advance of the proposed meeting date. 
 

B. Members attending virtual and/or hybrid meetings. All members of the City Council 
or committees shall be provided the capability to hear one another or otherwise 
communicate with one another during the conduct of the meeting, and to hear or 
read all discussion, comment, and testimony in a manner designed to provide 
greatest amount of openness and participation. Whenever possible, a two-way 
video connection should be utilized by member(s) appearing in this manner. 

 
C. Public attending virtual and/or hybrid meetings. Members of the public shall be able 

to hear or read all discussion, testimony and votes, in a manner designed to provide 
maximum notice and openness. For meetings or hearings requiring public 
commentary or input, a method shall be utilized to assure that such comment or 
input shall be received in a timely manner by the members of the City Council, 
boards, commissions or committees. 

 
D. Quorum. Virtual meeting attendance by any or all members of the City Council, 

boards, commissions, or committees shall be considered the same as physical 



presence at the meeting for purposes of counting toward quorum and the ability to 
cast a vote at the meeting. 

 
E. Minutes. The minutes of a meeting conducted by telephone, electronically, or other 

means are open to public inspection. Any audio or video recording of the meeting 
shall be made available in accordance with Wisconsin public records law and 
retained by the custodian of records in accordance with the City’s records retention 
schedule. 

 
F. Technical requirements and malfunctions. Each member is responsible for his or her 

connection to the internet and telephone conference call; no action shall be 
invalidated on the grounds that the loss of, or poor quality of, a member’s individual 
connection prevented him or her from participating in the meeting. 

 
G. Other Boards and Commissions. Other boards and commissions performing business 

for or on behalf of the City of Fort Atkinson, including citizen commissions, shall be 
permitted to conduct meetings in the manner described above. 

 
Section 4. This ordinance shall take effect upon passage, posting, or publication as 

provided by law. 
 
Enacted by the City Council of the City of Fort Atkinson, Jefferson County, Wisconsin, 

this __________ day of ____________, 2021.  
 
 
 
             
       Chris Scherer, President 

ATTEST: 
 
 
         
Michelle Ebbert, City Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director 



City of Fort Atkinson 
City Engineer’s Office 

101 N. Main Street 
Fort Atkinson, WI 53538 

1 

REQUEST FOR GDP PLAN REVIEW 
REPORT TO THE CITY COUNCIL 

DATE: September 21, 2021 

PROPERTY ADDRESSES: 1309/1307 High St 

PARCEL NUMBER: 226-0614-3424-007, 226-
0614-3424-022, and 226-0614-3424-024 

OWNER: U Haul Inc 

APPLICANT: U Haul Inc 

FILE NUMBER: PUD-2021-01 

EXISTING ZONING: UMU, Urban Mixed Use 

PROPOSED ZONING: PUD, Planned Unit 
Development 

EXISTING LAND USE: U Haul Rental / Restaurant 

REQUESTED USES: Indoor Self Storage, Truck rental, 
Hitch installation 

BACKGROUND: 

 Figure 1: Existing aerial of the property 

AGENDA



General Development Plan Submittal 
September 21, 2021 
PUD-2021-01 

2 
 

 
The PUD process allows the City to change its zoning and allow a number of prohibited uses within 
this district. In exchange the City receives a substantial benefit from the development. U Haul 
presented a Concept Plan to the Commission at its June 22 meeting. It formally requested the PUD 
(Planned Unit Development) Zoning at the April 13 Commission meeting which was approved and 
moved on to Council who approved it on May 4, 2021. The Plan Commission approved this GDP at 
their last meeting on September 14, 2021. Minutes of that meeting are attached elsewhere in this 
City Council Packet. 
 
The PUD process includes joint approvals of the General Development Plan by Plan Commission and 
City Council, and final, singular approval of the Specific Implementation Plan by Plan Commission. The 
latter represents the final step in the approval process.  
 
 

 
Figure 2:Proposed Site Plan 



General Development Plan Submittal 
September 21, 2021 
PUD-2021-01 

3 
 

 
Figure 3: Elevation renderings 

 
PUBLIC NOTICE: 
No public notice is required for the review of GDP Plan. Public Notices were served as part of the Re-
zoning process to PUD.  
 
COMPREHENSIVE LAND USE PLAN (2019): 
The City’s Future Land Use Map (Map 7) from the 2019 Comprehensive Land Use Plan shows this 
property as appropriate for Planned Mixed Use land uses. This future land use category includes a 
mix of commercial and residential uses on public sewer, public water, and other urban services and 
infrastructure. Planned Mixed Use areas are intended to be vibrant urban places that should function 
as community focal and gathering spots. Under the former zoning ordinance, the recommended 
zoning for this future land use category was PDD, Planned Development District. The equivalent 
zoning district in the current Zoning Ordinance (2020) is PUD, Planned Unit Development District. The 
requested Zoning Map Amendment does not conflict with the City’s Comprehensive Plan.  
 
However, the Plan also identifies Advisory Development Concepts for this property, which includes 
mixed use (commercial and residential) buildings, townhomes, and condominiums; and the 
realignment of High Street. The proposed redevelopment of this site as a U-Haul storage facility is not 
consistent with these advisory development concepts. See Page 102 of the City’s Comprehensive 
Plan. 
 
DISCUSSION: 
The City’s consulting planner, Mike Slavney, with Vandewalle and Assoc has assisted with the review 
of the U Haul PUD proposal. His memorandum indicating the “flexibilities” required of the Plan 
Commission is attached. This document also provides a detailed path toward approval. It should be 
noted that the items noted for denial in this memo have been retracted by U Haul in their latest 
submittal.   
 
 
 
 

http://cms1files.revize.com/fortatkinson/Adopted%202019%20Fort%20Atkinson%20Comprehensive%20Plan.docx%20(1).pdf
http://cms1files.revize.com/fortatkinson/Adopted%202019%20Fort%20Atkinson%20Comprehensive%20Plan.docx%20(1).pdf
http://cms1files.revize.com/fortatkinson/Adopted%202019%20Fort%20Atkinson%20Comprehensive%20Plan.docx%20(1).pdf


General Development Plan Submittal 
September 21, 2021 
PUD-2021-01 

4 
 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends the City Council approve the U-Haul General Development Plan, subject to the 
information included in the Vandewalle and Associates memo dated August 4, 2021, with the 
exception of items B.8. through B.10. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
General Development Plan Submittal Documents from True Storage 

- Memorandum(s) by City Planner Mike Slavney (Vandewalle and Associates) 
- Updated U Haul Site Plan Drawings 
- U Haul Narrative 

 



1 
 

M E M O R A N D U M 

To: City of Fort Atkinson Plan Commission and Common Council 

From: Michael Slavney and Ben Rohr, Vandewalle & Associates 

Re: Proposed General Development Plan (GDP) for U-Haul at 1309 High Street 

Date: August 4, 2021 

 

Introduction 

The City of Fort Atkinson has received the submittal of a complete application for a General 

Development Plan (GDP) for the redevelopment of the former Kmart Shopping Center site on 

High Street. The proposed project would provide significant site and building interior and exterior 

modifications to : 

1. Create an enlarged U-Haul facility in the existing building and parking lot on the south end 

of the site including new interior self-storage facilities and an enlarged truck and trailer rental 

facility; 

2. Create a new U-Haul “U-Box” transshipment facility in the existing building on the north 

end of the site; and  

3. Retain ethe existing commercial tenant spaces in the middle of the existing building. 

This mix of land uses will require the review and approval of a Planned Development, in order to 

provide flexibilities from the rules of the existing Urban Mixed Use (UMU) zoning district.  

GDP Review Process 

The Planned Development process requires four steps. For Step One, the applicant has been 

meeting with City Staff on the project since late 2020 to identify and refine the project. For Step 

Two, the Plan Commission reviewed the Conceptual Plan for this project in the spring of 2021. This 

GDP is Step Three, and entails the Zoning Map Amendment step in the process. The GDP allows 

an applicant to propose a development plan that differs from some of the baseline requirements of 

the UMU zoning district and the rest of the zoning ordinance. An approved GDP will specify which 

zoning flexibilities are granted, and which requirements of the UMU zoning district and the rest of 

the zoning ordinance have been granted. Like other Zoning Map Amendment procedures, the Plan 

Commission hears the proposal, holds a public hearing, and makes a recommendation to the 

Common Council. The full Planned Development procedure is described in Section 15-10-44 of the 

Zoning Ordinance, which may be found beginning on page 344 at this link: 
http://cms1files.revize.com/fortatkinson/Adopted%20City%20of%20Fort%20Atkinson%20Zoning%20Ordinance%2011.1.20.pdf 

Review of Submittal Completeness 

I have reviewed the submittal from the Design Alliance on behalf of U-Haul. I believe it to be 

substantially complete in regard to the submittal requirements of Section 15-10-44. 

 



2 
 

Proposed Project Overview and Zoning Ordinance Flexibilities 

The proposed U-Haul redevelopment of the former Kmart Shopping Center is described as required 

in both text and graphic form in the submittal from Alliance Construction & Design dated July 20, 

2021. The key components of the project include: 

Site Location: The cover sheet of the plan set provides a location map for the project, highlighting 

the site’s location on the west side of High Street / Wis 26 near the northeast corner of the city. The 

site is also bounded by Woodland Drive on the north and E. Blackhawk Drive on the south. 

Jefferson Street terminates at E. Blackhawk Drive just south of the southeast corner of the building. 

Rock River Repair is located along the western edge of the site.  

Existing Configuration: Sheet 100 of the plan set provides a line drawing overview of the existing 

site. The entire site covers 9.5 acres, in three separate lots: The north section of the building and 

parking lot, the south section of the building and parking lot, and the southeast corner of the 

parking lot. The Super Wash car wash site is not part of the subject property. 

Site Modifications: The Site Plan on Sheet 102 provides a series of highlighted annotations to 

Sheet 100, which describe the proposed site modifications. Key site modifications include the 

provisions of large areas of new greenspace around the perimeter of the parking area, and in the area 

on the north side of the site located between the existing shopping center building and the existing 

car wash. Various landscaped medians and islands are also proposed to help direct traffic flow and 

provide additional green space within the site. In total, the proposed site modifications will increase 

the area of pervious surfaces on the site to 22% of the site area – as compared to the minimum 20% 

required in the UMU zoning district. The applicant has worked with City Staff to locate these 

proposed pervious areas to provide for cleaning up stormwater runoff from this large site.  

Sheet 102 also provides the proposed Landscaping Plan. In addition to proposing to remove large 

areas of pavement to be replaced by lawn and stone green spaces, the Landscaping Plan also 

addresses the landscaping requirements of the zoning code. Specifically, the Landscaping Plan 

proposes to meet and exceed the requirements for Paved Area Landscaping and Street Frontage 

Landscaping with details provided in the tables. Due to the lack of a suitable apron around the 

building, the Building Perimeter requirements of the ordinance are not addressed, nor are the 

Yards/Building Coverage requirements. These proposed nonconformities will require the granting 

of zoning flexibility.  

Sheet 103 provides grading details for the site, and Sheet 104 provides site modification details, 

including the use of no curbs and a rolled curb to collect and direct runoff. 

Sheet 105 depicts the proposed development phasing of the project in two phases, with yellow areas 

in a proposed Phase 1 of development focused on the southern portion of the site, and blue areas in 

a proposed Phase 2 focused on the buildings and the north area of the site. 

Sheet 106 provides a proposed Lighting and Photometric Plan. The project will replace all existing 

exterior lighting fixtures with LED fixtures. The specified LED wall-pack fixtures are designed with 

cutoff shades which send light downward at a controlled angle. The specified LED pole fixtures are 

proposed at a 27-foot mounting height, and are also highly-aimable. In addition to fixture data, the 

table on right side of this sheet provides a depiction of the light dispersion from each fixture type in 



3 
 

the far right-hand column. The provided photometric data demonstrates compliance with the 

maximum light level of 0.5 foot candles at all property lines as depicted with the red boundary 

around each fixture. Overall, the photometric plan depicts well controlled lighting, with a maximum 

illumination level at a modest 8.3 footcandles under the dual head fixtures. Note that the written 

description of the lighting, indicates U-Haul’s intention to keep the lights on through the night. The 

submittal offers the explanation that rented vehicles can be returned 24/7 by customers, who are 

often unfamiliar with the site and the community. All lighting details receive final review and 

approval during the Specific Implementation Plan (SIP) in Step 4. 

Sheet 108 provides details for the proposed vehicle return canopy. This would be the standard 

location for self-service returns occurring when the offices are closed, and are a standard feature of 

all modern U-Haul operations. The canopy has a coverage area of 44 feet by 24 feet, and a minimum 

clearance height of 14 feet. The canopy peak is approximately 20 feet above grade. The canopy 

construction includes a fabric roof with metal supporting poles. Note that such structures are 

prohibited where intended to be permanent. The ability to construct this shelter structure as 

proposed will require the granting of zoning flexibility under the Planned Development. 

Sheet 110 provides the details of the proposed exterior propane tank and refill facility that is also a 

standard feature for U-Haul sites. I note that the proposed height and diameter of the tank are not 

provided. These will be required for the Specific Implementation Plan (SIP) Step 4. I consider the 

signage on the propane tank to be directional in nature. However, the granting of zoning flexibility 

will be required based on the proposed font size and sign area. 

Sheet 112 provides the detail on the proposed Pylon Signs. The U-Haul sign is proposed with a 

height of 18 feet and an area of 100 square feet on both sides. The multi-tenant sign is proposed 

with a height of 16 feet and an area of 96 square feet on both sides. Two signs are permitted for this 

site by the Zoning Ordinance, and both signs comply with the height and area requirements for the 

UMU zoning district.  

Sheets 202 provide floor plan for the south sections of the building to be occupied by U-Haul. Sheet 

204 depicts the proposed, as well as phasing information for Phases 1 and 2 of the project. On both 

sheets, the indoor climatized storage area layout is provided, as is the layout of the office and retail 

area, the four hitch bays, and the load and unload areas for the lockers, and the 100 lockers 

proposed in Phase 1. Note that the floor plan for the north end of the building is best shown on 

Sheet 105 – the phasing plan for the entire site. 

Building Modifications: The final pages of the submittal provide information about the proposed 

changes to the building exterior. A substantial set of building exterior upgrades are proposed on all 

sides of the building, and focused on the east (front) façade. These generally match those provided 

with the Concept Plan, with the exception that the rectangular areas of the orange false overhead 

doors have been removed, and are proposed to be replaced by an area reserved for a second 

“lifestyle mural”, similar to the one proposed for the north wall of the building. Note that all 

proposed signage complies with the requirements of the Zoning Ordinance. Final building exterior 

review and approval will occur in the SIP phase of city review. The proposed bike maintenance 

station is shown on the colored rendering of the east façade, located on the building apron below 

the “climate controlled self-storage” wall sign. 



4 
 

Requested Zoning Flexibilities 

The requested use of a Planned Development zoning district enables the Village to consider granting 

flexibilities from many, but not all, zoning requirements. During the consideration of the Planned 

Development, each of these requested flexibilities must be acted on individually in order to 

determine the full set of zoning requirements that will apply if the GDP is granted. In reviewing the 

proposed GDP, I have identified the following Zoning Ordinance requirements that are not met, 

for the Plan Commission and Village Board to consider granting. 

A. Land Use Flexibilities: 
1. Personal Storage land use within the south end of the building to be permitted by right in 

locations depicted on the floor plan. This land use is prohibited in the UMU zoning district. 
2. Personal Storage and Warehouse land uses for U-Boxes moving pods within the north end 

of the building to be permitted by right in locations depicted on the floor plan. This land 
use is prohibited in the UMU zoning district. 

3. Vehicle Service and Repair land use for adding trailer hitches within the south end of the 
building to be permitted by right in the location depicted on the floor plan. This land use 
requires granting of a conditional use permit in the UMU zoning district. 

4. Outdoor Display land use for display of rental trucks and trailers in designated parts of the 
southern parking area along High Street and E. Blackhawk Drive to be permitted by right in 
locations depicted on the Site Plan. This land use requires granting of a conditional use 
permit in the UMU zoning district. 

5. Outdoor Sales and Service for propane refueling in a designated part of the southern 
parking area to be permitted by right in the location depicted on the Site Plan. This land use 
requires granting of a conditional use permit in the UMU zoning district. 

6. Large Development requirements for commercial buildings exceeding 50,000 gross square 
feet, with modification per the GDP and PIP permitted by right as depicted on the Site 
Plan. This land use requires granting of a conditional use permit in the UMU zoning 
district. 

B. Site Development Flexibilities: 
1. Waiver of Minimum 10-foot Pavement Setback for Interior Lot Line along the central 

street frontage of E. Blackhawk Drive, where a setback of 7 feet is proposed, as depicted on 
the Site Plan. I note that in all other locations around the site, the minimum 10-foot setback 
is met or exceeded, and that the proposed site plan substantially widens the pavement 
setback in many of these locations. 

2. Waiver of Minimum 50-foot Driveway Throat for east driveway on High Street to access 
the southern lot as depicted on the Site Plan. I note the low traffic generation rates for the 
proposed U-Haul land uses as compared to traditional retail land uses, and the need to 
direct inbound traffic around the truck and trailer staging aisles. 

3. Waiver of Maximum Fixture Mounting Height of 20 feet by retaining the existing poles and 
bases, which results in a fixture mounting height of 27 feet, as depicted on the Photometric 
Plan. This request is based on a cost savings measure. Requirement to adjust fixture 
orientation to prevent light spill beyond subject property boundary. 

4. Waiver of the Lights Off Requirement for exterior lighting when the business is closed. 
This request is based on the 24/7 hours available to customers to return rented trucks and 
trailers. 



5 
 

5. Waiver of the Building Foundation Landscaping Requirements as depicted on the Site Plan. 
This request is based on the presence of the existing fully paved building perimeter in 
current configuration and a cost savings measure. 

6. Waiver of Yard Area Landscaping Requirements as depicted on the Site Plan. This request 
is based on a cost savings measure. 

7. Increase in the Number of On-Building Signs to allow a lifestyle biking mural on the 
building front, as depicted on the Building Elevations. This request is based on the desire to 
avoid a large blank wall and thereby enliven the building appearance. 

8. Delay of Site Improvements to the north end of the parking lot and for additional green 
space areas within the parking lot as depicted on the Phasing Plans. This request is based on 
a cost savings measure. NOTE: City Staff recommends against granting this delay, noting 
that all proposed land uses will be in the initial phase of development and should be 
accompanied by all site improvements. 

9. Request for Building Occupancy before Completion of All Building and Site 
Improvements. This is based on a cost savings measure. NOTE: Staff recommends against 
granting full occupancy before all required improvements are completed. As an alternative, 
City Staff recommends granting conditional occupancy based on completing City approval 
of all required site improvements prior to the start of any additional business operations. 

10. Request for One Year to Install Required Landscaping. NOTE: Staff recommends against 
this request. City Staff recommends that all landscaping prior to the start of any additional 
business operations. 

 

City Staff Recommendation Regarding Requested Planned Development Flexibilities: 

City Staff recommends that the Plan Commission and Common Council grant all requested 

flexibilities A.1-6 above, and requested flexibilities B. 1-7 above. Staff recommends that requested 

flexibilities B.8-10 be denied. 

 

Zoning Map Amendment from Urban Mixed Use to Planned Development 

Planned Developments are considered a Zoning Map Amendment and must be reviewed per the 

requirements of Section 15.10.31(4)(b)1-4 on page 323 of the Zoning Ordinance. City Staff is 

required to provide a written report regarding this review to assist the Plan Commission and 

Common Council in reviewing the proposed amendment. City Staff analysis is presented in italic font. 

1. Does the proposed Zoning Map Amendment advance the purposes of the Zoning 

Ordinance as outlined in Section 15.01.03? Yes. The proposed zoning map amendment to planned 

development will accomplish the revitalization of a large mostly vacant building and site along an important 

community corridor near the northeast entrance to the community. 

2. Is the proposed Zoning Map Amendment in harmony with the Comprehensive Plan? 

Possibly. The proposed zoning map amendment to planned development will further the economic development 

goals and objectives of the Comprehensive Plan by fully occupying the building and subject property through 

the redevelopment enabled by approving the request. City Staff notes that the proposed redevelopment is not 

consistent with either of the redevelopment alternatives proposed for the North Railway District presented in 

Figure 6.8 on page 102 of the Comprehensive Plan, but further notes that these are illustrative concepts 

rlemire
Cross-Out

rlemire
Cross-Out



6 
 

rather than requirements of the Plan. City Staff therefore notes that the Plan Commission and/or the 

Common Council may consider the proposed planned development either as consistent or as inconsistent with 

the Comprehensive Plan. 

3. Does the proposed Zoning Map Amendment maintain the desired consistency of land uses, 

land use intensities, and land use impacts with the base Urban Mixed Use Zoning District? 

Yes. The proposed planned development maintains the existing building configuration, while making 

substantial upgrades to the structure’s appearance. The proposed planned development reduces the amount of 

paving on the site and replaces it with pervious surfaces, thus bringing the site into conformance with the 

greenspace requirements of the UMU zoning district. The proposed planned development will also bring the 

requirements for paved area setback, landscaping, and exterior lighting into conformance with the 

requirements of the UMU zoning district. 

4. Does the proposed Zoning Map Amendment address any of factors that are not 

accomplished on the current Zoning Map? Yes. The proposed planned development responds to c. 

Factors that have Changed. Specifically, the proposed project will reverse the on-going decline of retail uses at 

the site and the on-going deterioration of the building and paved areas. Retail practices and demand have 

substantially changed since the site was developed, particularly since the “Great Recession” a dozen years ago 

and the since the impact of the on-going COVID-19 pandemic. In contrast, demand for the proposed Moving 

Services and Indoor Personal Storage land uses enabled by the proposed project remain strong. 

 

Process to Consider the Proposed Planned Development 

To complete its recommendation for the proposed General Development Plan at 1309 High Street 

to the Common Council, I recommend the Plan Commission use the following steps: 

1. Presentation of the Project: 

• Invite the applicant to present the proposed GDP. The applicant should present the project 

and confirm the list of zoning ordinance flexibilities described in this memo. 

2. Public Hearing: 

• Open the public hearing for public comments. 

• Ask the applicant to respond to questions and concerns raised by the public. 

• Ask the public for any follow-up comments. 

• Ask the applicant to respond to follow-up comments. 

• Close the public comment part of the public hearing. 

• Plan Commissions and City Staff ask any additional questions for the applicant to answer. 

• Close the public hearing. 

3. Consideration of Zoning Ordinance Flexibilities 

• Plan Commission discusses and considers whether the flexibilities proposed for this project 

(on pages 4 and 5 of this memo) should be granted.  

▪ City Staff recommends granting all requested land use flexibilities 1-6.  

▪ City Staff recommends granting requested site development flexibilities 1-7. 



7 
 

▪ City Staff recommends denying site development flexibilities 8-10 regarding delaying 

site, building, and landscaping improvements until “Phase 2”. 

• Ask any questions regarding the City Staff’s recommendations. 

• Make, second, and vote on a motion regarding a recommendation to adopt or deny the 

proposed Zoning Ordinance Flexibilities. 

▪ To facilitate this consideration, City Staff suggests the Plan Commission first 

consider any motion to deny any particular flexibility or flexibilities. 

▪ Following the voting on denying flexibilities, the Plan Commission could then 

consider a motion to approve all other proposed flexibilities. 

4. Zoning Map Amendment Findings: 

• Plan Commission Plan Commission discusses and considers the required findings for all 

Zoning Map Amendments presented at the bottom of page 5 and the top of page 6 of this 

report. 

▪ City Staff suggests that the proposed project is consistent with the Comprehensive 

Plan, with the possible exception of whether the departure from the Comprehensive 

Plan’s suggested alternatives for the North Railway District (on page 102) is merited 

by the proposed GDP. 

• Ask any questions regarding the City Staff’s recommendations. 

• Make, and second, and vote on a motion recommending to adopt or deny the findings 

about the proposed rezoning from the UMU zoning district to Planned Development. 

5. Plan Commission Recommendation on the Planned Development to the Common Council 

• Based on the proposed project, in combination with the recommended flexibilities and 

zoning map amendment findings, the Plan Commission should make, second, and vote on 

a motion to recommend approval (inclusive of all recommended flexibilities) or denial of 

the proposed Planned Development. 



NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

DRAWN BY:

SCALE:

P
R

O
F

E
S

S
IO

N
A

L 
S

E
A

L:
P

R
O

J
E

C
T

 I
N

F
O

:

SHEET NAME:

CURRENT
AS OF:

PLAN START 
DATE:

APPROVED FOR 
BID

APPROVED FOR 
REVIEW

APPROVED FOR 
CONSTRUCTION

#

10
50

 B
R

O
A

D
W

A
Y

 S
T

., 
W

R
IG

H
T

S
T

O
W

N
, W

I 5
41

80

W
W

W
.A

L
L

IA
N

C
E

B
U

IL
D

S
.C

O
M

P
H

O
N

E
: 

(9
20

)-
33

6-
34

00
   

 F
A

X
: 

(9
20

)-
33

6-
34

01

C
O

M
M

E
R

C
IA

L
 

 I
N

D
U

S
T

R
IA

L
 

 D
E

S
IG

N
 /

 B
U

IL
D

9/7/2021 8:18:27 AM

P
:\
1
9
-1

3
8
 U

-H
a
u
l 
F

o
rt

 A
tk

in
s
o

n
\R

e
v
it
\1

9
-1

3
8
 U

-H
a
u
l 
F

o
rt

 A
tk

in
s
o

n
.r

v
t

001

O.R.V.

1
9
-1

3
8

TITLE SHEET

1
3
0

9
 N

. 
H

IG
H

 S
T

.
F

O
R

T
 A

T
K

IN
S

O
N

, 
W

I 
5
3

5
3
8

F
O

R
 G

D
P

 S
IT

E
 P

L
A

N
 A

P
P

R
O

V
A

L

U
-H

A
U

L
 o

f 
F

O
R

T
 A

T
K

IN
S

O
N

 #
7

5
0

0
7
7

01/09/2020

L
L
O

Y
D

 C
A

R
P

E
N

T
E

R

PROJECT LOCATION AREA

SHEET INDEX

CITY of FORT ATKINSON
JEFFERSON CO.

WISCONSIN

EXIT DISTANCE

PLUMBING FIXTURES

OCCUPANCY

TENANT CAPACITY

GENERAL NOTES

CONTRACTOR / CONSULTANT INFORMATION

BUILDING DATA

CONSTRUCTION CLASSIFICATION

BUILDING SIZE

SYMBOLS

· PER TABLE 1017.2. 250' EXIT ACCESS TRAVEL DISTANCE

CONSTRUCTION OF THIS BUILDING SHALL MEET OR EXCEED ALL APPLICABLE 
ORDINANCES CODES AND STANDARDS.  IN CASE OF CONFLICT, THE MOST 
STRINGENT SHALL APPLY.

STATE OF WISCONSIN ENROLLED COMMERCIAL BUILDING CODE VOLUME I & II

GENERAL CONTRACTOR

ALLIANCE
CONSTRUCTION & DESIGN

PLUMBING CONTRACTOR

OWNER

ELECTRICAL CONTRACTOR

ARCHITECT

HVAC CONTRACTOR

· CONSTRUCTION TYPE: IIIB
· SPRINKLER SYSTEM: SPRINKLERED BUILDING PER NFPA-13
· NUMBER OF STORIES: 1 STORY

· PROPOSED ALTERATION AREA: 49,969 SQ. FT.
· EXISTING BUILDING AREA: 57,320 SQ. FT.
· TOTAL LOT AREA: 210,723 SQ. FT. 

ROUGH
LUMBER

FINISH
LUMBER

STRUCTURAL STEEL
(LARGE SCALE SECTION)

BRICK (PLAN &
SECTION)

CONCRETE MASONRY
UNIT (PLAN & SECTION)

POURED-IN-PLACE
CONC.

UNDISTURBED
SOIL

BATT
INSULATION

RIGID
INSULATION

SPRAY FOAM
INSULATION

GRASS

GRANULAR
FILL

ELEVATION
LEVEL

100'-0"

DOOR SYMBOL
EX. DOOR/DIR. OF SWING

108−1

W−101

DOOR TAG
SEE DOOR SCHEDULE

WINDOW TAG
SEE DOOR SCHEDULE

NORTH
ARROW

ROOM SYMBOL
EX. ROOM NAME/ROOM #

BUILDING SECTION
EX. SHEET 250, DETAIL 1

1
250

1
240

EXTERIOR ELEVATION
EX. SHEET 240, DETAIL 1

1
270

INTERIOR ELEVATION
EX. SHEET 270, DETAIL 1

DETAIL CALLOUT
EX. SHEET 220, DETAIL 3

3
220

SAND/MORTAR/PLASTER
OR CONC. IN PLAN

PARTICLE BOARD
(LARGE SCALE)

EXISTING
BUILDING

STONE

BLOCK

GYPSUM
BOARD

PLYWOOD (LARGE
SCALE)

GENERAL ARCHITECTURAL STRUCTURAL

LLOYD CARPENTER 
ARCHITECT, LLC

CIVIL FIRE PROTECTION

PROJECT LOCATION

NATIONAL ACCOUNTS CONTACTS

BUTLER MANUFACTURING
1540 GENNESSE
KANSAS CITY, MO 64102
CONTACT: DAVID BLINK
(816) 223-0638
djblink@butlermfg.com

TRANE
850 WEST SOUTHERN AVE.
TEMPE, AZ 85282
CONTACT: CHAD BARNETT
(480) 333-2912
chad.barnett2@trane.com

DUCTSOX CORPORATION
9866 KAPP COURT
PEOSTA, IA 52068
CONTACT: PHILIP SLOAN
(563) 564-8320
psloan@ductsox.com

SHERWIN-WILLIAMS
11840 NORTH 28TH DRIVE
PHOENIX, AZ 85029
CONTACT: MICHEAL KONILJA
(602) 861-3171
micheal.j.koncilja@sherwin.com

CLOPAY BUILDING PRODUCTS
7647 SMOKETREE COURT
COLUMBUS, OH 43235
CONTACT: CHRIS REMICK
(614) 306-9968
cremick@clopay.com

GRAYBAR
1866 SOUTH FRASER DRIVE
MESA, AZ 85204
CONTACT: BRUCE LEDGERWOOD
(602) 418-5993
bruce.ledgerwood@graybar.com

MBCI
660 SOUTH 91ST AVE.
TOLLESON, AZ 85353
CONTACT: LEE STARRETT
(623) 680-9796
Lee.Starrett@mbci.com

JANUS INTERNATIONAL
13374 WEST PEORIA AVE.
SURPRISE, AZ 85379
CONTACT: RODGER ROYCROFT
(866) 562-2580 ext: 405
rodgerr@janusintl.com

EXISTING FIXTURES (IN CONST.)
· 7 WC · 3 URINALS
· 1 HIGH LOW DF · 1 MB
· 6 LAV

T
R

U
E

TRUE

T.B.D.

LOCKER UNIT SCHEDULE
TYPE QUAN. WIDTH DEPTH SQ. FT. PERCENT

A-1 2 10' - 0" 15' - 0" 300 SF 1%

A-8 13 10' - 0" 15' - 0" 1950 SF 7%

B-1 3 10' - 0" 10' - 0" 300 SF 1%

B-2 5 10' - 0" 10' - 0" 500 SF 2%

B-3 22 10' - 0" 10' - 0" 2200 SF 8%

B-8 131 10' - 0" 10' - 0" 13100 SF 46%

C-1 5 5' - 0" 5' - 0" 125 SF 0%

C-3 59 5' - 0" 5' - 0" 1475 SF 5%

D-1 2 5' - 0" 10' - 0" 100 SF 0%

D-2 2 5' - 0" 10' - 0" 100 SF 0%

D-3 110 5' - 0" 10' - 0" 5500 SF 19%

G-3 4 5' - 0" 8' - 0" 160 SF 1%

H-8 15 10' - 0" 8' - 0" 1200 SF 4%

J-8 8 10' - 0" 5' - 0" 400 SF 1%

K-3 1 8' - 0" 5' - 0" 40 SF 0%

L-3 1 5' - 0" 7' - 0" 35 SF 0%

N-3 1 8' - 0" 8' - 0" 64 SF 0%

O-3 1 7' - 0" 8' - 0" 56 SF 0%

T-3 15 7' - 0" 10' - 0" 1050 SF 4%

TOTAL LOCKER COUNT: 400 28655 SF 100%

T.B.D.T.B.D.T.B.D.

· OCCUPANCY TYPE: MAIN BUILDING: S-1
ACCESSORY USE: M & B

· TOTAL OCCUPANTS: 257 OCCUPANTS

PROPOSED FIXTURES
· 2 WC · 3 SS
· 2 DF · 1 KS
· 2 LAV

SHEET # SHEET NAME

001 TITLE SHEET

SHEET # SHEET NAME

100 SITE DEMO

102 SITE PLAN

103 SITE GRADING PLAN

104 SITE MAINTENANCE & DETAILS

106 SITE PHOTOMETRIC PLAN

107 RETURN CANOPY

108 RETURN CANOPY STRUCTURE

110 SITE COMPONENT DETAILS

112 SITE SIGNAGE DETAILS

SHEET # SHEET NAME

202 FLOOR PLAN

240 COLOR ELEVATIONS

242 EAST & WEST ELEVATIONS

244 ENLARGED EAST & WEST ELEV.

246 NORTH & SOUTH ELEVATIONS

SHEET # SHEET NAME

U-HAUL of FORT ATKINSON #750077U-HAUL of FORT ATKINSON #750077
1309 N. HIGH ST.

FORT ATKINSON, WI 53538

NOTES:

1. ALL CONCRETE SHALL BE PLACED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE
CURRENT PUBLICATIONS OF THE PORTLAND CEMENT ASSOCIATION.

2. LOCATION, SIZE, & INSTALLATION FOR ALL ANCHORS, SLEEVES,
HANGERS, INSERTS, OPENINGS, ETC., SHALL BE COORDINATED WITH
ALL OTHER APPLICABLE TRADES.

3. REINFORCING STEEL SHALL BE ASTM-615 GRADE 60.
4. FABRICATION SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH CURRENT

SPECIFICATIONS OF THE AMERICAN CONCRETE INSTITUTE.
5. CONTRACTOR SHALL LOCATE ALL UTILITIES BEFORE

CONSTRUCTION, AND NOTIFY ARCHITECT & OWNER OF ANY
INTERFERENCES.

6. CONTRACTORS SHALL PROVIDE ALL BARRICADES, FENCES, SAFETY
EQUIPMENT, AND PRECAUTIONS REQUIRED BY ALL CODES OR
AGENCIES HAVING JURISDICTION OVER THE PROJECT.

7. ALL HEATING EQUIPMENT SHALL BE SEALED COMBUSTION DIRECT
VENT. WATER HEATER SHALL BE ELECTRIC.  TOILET ROOM FINISHES
(ALL) SHALL BE IMPERVIOUS TO WATER.

8. ALL STRUCTURAL LUMBER SHALL BE MINIMUM (fb 950). ALL HOLES IN
TOP PLATES AND ANY VOIDS IN EXTERIOR WALL TO BE CAULKED.

9. ALL BATT INSULATION IN EXTERIOR WALLS TO BE SPLIT TO
ENVELOPE WIRING.

10. EXTERIOR DOORS AND WINDOWS TO BE FOAMED.
11. CONFIRM ALL CRITICAL DIMENSIONS w/ DESIGN DEPARTMENT. DO

NOT SCALE ON SITE.

FIRE PROTECTION NOTES
1. PROVIDE FIRE EXSTINGUISERS PER PLAN. PER TABLE 906.3(1) IBC

2015, MAXIMUM DISTANCE OF TRAVEL TO FIRE EXTINGUISHER TO BE
75'-0"

2. FULLY SPRINKLERED PER NFPA-13.

AMERCO REAL ESTATE 
COMPANY

CONTACT: ADAM MUSZYNSKI 
CORPORATE ADDRESS:
2727 N. CENTRAL AVE.

PHOENIX, AZ 85004

PHONE: (608) 572-6510
 EMAIL:  adam_muszynski@uhaul.com

CONTACT: LLOYD CARPENTER
2663 MAPLE HILLS DRIVE

GREEN BAY,WI 54313

CELL: (920) 655-3829
 EMAIL: carp.arch@gmail.com 

CONTACT: MARK RUKAMP
1050 BROADWAY STREET
WRIGHTSTOWN, WI 54180

PHONE: (920) 336-3400
CELL: (920) 370-5272
FAX: (920) 336-3401

     EMAIL:  mark.rukamp@alliancebuilds.com
PROJECT MANAGER : TERRY CARTER

CONTACT: -
ADDRESS

PHONE: -
CELL: -
FAX: -

 EMAIL: -

CONTACT: -
ADDRESS

PHONE: -
CELL: -
FAX: -

 EMAIL: -

CONTACT: -
ADDRESS

PHONE: -
CELL: -
FAX: -

 EMAIL: -

CONTACT: -
ADDRESS

PHONE: -
CELL: -
FAX: -

 EMAIL: -

REVISIONS

# STAGE DATE



NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

DRAWN BY:

SCALE:

P
R

O
F

E
S

S
IO

N
A

L 
S

E
A

L:
P

R
O

J
E

C
T

 I
N

F
O

:

SHEET NAME:

CURRENT
AS OF:

PLAN START 
DATE:

APPROVED FOR 
BID

APPROVED FOR 
REVIEW

APPROVED FOR 
CONSTRUCTION

#

10
50

 B
R

O
A

D
W

A
Y

 S
T

., 
W

R
IG

H
T

S
T

O
W

N
, W

I 5
41

80

W
W

W
.A

L
L

IA
N

C
E

B
U

IL
D

S
.C

O
M

P
H

O
N

E
: 

(9
20

)-
33

6-
34

00
   

 F
A

X
: 

(9
20

)-
33

6-
34

01

C
O

M
M

E
R

C
IA

L
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

IN
D

U
S

T
R

IA
L

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  
 D

E
S

IG
N

 /
 B

U
IL

D

12" = 1'-0"

9/7/2021 8:18:31 AM

P
:\
1
9
-1

3
8
 U

-H
a
u
l 
F

o
rt

 A
tk

in
s
o

n
\R

e
v
it
\1

9
-1

3
8
 U

-H
a
u
l 
F

o
rt

 A
tk

in
s
o

n
.r

v
t

100

D.X.M.

1
9
-1

3
8

SITE DEMO

1
3
0

9
 N

. 
H

IG
H

 S
T

.
F

O
R

T
 A

T
K

IN
S

O
N

, 
W

I 
5
3

5
3
8

F
O

R
 G

D
P

 S
IT

E
 P

L
A

N
 A

P
P

R
O

V
A

L

U
-H

A
U

L
 o

f 
F

O
R

T
 A

T
K

IN
S

O
N

 #
7

5
0

0
7
7

01/09/2020

FOR GDP SITE PLAN APPROVAL

L
L
O

Y
D

 C
A

R
P

E
N

T
E

R

AS INDICATED

REVISIONS

# STAGE DATE



R
E

F

PROPOSED ALTERATION 49,214 SF

TYPE IIIB CONSTRUCTION

SPRINKLERED BUILDING

FIRE
HYDRANT

LP

LP

FIRE
HYDRANT

LP

LP

LP

LP
LP

1

51'-7"

50'-10"

84'-5"

15
'-1

0"

59
'-0

"

406'-8"

LP

LP

LP
LP

LP

LP

11

ROLL ASPHALT TO NEW O.H.D.
& EXIST. RAISED CONC.

E
Q

U
IP

M
E

N
T

 D
IS

P
L

A
Y

EQUIPMENT SHUNTING

78'-9" 125'-11"

10'-0"

39'-4"
250'-0"

10'-0"

35'-0" 40'-0" 40'-0"
281'-8"

5

TYP.

12

80
'-1

"
30'-0"

1'-6"
264'-3"

1'-6" 30'-0" 69'-5"

TYP.

5' - 0"  R

(8) EMPLOYEE
STALLS

1'
-6

"

7'
-2

"

20
'-0

"

14

U-BOX AREA

(9) OVERFLOW EQUIP. PARKING STALLS

E
M

P
L

O
Y

E
E

 / 
O

V
E

R
F

L
O

W
E

Q
U

I P
. P

A
R

K
IN

G
 S

T
A

L
L

S

17 TYP.

18

3

21

21

16 TYP.

R
O

C
K

 R
IV

E
R

PARCEL: 226-0614-3424-011
CURRENT ZONING:

URBAN MIXED USE (UMU) 
CITY OF FORT ATKINSON

PARCEL: 226-0614-3424-010
CURRENT ZONING:

URBAN MIXED USE (UMU)
CITY OF FORT ATKINSON

PARCEL: 226-0614-3424-023
LOT 3, CSM 1849

OWNER: MICHAEL SHAW
CURRENT ZONING: UMU
CITY OF FORT ATKINSON

PARCEL: 226-0614-3424-022
LOT 1, CSM 1849

176,893 SQ.FT. (4.0609 ACRES)
CURRENT ZONING: UMU

PROPOSED ZONING: PUD

PARCEL: 226-0614-3424-007
LOT 2, CSM 1849

210,723 SQ.FT. (4.8375 ACRES)
CURRENT ZONING: UMU 

PROPOSED ZONING: PUD

PARCEL: 226-0614-3424-024
LOT 2, CSM 1849

25,749 SQ.FT. (0.5911 ACRES)
CURRENT ZONING: UMU

PROPOSED ZONING: PUD

PARCEL: 226-0614-3424-017
CURRENT ZONING:

LIGHT INDUSTRIAL (LI)
CITY OF FORT ATKINSON

PARCEL: 226-0614-3424-015
CURRENT ZONING:

MEDIUM INDUSTRIAL (MI)
CITY OF FORT ATKINSON

30
3.

35
'

316.5'

10
'

220'

17
5'

148.71'

11
6 .

85
'

684.28'

17
1.

6 9
'

14
5.

01
'

42
.6

'119'

17
5'

150.4'

532.5'

34
5 .

19
'

PARCEL: 226-0614-3424-016
CURRENT ZONING:

LIGHT INDUSTRIAL (LI)
CITY OF FORT ATKINSON

PARCELS: 226-0614-3424-025, -026, -027, -028, -029, -030
CURRENT ZONING:

SUBURBAN MIXED USE (SMU) 
CITY OF FORT ATKINSON

PARCEL: 226-0614-3424-021
CURRENT ZONING:

DUPLEX RESIDENTIAL - 9,000 S.F. (DR-8) 
CITY OF FORT ATKINSON

PARCEL: 226-0614-3424-006
CURRENT ZONING:

SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL - 8,000 S.F. (SR-5)
CITY OF FORT ATKINSON

GRASS

GRASS

GRASS

GRASS

GRASS

ZONE X

ASPHALT

CONCRETE

C
O

N
C

R
E

T
E

C
O

N
C

.

TRANSFORMER

TRANSFORMER

TRANSFORMER

C
O

N
C

R
E

T
E

C
O

N
C

R
E

T
E

C
O

N
C

R
E

T
E

C
O

N
C

R
E

T
E

 W
A

LL

C
O

N
C

R
E

T
E

 W
A

LL

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

 
D

O
C

K
 W

E
LL

TRENCH

G
A

U
R

D
R

A
IL

TRANSFORMER

P
R

O
P

A
N

E
 T

A
N

K

FOUND 1" 
IRON PIPE

F
O

U
N

D
 3

/4
" 

IR
O

N
 R

O
D

SIGN

ACCESS POINT

ACCESS
POINT

ACCESS
POINT

ACCESS POINT

LOT 2, CSM 1849
OWNER: DONALD BIGALOW 

& PAMALA SEVERSON

A
S

P
H

A
LT

 W
A

LK

A
S

P
H

A
LT

 W
A

LK

GAS & ELECT. UTILITY EASEMENT 
PER DOCS. 757099 & 806243

S
A

N
IT

A
R

Y
 E

A
S

E
M

EN
T 

 P
E

R
 D

O
C

. 

77
49

48

70
' P

U
B

LI
C

 R
.O

.W
.

70' PUBLIC R.O.W.
(FKA GREENBRIAR LANE)

11
5'

 P
U

B
L I

C
 R

.O
.W

.

VAIRIABL WIDTH PUBLIC R.O.W.

ACCESS POINT

TRANSFORMER

E. BLACKHAWK DR.

JE
FF

E
R

S
O

N
 S

T.

N
O

R
T

H
 H

I G
H

 S
T

R
E

E
T

 (
S

T
. H

W
. '

26
')

WOODLAND DR.

ACCESS RESTRICTION
PER DOC. 754446

ENTIRE BUILDING:
ONE STORY MASONRY & STEEL FRAME BUILDING 

1309 N. HIGH ST.
90,393 SQ.FT.
2.0751 ACRES

EXISTING BUILDING

APPARENT PARTY WALL

10
'-0

"
90

'-0
"

14
'-0

"
88

'-0
"

10
'-0

"
30

'-0
"

49'-4" 40'-0" 24'-0" 20'-0" 10'-0"

6'-0"

30
'-0

"
16

'-0
"

24
'-0

"
26

'-0
"

29
'-4

"

75
'-0

"
10

'-0
"

32
'-1

1"
40

'-0
"

31
'-5

" 40
'-0

"

31'-6"

TYP.

5' - 0"

(2
5 )

 1
0 '

X
20

'  S
T

A
L

L
S

(3
0 )

 1
0 '

X
20

'  S
T

A
L

L
S

26
'-6

"

15

CUSTOMER ROUTE

13

C
U

S
T

O
M

E
R

P
A

R
K

IN
G

1919

3,856 SF
GRASS ADDED

33,668 SF
GRASS ADDED

EQUIPMENT DISPLAY

E DE C

DEECDE

1,122 SF
STONE (7 BEDS)
ADDED

249 SF
STONE ADDED

249 SF
STONE ADDED

425 SF
STONE ADDED

1,434 SF
STONE ADDED

249 SF STONE
ADDED

7

6 TYP.

5

TYP.

20

1919

14,631 SF
GRASS ADDED

2,565 SF
STONE (17 BEDS)
ADDED

3,357 SF
GRASS ADDED1,185 SF

GRASS ADDED

8'-0" 24'-0"

8'
-0

"

8 TYP.

8

TYP.

9

10

514 SF STONE
ADDED

7

8TYP.

TYP.

20

20

SNOW 

SHUNTING 

AREA

23

23

23
23

23

23

23

23

23 23

23

23
23

B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B M M

M M

EE
C D

EE
D C C

D

EE

19

20

M

M

A

F

F

FFF

M

MM

M

16

EE
H C

C
EE H

H

D

EE C

D

EE C

2

C

DEE

CD

E

EE
C

D

C
EE D

C

D
EE

EEH C

HEE

C
H

DE C E DECDE C E C DE

E DE ECEDEDEE

C C DEEDE

DE DE EE

DE C E C DEDE E C DE

C DE E E DEDE E

E

E
DE

C

DE

20

23

E
DEC C

E
DE

H

C

E

DE
E

DE

C D D
C

EE

A
C

E
DE DE C

E

20

C
E

D

E
DE

C

DE
E

C

DE
E

C

D
E

C

D
E

C

C
E

D
C

E D

E
C

D

E
D

C

E
C

D

E
C

D

E
C

D

E
D

C

E
C

D

E
D

C

D
E

C

AEDEC DEEC

20

23

20

23
DEE CC EDE

F

F

10
'-0

"

12'-0"

C D

E

F

F

A

A

A

A

A
AA

DEE
C

D

EE C

DEE
C

D
EE C

D
EE

C

DEE
C

DEE

C

D
EE

C

D

EE

C

D
EE

C

DEE

C

D
EE

C

C
D

EEEE
CD

EE
DC

EE
C D

EE
D C

22

TYP.

E
Q

U
IP

M
E

N
T

 D
IS

P
L

A
Y

20

19

TYP.

4

4 G
G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

GG

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

C C
E

CE

D

C
E

D

8,189 SF
GRASS ADDED

141 SF
STONE ADDED

189 SF
STONE ADDED

156 SF
STONE ADDED

220 SF
STONE
ADDED

10
'-0

"

10'-0"

10
'-0

"

F

HEHE

HE
HE

HE

HE

HE
HE HE

HE HE HE

HE

1 RETURN CANOPY, SEE SHEET 106 FOR DETAILS

SITE LEGEND

2 NEW PYLON SIGN, SEE DETAIL 

3

10'-0" X 20'-0" ADA PARKING STALL W/ 5'-0" AISLE SEE DETAILS                  ,                  , &       FOR PARKING STALL REQUIREMENTS AND SIGNAGE

4

9'-0" X 20'-0" ADA VAN PARKING STALL W/ 8'-0" AISLE SEE DETAILS            ,    , & FOR PARKING STALL REQUIREMENTS AND SIGNAGE

5

10'-0"X24'-0" 60° PARKING STALL FOR TRUCK SHARING6

42'-0"X12'-0" 60° PARKING STALL FOR TRUCK SHARING

7

8

/11 104/10 104 /12 104

/11 104/10 104 /12 104

9

EXISTING BUILT-UP CURB RAMP

10

11

12

/1 112

13
10'-0" WIDE STRIPED ASPHALT BIKE/ PEDESTRIAN PATH. PATH TO CONNECT TO EXISTING SIDEWALK ON THE EAST SIDE OF THE LOT AND EXTENDS TO THE 
SIDEWALK IN FRONT OF THE BUILDING.

14

15

BIKE PATH REST STOP W/ (10) BIKE STANDS, 1 BIKE TIRE AIR PUMP, & SIGNAGE DENOTING THE PUBLIC USE OF THE RESTROOMS & DRINKING FOUNTAINS, 
SEE 

16

17

ARROWS PAINTED WHITE ON ASPHALT TO DIRECT CUSTOMERS THROUGH THE PARKING LOT, SEE THE RED DASHED LINE ON THE PLAN FOR THE CUSTOMER 
ROUTE

18

19

NEW PROPANE FILL STATION, TANK TO BE WHITE W/ 2'-0" TALL "PROPANE" LETTER SEE SHEET 108 FOR DETAILS

20

ALL EXISTING LIGHT POLES TO BE RE-USED & FIXTURES TO BE REPLACED, VERIFY ALL LIGHT POLE LOCATIONS ON SITE

21

REMOVE EXISTING RESTAURANT SIGN

/2 112

REMOVE EXISTING ASPHALT, ADD NEW TOP SOIL, & SEED GRASS, SEE PLAN FOR LANDSCAPING (IF ANY)

NEW MULTI-TENANT SIGN, SEE DETAIL 

VERIFY EXISTING CONCRETE LANDSCAPE BED ON SITE

/3 110

BENCH

SITE AREAS

EXISTING IMPERVOUS SURFACE         78.2% OF SITE

BUILDING AREA 90,393 SF

ASPHALT & CONCRETE AREA 232, 694 SF

TOTAL NORTH & SOUTH SITE AREA 413,635 SF

TOTAL IMPERVIOUS SURFACE AREA 323,528 SF

PROPOSED GRASS 82,482 SF

PROPOSED LANDSCAPE STONE 7,625 SF

EXISTING PERVIOUS OUTSIDE OF LOT
(NOT COUNTED TOWARD SF)

PERVIOUS SURFACE AREA 21.8% OF SITE

TOTAL PERVIOUS SURFACE AREA 90,107 SF

PARKING
STORAGE LAND USES:

·PARKING REQ PER 15.03.16: 1 STALL/ EA. EMPLOYEE ON LARGEST SHIFT
·U-HAUL SELF-STORAGE FACILITY: 8 STALLS REQ.
·U-HAUL U-BOX FACILITY: 8 STALLS REQ. 

COMMERICAL LAND USES:

·PARKING REQ PER 15.03.10 (3) & (8): 1 STALL / 400 SF OF FLR. AREA
·DOLLAR TREASURES: 11 STALLS REQ.
·FAMILY RESTAURANT: 8 STALLS REQ.
·UNOCCUPIED SUITE: 5 STALLS REQ. 

STALLS PROVIDED NORTH LOT:

·(52) 10'X20' - (20) OVERFLOW, (8) EMPLOYEE, (24) CUSTOMER
·(3) ADA 10'X20' W/ 8' AISLE

STALLS PROVIDED SOUTH LOT:

·(8) 12'X42', 60° - EQUIPMENT DISPLAY
·(29) 10'X20' - (9) OVERFLOW, (8) EMPLOYEE, (12) CUSTOMER
·(2) ADA 10'X20' W/ 8' AISLE
·(3) 9'X20'
·(1) ADA 9'X20' W/ 8' AISLE
·(2) 12'X35'
·(6) 10'X24', 60° - EQUIPMENT DISPLAY

SITE NOTES
1. SITE ADDRESS:

1309 N. HIGH STREET, FORT ATKINSON, WI 53538
2. PARCELS: 

226-0614-3424-007, 226-0614-3424-022, & 226-0614-3424-024
3. ZONING:

CURRENT = UMU | PROPOSED = PUD
4. LEGAL DESCRIPTION: LOTS 1 AND 2 OF CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO. 1849 RECORDED ON MAY 8, 1985 IN VOLUME 6 OF CERTIFIED SURVEYS ON PAGES 43 

AND 44, AS DOCUMENT NO. 806243, BEING PART OF GOVERNMENT LOT 6, IN SECTION 34, TOWN 6 NORTH, RANGE 14 EAST, CITY OF FORT ATKINSON, 
JEFFERSON COUNTY, WISCONSIN, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: COMMENCING AT THE W1/4 CORNER OF SECTION 34; THENCE S. 88 DEG. 32' E, 1292.49 FEET; 
THENCE N. 18 DEG. 28' E., 346.66 FEET TO THE SW CORNER OF SAID LOT 2; THENCE S. 88 DEG. 32' 43" E., 399.85 FEET TO THE W'LY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF 
JEFFERSON STREET, 70.00 FEET WIDE; THENCE N. 22 DEG. 58' 57" E., ALONG SAID JEFFERSON STREET LINE, 43.18 FEET; THENCE N. 22 DEG. 20' 27" E., ALONG 
SAME SAID LINE, 32.88 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING OF THIS DESCRIPTION; THENCE S. 88 DEG. 32' 43" W., 173.99 FEET; THENCE N. 01 DEG. 27' 17" E., 
648.54 FEET TO THE S. LINE OF WOODLAND DRIVE, 60.00 FEET WIDE; THENCE S. 88 DEG. 32' 43" E., 316.50 FEET; THENCE S. 01 DEG. 27' 17" W., 10.00 FEET; 
THENCE S. 88 DEG. 32' 43" E. ALONG THE S. LINE OF WOODLAND DRIVE, 70.00 FEET WIDE, 220.00 FEET; THENCE S. 01 DEG. 27' 17" W., 175 FEET; THENCE S. 88 
DEG. 32' 43" E., 148.71 FEET TO THE W. LINE OF STATE TRUNK HIGHWAY 26, 115.0 FEET WIDE; THENCE S. 01 DEG. 54' 48" W., ALONG SAID LINE, 288.54 FEET; 
THENCE N.88 DEG. 32' 43'' W., 150.40 FEET; THENCE S. 01 DEG. 27' 17" W., 175.00 FEET TO THE NORTH LINE OF GREENBRIAR LANE, 70.00 FEET WIDE; THENCE . 
N. 88 DEG. 32' 43" W., ALONG SAID LINE, 358.51 FEET TO THE PONT OF BEGINNING OF THIS DESCRIPTION. AND LOT 4 OF CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO. 1849, 
RECORDED ON MAY 8, 1985 IN VOLUME 6 OF CERTIFIED SURVEYS ON PAGES 43 AND 44, AS DOCUMENT NO. 806243, BEING PART OF GOVERNMENT LOT 6, IN 
SECTION 34, TOWNSHIP 6 NORTH, RANGE 14 EAST, CITY OF FORT ATKINSON, JEFFERSON COUNTY, WISCONSIN.

10'-0"X20'-0" PARKING STALL

12'-0"X35'-0" PARKING STALL

9'-0"X20'-0" PARKING STALL

REMOVE EXISTING ASPHALT, ADD NEW TOP SOIL, & ADD LANDSCAPE STONE, SEE PLAN FOR LANDSCAPING (IF ANY)

22 EQUIPMENT SHUNTING TO BE 4 LANES. THE TOTAL SHUNTING AREA TO BE 250'-0" X 40'-0".

23 NEW 18" ROLL-OVER CURB (SEE        FOR DETAIL), ALL NEW ROLL OVER CURB IS DIPICTED ON PLANS WITH A DARK GRAY, SOLID HATCH PATTERN/9 104

LANDSCAPE NOTES
PAVED AREAS
REQUIRED: 
· 934 LANDSCAPE PTS. ARE REQUIRED FOR PAVED AREAS
(MIN. 30% TALL TREES = 281 PTS., MIN. 40% SHRUBS = 374 PTS.)

PROVIDED:
· 7 NEW TALL EVERGREEN TREES (33 PTS. EA.) = 231 POINTS
· 10 NEW TALL DECIDUOUS TREES (33 PTS. EA.) = 330 POINTS
· 183 MEDIUM DECIDUOUS SHRUBS (3 PTS. EA.) = 549 PTS.

· 126 PERENNIALS = 20 /20 S.F. = 6  PTS.
· TOTAL PTS. = 1,116 PTS.

STREET FRONTAGE LENGTH
REQUIRED:
· 998 PTS. ARE REQUIRED FOR STREET FRONTAGE LENGTH
(MIN. 50% TALL TREES = 449 PTS., MIN. 30% MEDIUM TREES = 300 PTS.)

PROVIDED:
· 22 NEW TALL EVERGREEN TREES (33 PTS EA.) = 726 PTS.
· 10 NEW MEDIUM DECIDUOUS TREES (15 PTS EA.) = 150 PTS.
· 10 EXISTING MEDIUM DECIDUOUS TREES (15 PTS EA.) = 150 PTS.
· TOTAL PTS. = 1,026 PTS.

NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

DRAWN BY:

SCALE:

P
R

O
F

E
S

S
IO

N
A

L 
S

E
A

L:
P

R
O

J
E

C
T

 I
N

F
O

:

SHEET NAME:

CURRENT
AS OF:

PLAN START 
DATE:

APPROVED FOR 
BID

APPROVED FOR 
REVIEW

APPROVED FOR 
CONSTRUCTION

#

10
50

 B
R

O
A

D
W

A
Y

 S
T

., 
W

R
IG

H
T

S
T

O
W

N
, W

I 5
41

80

W
W

W
.A

L
L

IA
N

C
E

B
U

IL
D

S
.C

O
M

P
H

O
N

E
: 

(9
20

)-
33

6-
34

00
   

 F
A

X
: 

(9
20

)-
33

6-
34

01

C
O

M
M

E
R

C
IA

L
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

IN
D

U
S

T
R

IA
L

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  
 D

E
S

IG
N

 /
 B

U
IL

D

As indicated

9/7/2021 8:19:18 AM

P
:\
1
9
-1

3
8
 U

-H
a
u
l 
F

o
rt

 A
tk

in
s
o

n
\R

e
v
it
\1

9
-1

3
8
 U

-H
a
u
l 
F

o
rt

 A
tk

in
s
o

n
.r

v
t

102

O.R.V.

1
9
-1

3
8

SITE PLAN

1
3
0

9
 N

. 
H

IG
H

 S
T

.
F

O
R

T
 A

T
K

IN
S

O
N

, 
W

I 
5
3

5
3
8

F
O

R
 G

D
P

 S
IT

E
 P

L
A

N
 A

P
P

R
O

V
A

L

U
-H

A
U

L
 o

f 
F

O
R

T
 A

T
K

IN
S

O
N

 #
7

5
0

0
7
7

01/09/2020

FOR GDP SITE PLAN APPROVAL

L
L
O

Y
D

 C
A

R
P

E
N

T
E

R

1" = 40'-0"
1

SITE PLAN

TRUE

LANDSCAPE SCHEDULE

MK QTY
COMMON

NAME
BOTANICAL

NAME
PLANTING

SIZE ROOT
SIZE AT

MATURITY REMARKS

A 10 SKYLINE
HONEYLOCUST

GLEDITSIA
TRIACONTHOS
IN 'SKYCOLE'

2" Ø BB 50'

B 29 EMERALD
GREEN
ARBORVITAE

THUJA
OCCIDENTALIS
'SMARAGD'

4'-5' H BB 15'

C 78 GOLDEN
NUGGET
DWARF
BARBERRY

BERBERIS
THENBERGIL
'GOLDEN
NUGGET'

3 GAL. CONT. 12" - 18"

D 46 DOUBLE PLAY
GOLD SPIREA

SPIREA
JAPONICA 'YAN'

3 GAL. CONT. 16" - 24"

DE 36 EXISTING
DOUBLE PLAY
GOLD SPIREA

SPIREA
JAPONICA 'YAN'

CONT. 16" - 24" EXISTING PLANTS
ON SITE TO BE
RE-PLANTED

E 52 MAIDEN GRASS MISCANTHUS
SINENSIS
'BANDWIDTH'

30-36"
Hx30-36" W

CONT. 6'

EE 46 EXISITNG
MAIDEN GRASS

MISCANTHUS
SINENSIS
'BANDWIDTH'

30-36"
Hx30-36" W

CONT. 6' EXISTING PLANTS
ON SITE TO BE
RE-PLANTED

F 10 PAPERBARK
MAPLE

ACER GRISEUM 2" Ø BB 25'

G 23 WINE & ROSES
WIEGELA

WEIGELA
FLORIDA
'ALEXANDRA'

3 GAL. CONT. 3'-4'

H 7 STELLA DORO
DAYLILY

HEMEROCALLIS
'STELLA DORO'

1 GAL. CONT. 12" - 18"

HE 21 EXISTING
STELLA DORO
DAYLILY

HEMEROCALLIS
'STELLA DORO'

CONT. 12" - 18" EXISTING PLANTS
ON SITE TO BE
RE-PLANTED

M 10 EXISTING
MEDIUM TREE

REVISIONS

# STAGE DATE



NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

DRAWN BY:

SCALE:

P
R

O
F

E
S

S
IO

N
A

L 
S

E
A

L:
P

R
O

J
E

C
T

 I
N

F
O

:

SHEET NAME:

CURRENT
AS OF:

PLAN START 
DATE:

APPROVED FOR 
BID

APPROVED FOR 
REVIEW

APPROVED FOR 
CONSTRUCTION

#

10
50

 B
R

O
A

D
W

A
Y

 S
T

., 
W

R
IG

H
T

S
T

O
W

N
, W

I 5
41

80

W
W

W
.A

L
L

IA
N

C
E

B
U

IL
D

S
.C

O
M

P
H

O
N

E
: 

(9
20

)-
33

6-
34

00
   

 F
A

X
: 

(9
20

)-
33

6-
34

01

C
O

M
M

E
R

C
IA

L
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

IN
D

U
S

T
R

IA
L

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  
 D

E
S

IG
N

 /
 B

U
IL

D

12" = 1'-0"

9/7/2021 8:19:20 AM

P
:\
1
9
-1

3
8
 U

-H
a
u
l 
F

o
rt

 A
tk

in
s
o

n
\R

e
v
it
\1

9
-1

3
8
 U

-H
a
u
l 
F

o
rt

 A
tk

in
s
o

n
.r

v
t

103

D.X.M.

1
9
-1

3
8

SITE GRADING
PLAN

1
3
0

9
 N

. 
H

IG
H

 S
T

.
F

O
R

T
 A

T
K

IN
S

O
N

, 
W

I 
5
3

5
3
8

F
O

R
 G

D
P

 S
IT

E
 P

L
A

N
 A

P
P

R
O

V
A

L

U
-H

A
U

L
 o

f 
F

O
R

T
 A

T
K

IN
S

O
N

 #
7

5
0

0
7
7

01/09/2020

FOR GDP SITE PLAN APPROVAL

L
L
O

Y
D

 C
A

R
P

E
N

T
E

R

AS INDICATED

REVISIONS

# STAGE DATE



IT SHALL BE THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE OWNER TO INSTALL (WHERE 
SHOWN HEREON), BARRIER FREE PARKING SIGNS IN CONFORMITY TO 
WISCONSIN
ADMINISTRATIVE CODE : TRANS #200.07

INTERNATIONAL SYMBOL FOR 

ACCESSIBILITY

3'
-0

"

3'-0"

PARKING SIGN
DETAIL

SIGN POST
DETAIL

GREEN TEXT

BLUE FIELD

WHITE 
INTERNATIONAL
SYMBOL

WHITE FIELD

GREEN TEXT
& BORDER

12"

18
"

HDCP PARKING SIGN -
12"x18" 
MIN. SIZE

4'
-0

"
2'

-6
"

12"

GRADE

12" CONC.
PIER

RESERVED
PARKING

VEHICLES WITH

VET OR DIS PLATES OR

STATE DISABLED CARD

2"x2"x1/4" TS 
w/ WELDED CAP

VAN ACCESSIBLE4"

GREEN TEXT
& BORDER

SET TOP OF ROOT
BALL AT SOIL SURFACE.

PLANTING HOLE SHALL
BE 2 - 2 1/2 TIMES THE
DIA. OF ROOT BALL
AND NO DEEPER THAN
HEIGHT OF ROOT BALL.
SCARIFY SIDES AND
BOTTOM OF PLANTING
HOLE.

SCARIFY ONE SIDE OF ROOT BALL PRIOR 
TO PLANTING.

BACKFILL WITH NATIVE SOILRELEASE 
FERTILIZER TO SURFACE AWAY FROM 
TRUNK PER MANUFACTURER'S SPECS.

NOTES:

1. SUFFICIENT CLEARANCE SHALL BE MAINTAINED BETWEEN SHRUBS & UTILITY FACILITIES SO AS TO 
NOT HINDER USE OF  FACILITIES.

2. PLANT PIT BASINS WITHIN SLOPED PLANTING AREAS SHALL BE CONSTRUCTED WITH A MAX. 2:1 
SLOPE. PROVIDE SMOOTH TRANSITION TO SURROUNDING FINISH GRADE.   

1. ALL EROSION CONTROL AND STORM WATER MANAGEMENT PRACTICES WILL BE CHECKED FOR 
STABILITY AND OPERATION EVERY 7 DAYS, AND WITHIN 24 HOURS OF A STORM PRODUCING AT 
LEAST 0.5 INCHES OF RAINFALL.  ANY NEEDED REPAIRS WILL BE MADE IMMEDIATELY TO 
MAINTAIN ALL PRACTICES AS DESIGNED. ALSO, ANY SEDIMENT THAT HAS BEEN DEPOSITED 
OFFSITE FROM THIS CONSTRUCTION PROJECT SHALL BE CLEANED UP IMMEDIATELY.

2. REMOVE SEDIMENT FROM BEHIND ANY SILT FENCE WHEN IT HAS ACCUMULATED TO A DEPTH OF 
12" OR MORE. WHEN THE FENCE CAN NO LONGER FILTER WATER OR TRAP SEDIMENT, REPAIR 
THE SILT FENCE TO PROVIDE AN EFFECTIVE BARRIER.

3. ALL SEEDED AREAS, INCLUDING THE GRASS-LINED CHANNELS, WILL BE RE-SEEDED AND 
MULCHED AS NECESSARY TO MAINTAIN VIGOROUS, DENSE VEGETATIVE COVER.

4. BIODEGRADABLE EROSION CONTROL MAT.  INSTALLATION WILL FOLLOW MANUFACTURER'S 
RECOMMENDATIONS.

5. REMOVE SILT FENCE AND TEMPORARY STRUCTURES AFTER FINAL STABILIZATION AND 
VEGETATIVE COVER IS ESTABLISHED.

6. SEDIMENT THAT HAS MIGRATED ONTO ADJACENT PROPERTIES SHALL BE SWEPT OFF 
PAVEMENTS AND REMOVED FROM VEGETATED AREAS MONTHLY.

EROSION MAINTENANCE PLAN:

DIGGERS HOTLINE

TO OBTAIN LOCATION OF PARTICIPANTS 
UNDERGROUND FACILITY BEFORE YOU DIG IN 

WISCONSIN

WISCONSIN STATUTE 182.0175 (1974)
REQUIRES MINIMUM OF 3 WORK DAYS NOTICE BEFORE YOU EXCAVATE

CALL DIGGERS
HOTLINE

1-800-242-8511

1. TEMPORARY CONSTRUCTION ENTRANCE / EXIT     (TECH. STANDARD 1057)
A NEW GRAVEL CONSTRUCTION ENTRANCE WILL BE INSTALLED AT ALL
CONSTRUCTION ACCESS POINTS TO PREVENT SEDIMENT FROM TRACKING ONTO THE ROADWAYS.

2. STOCKPILED TOPSOIL / TEMPORARY FILL PILES
SILT FENCING OR STRAW BALE FENCING WILL BE REQUIRED AROUND ALL
STOCKPILED TOPSOIL OR TEMPORARY FILL PILES.  SOIL PILES OF MORE THAN 10 CUBIC YARDS 
THAT WILL BE IN EXISTENCE FOR MORE THAN 7 DAYS SHALL BE SEEDED AND / OR MULCHED TO 
PROVIDE VEGETATIVE COVER AND SHALL USE SILT FENCING OR STRAW BALES FENCIN GUNTIL 
THE VEGETATION IS
ESTABLISHED.

3. SILT FENCE               (TECH. STANDARD1056) 
SILT FENCING WILL BE REQUIRED DOWNSLOPE OF ALL DISTURBED AREAS, INCLUDING ANY 
DISTURBED AREAS OF THE INDIVIDUAL LOTS, AND WHERE NOTED ON THE SITE PLAN.  IF THE SILT 
FENCE IS LOCATED IN A CHANNELED AREA, TWO CONSECUTIVE SILT FENCES WILL BE INSTALLED, 
OR ONE STRAW BALE FENCE WILL BE INSTALLED.

4. DUST CONTROL            (TECH. STANDARD 1068)
DUST SHALL BE CONTROLLED IN ACCORDANCE WITH WDNR STANDARDS AS NEEDED.

5. INLET PROTECTION        (TECH. STANDARD 1060) 
INLET PROTECTION SHALL BE INSTALLED AT ALL EXISTING AND PROPOSED STORM DRAIN INLETS 
ON THE PROJECT SITE AND IMMEDIATELY DOWN STREAM FROM ANY DISTURBED AREAS.

PLANNED EROSION CONTROL PRACTICES:

2"
M

IN
.

PROVIDE FINAL
APPLICATION OF WEED
CONTROL UPON FINAL
RAKING.

NOTES:

1. REFER TO COS DETAIL FOR FINISH GRADE HEIGHT OF DECOMPOSED GRANITE IN 
RELATION TO TOP OF CURBS AND SIDEWALKS.

FINE - GRADED
SUBGRADE

APPLY
PRE-EMERGENT
HERBICIDE AS PER
MANUFACTURER'S
RECOMMENDATIONS.
(SURFLAN OR EQUAL)

DECOMPOSED GRANITE. FINISH 
GRADE TO BE RAKED SMOOTH.

POST SPACING
(SEE NOTE 2)

2'
 M

IN
.

4"

6"

2'
-0

"
M

IN
.

ISOMETRIC VIEW

TYPICAL SECTIONNOTES:

1. THE GEOTEXTILE FABRIC SHALL BE PLACED IN THE EXCAVATED TRENCH, BACKFILLED, AND 
COMPACTED  TO THE EXISTING GROUND SURFACE.
2. WOODEN SUPPORT POSTS SHALL BE A MINIMUM DIMENSION OF 1-1/8" x 1-1/8" AIR OR KILN 
DRIED OF HICKORY OR OAK AND 4 FEET LONG.  STEEL POSTS SHALL BE STUDDED "TEE" OR "U" TYPE 
WITH A MINIMUM WEIGHT OF 1.3 POUNDS PER LINEAL FOOT AND 5 FEET LONG. POST SPACING SHALL  
BE A MAXIMUM OF 8 FEET FOR WOVEN FABRIC AND 3 FEET FOR NON-WOVEN FABRIC.
3. THE GEOTEXTILE FABRIC SHALL BE ATTACHED DIRECTLY TO THE UPSLOPE SIDE OF WOODEN 
POSTS WITH 0.5   INCH STAPLES IN AT LEAST 3 PLACES, OR WITH WOODEN LATH AND NAILS. ATTACHMENT 
TO STEEL POSTS  WILL BE BY WIRE FASTENERS OR 50 POUND PLASTIC TIE STRAPS ON THE UPSLOPE SIDE. 
4. THE GEOTEXTILE FABRIC SHALL CONSIST OF EITHER WOVEN OR NON-WOVEN POLYESTER, 
POLYPROPYLENE,  STABILIZED NYLON, POLYETHYLENE, OR POLYVINYLIDENE CHLORIDE. NON-WOVEN 
FABRIC MAY BE NEEDLE  PUNCHED, HEAT BONDED, RESIN BONDED, OR COMBINATIONS THEREOF. 

* ALL NUMERICAL VALUES REPRESENT MINIMUM/MAXIMUM AVERAGE ROLL VALUES.  (FOR EXAMPLE,   
THE AVERAGE OF MINIMUM TEST RESULTS ON ANY ROLL IN A LOT SHOULD MEET OR EXCEED THE   
MINIMUM SPECIFIED VALUES.)

TEST REQUIREMENTS:

MIN. GRAB TENSILE
STRENGTH IN THE CROSS
MACHINE DIRECTION

MIN. PERMITIVITY

MIN. PERMITIVITY

MIN. ULTRAVIOLET
STABILITY PERCENTAGE
OF STRENGTH RETAINED

MAXIMUM APPARENT
OPENING SIZE EQUIVALENT
STANDARD SIEVE

METHOD VALUE*

MIN. GRAB TENSILE STRENGTH IN 
THE MACHINE DIRECTION

ASTM D 4632

ASTM D 4632

ASTM D 4751

ASTM D 4491

ASTM D 4491

120 LBS

100 LBS

NO. 30

0.05 SEC.

0.135 SEC. OR 10 GAL/ SQ. 
FT. @ 50MM CONSTANT 
HEAD

ASTM D 4355 70%

GEOTEXTILE 
FABRIC

EXISTING
GROUND

FLOW

EXCAVATED &
BACKFILLED TRENCH

EXISTING
GROUND

GEOTEXTILE FABRIC
(SEE NOTE 4)

EXCAVATED &
BACKFILLED TRENCH

FLOW

SUPPORT POSTS
(SEE NOTE 2 FOR
LENGTH)

ALL FABRIC SHALL MEET THE  FOLLOWING REQUIREMENTS:

AFTER 500 HOURS
OF EXPOSURE

4"

4"
M

IN
.

8"
M

IN
.

ANCHOR
STAKE

COMPACTED SOIL
ADJACENT TO
BALES TO PREVENT
UNDERMINING

BINDING WIRE
OR TWINE

STAKED AND
ENTRENCHED
STRAW BALE

LOOSE STRAW WEDGED BETWEEN
BALES

2" x 2" (NOMINAL) WOODEN STAKES
OR STANDARD STEEL POSTS OR
EQUIVALENT. MINIMUM OF 2 PER BALE.

��
��

ISOMETRIC VIEW

EXCAVATED TRENCH
MINIMUM 4" DEEP BY
WIDTH OF BALE

TYPICAL SECTION

NOTES:

1. TURN THE ENDS OF THE STRAW BALE SEDIMEN TRAP UPSLOPE 1 TO 2 
FEET IN ELEVATION TO PREVENT FLANKING.

2. THE STRAW BALES SHALL BE BUTTED TOGETHER AS TIGHTLY AS 
POSSIBLE.

3. THE FIRST ANCHOR STAKE SHALE BE DRIVEN TOWARD THE PREVIOUSLY 
ANCHORED BALE TO HELP CREATE A TIGHT FIT.

EXISTING
GROUND

FLOW

50'-0"
MIN.

12
'-0

"
M

IN
.

PLAN

SECTION A-A

DIVERSION RIDGE

R
O

A
D

W
A

Y

A

ROADWAY

2 % OR

GREATER

NOTES:

1. THE ENTRANCE SHALL BE MAINTAINED IN A CONDITION THAT WILL PREVENT TRACKING OR 
FLOWING OF SEDIMENT ONTO PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAYS.  THIS MAY REQUIRE TOP DRESSING, REPAIR 
AND/OR CLEANOUT OF ANY MEASURES USED TO TRAP SEDIMENT.
2. WHEN NECESSARY, WHEELS SHALL BE CLEANED PRIOR TO ENTRANCE ONTO PUBLIC RIGHT-
OF-WAY.
3. WHEN WASHING IS REQUIRED, IT SHALL BE DONE ON AN AREA STABILIZED WITH CRUSHED STONE 
THAT DRAINS INTO AN APPROVED EROSION CONTROL BMP.
4. USE SANDBAGS, STRAW BALES, OR OTHER APPROVED METHODS TO CHANNELIZE RUNOFF 
TO BMP AS REQUIRED.

CULVERT 
(IF REQUIRED)

DIVERSION RIDGE REQUIRED
WHERE GRADE EXCEEDS 2%

3"-6" COARSE
AGGREGATE 
MIN. 12" THICK

CULVERT 
(12" COVER MIN.)

FILTER FABRIC (WISDOT 
TYPE "R")

A

# 4 @ 24" O.C. E.W.

NOTE: SAW CUT JOINTS @ 12.5' MAX

6" CONCRETE
PAVEMENT

12" OF 1-1/4"
DENSE GRADED
BASE COURSE

6"

12
" 

M
IN

.

12" MIN.-18" MAX.

0.65" MIN.

DOME SPACING

1.6"-2.4"

1
.6

"-
2

.4
"

0.9" - 1.4" (BASE DIAMETER)

0.
2"

 F
R

O
M

 B
A

S
E

50% - 65% OF THE BASE DIAMETER

DOME SIZE

FULL WIDTH OF RUN

24" M
IN

. (FR
O

M
 B

A
C

K O
F C

U
R

B
)

DETECTABLE WARNINGS

TRANSITION TO STREET

36" M
IN.

36" MIN.

90°

GRADE BREAKS AT TOP AND BOTTOM
MUST BE PERPENDICULAR TO THE 
DIRECTION OF THE RAMP RUNS TO
PREVENT CROSS-SLOPE ISSUES AND 
UNEVEN SURFACES

TOP LANDING FACILITATES
MANEUVERING TO AND FROM
RAMP W/OUT TRAVEL ACROSS 
SIDE FLARES

WET CONDITIONS:
CURB RAMPS MUST BE DESIGNED TO
PREVENT ACCUMULATION OF WATER

ALTERATIONS:
PERMITTED RUNNING SLOPES
WHERE SPACE IS LIMITED:
1:10 MAX (6" MAX RISE) OR 
1:8 MAX (3" MAX RISE

LOCATION:
CANNOT PROJECT INTO VEHICULAR
TRAFFIC LANES, PARKING SPACES,
OR ACCESS AISLES

RUNNING SLOPE 1:12 MAX

CROSS SLOPE 1:48 MAX

SIDE FLARES SLOPE 1:10 MAX

BUILT-UP CURB RAMPS WITH SIDE FLARES

LOCATION:
CANNOT PROJECT INTO VEHICULAR
TRAFFIC LANES, PARKING SPACES,
OR ACCESS AISLESSIDE FLARE SLOPE 1:10 MAX 

36" M
IN.

PRUNE TREE AT TIME
OF STAKE REMOVAL

TIE WIRE W/ HOSE 
CHAFING GUARD PER SPECS.

(2) 2" DIA. X 10' LONG LODGEPOLE PINE 
TREE STAKES. BURY 3' IN GROUND AND 
CUT OFF STAKE 12" ABOVE TIE WIRE. 
STAKES SHALL REMAIN IN PLACE FOR 2 
YEARS UNLESS REMOVAL IS APPROVED 
BY MAINTENANCE DIRECTOR.

NOTES:

1. SUFFICIENT CLEARANCE SHALL BE MAINTAINED BETWEEN SHRUBS & UTILITY FACILITIES SO AS TO 
NOT HINDER USE OF  FACILITIES.
2. PLANT PIT BASINS WITHIN SLOPED PLANTING AREAS SHALL BE CONSTRUCTED WITH A MAX. 2:1 
SLOPE. PROVIDE SMOOTH TRANSITION TO SURROUNDING FINISH GRADE.   

SET TOP OF ROOT
BALL @ SOIL SURFACE

FORM TEMPORARY IRRIGATION BORDER 
JUST OUTSIDE OF ROOT BALL. USE WATER 
TO SETTLE BACKFILL, DO NOT PACK 
BACKFILL

PLANTING HOLE SHALL BE 3 X DIA. OF 
ROOT BALL AND NO DEEPER THAN HEIGHT 
OF ROOT BALL. SCARIFY SIDES AND 
BOTTOM OF PLANTING HOLE.

BACKFILL WITH NATIVE
SOIL (NO. ROCKS 
GREATER THAN 1")
APPLY SLOW- RELEASE 
FERTILIZER TO SURFACE AWAY 
FROM TRUNK PER MANUF. SPECS.

SCARIFY ONE SIDE OF
ROOT BALL PRIOR TO
PLANTING.

PREPARE SOIL PER
SPECIFICATIONS AND
ROTOTILL TO A DEPTH
OF 6" PRIOR TO AND
SPRINKLER WORK.

MULCH SOIL TO A
DEPTH OF 2", 1' IN DIA.
KEEP MULCH 2" AWAY
FROM PLANT BASE.

BACKFILL WITH NATIVE 
SOIL (NO. ROCKS GREATER 
THAN 1") APPLY SLOW-
RELEASE FERTILIZER 
TO SURFACE AWAY FROM 
TRUNK PER
MANUFACTURER'S
SPECS.

NOTES:
1. ALL GROUND COVERS TO BE PLANTED ON CENTER IN 
A TRIANGULAR PATTERN. (SEE DIAGRAM ABOVE) 
2. X = O.C. DIMENSION NOTED IN PLAN
3. Y = 0.86 OF DIMENSION "X"

y

x

x

96" MIN. 60" MIN. 96" MIN. 96" MIN.

252" MIN.

NOTE: IF ONLY ONE ACCESSIBLE STALL IS REQUIRED, THAT STALL MUST BE VAN ACCESSIBLE

NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

DRAWN BY:

SCALE:

P
R

O
F

E
S

S
IO

N
A

L 
S

E
A

L:
P

R
O

J
E

C
T

 I
N

F
O

:

SHEET NAME:

CURRENT
AS OF:

PLAN START 
DATE:

APPROVED FOR 
BID

APPROVED FOR 
REVIEW

APPROVED FOR 
CONSTRUCTION

#

10
50

 B
R

O
A

D
W

A
Y

 S
T

., 
W

R
IG

H
T

S
T

O
W

N
, W

I 5
41

80

W
W

W
.A

L
L

IA
N

C
E

B
U

IL
D

S
.C

O
M

P
H

O
N

E
: 

(9
20

)-
33

6-
34

00
   

 F
A

X
: 

(9
20

)-
33

6-
34

01

C
O

M
M

E
R

C
IA

L
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

IN
D

U
S

T
R

IA
L

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  
 D

E
S

IG
N

 /
 B

U
IL

D

As indicated

9/7/2021 8:19:24 AM

P
:\
1
9
-1

3
8
 U

-H
a
u
l 
F

o
rt

 A
tk

in
s
o

n
\R

e
v
it
\1

9
-1

3
8
 U

-H
a
u
l 
F

o
rt

 A
tk

in
s
o

n
.r

v
t

104

---

1
9
-1

3
8

SITE
MAINTENANCE

& DETAILS

1
3
0

9
 N

. 
H

IG
H

 S
T

.
F

O
R

T
 A

T
K

IN
S

O
N

, 
W

I 
5
3

5
3
8

F
O

R
 G

D
P

 S
IT

E
 P

L
A

N
 A

P
P

R
O

V
A

L

U
-H

A
U

L
 o

f 
F

O
R

T
 A

T
K

IN
S

O
N

 #
7

5
0

0
7
7

01/09/2020

FOR GDP SITE PLAN APPROVAL

L
L
O

Y
D

 C
A

R
P

E
N

T
E

R

12" = 1'-0"
11

HC PARKING SYMBOL
12" = 1'-0"

12
HC PARKING SIGN

12" = 1'-0"
1

SHRUB PLANTING
12" = 1'-0"

2
DECOMPOSED GRANITE

12" = 1'-0"
3

SILT FENCE DETAIL 1
12" = 1'-0"

4

STRAW BALE FENCE
DETAIL

12" = 1'-0"
5

SILT FENCE DETAIL 2

1" = 1'-0"
8

6" CONC. PAVEMENT
SECTION

3" = 1'-0"
9

ROLL OVER CURB DETAIL

1/2" = 1'-0"
13

CURB RAMPS

12" = 1'-0"
6

TREE PLANTING &
STAKING 36" BOX OR 2"
CALIPER

12" = 1'-0"
7

GROUNDCOVERS

3/16" = 1'-0"
10

ACCESSIBLE PARKING

REVISIONS

# STAGE DATE



NOTE:
EXISTING LIGHT POLES NOT USED ON LIGHTING LAYOUT SHOWN IN PLAN WILL BE RELOCATED AND USED WHERE NEW LIGHT POLE LOCATIONS ARE SHOWN.

NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

DRAWN BY:

SCALE:

P
R

O
F

E
S

S
IO

N
A

L 
S

E
A

L:
P

R
O

J
E

C
T

 I
N

F
O

:

SHEET NAME:

CURRENT
AS OF:

PLAN START 
DATE:

APPROVED FOR 
BID

APPROVED FOR 
REVIEW

APPROVED FOR 
CONSTRUCTION

#

10
50

 B
R

O
A

D
W

A
Y

 S
T

., 
W

R
IG

H
T

S
T

O
W

N
, W

I 5
41

80

W
W

W
.A

L
L

IA
N

C
E

B
U

IL
D

S
.C

O
M

P
H

O
N

E
: 

(9
20

)-
33

6-
34

00
   

 F
A

X
: 

(9
20

)-
33

6-
34

01

C
O

M
M

E
R

C
IA

L
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

IN
D

U
S

T
R

IA
L

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  
 D

E
S

IG
N

 /
 B

U
IL

D

1" = 40'-0"

9/7/2021 8:19:26 AM

P
:\
1
9
-1

3
8
 U

-H
a
u
l 
F

o
rt

 A
tk

in
s
o

n
\R

e
v
it
\1

9
-1

3
8
 U

-H
a
u
l 
F

o
rt

 A
tk

in
s
o

n
.r

v
t

106

D.M.

1
9
-1

3
8

SITE
PHOTOMETRIC

PLAN

1
3
0

9
 N

. 
H

IG
H

 S
T

.
F

O
R

T
 A

T
K

IN
S

O
N

, 
W

I 
5
3

5
3
8

F
O

R
 G

D
P

 S
IT

E
 P

L
A

N
 A

P
P

R
O

V
A

L

U
-H

A
U

L
 o

f 
F

O
R

T
 A

T
K

IN
S

O
N

 #
7

5
0

0
7
7

01/09/2020

FOR GDP SITE PLAN APPROVAL

L
L
O

Y
D

 C
A

R
P

E
N

T
E

R

1" = 40'-0"
1

PHOTOMETRIC PLAN

TRUE

REVISIONS

# STAGE DATE



2'
-0

"
20

'-0
"

2'
-0

"

24
'-0

"

2'-0" 20'-0" 20'-0" 2'-0"

44'-0"

40'-0"

8" PIPE COLUMN (TYP.)

3

108

3" 

1'-0"

14
'-0

"

114' - 0"

100' - 0"

CLEAR HEIGHT

FINISHED FLOOR

3

108

2'
-0

"

114' - 0"

100' - 0"

CLEAR HEIGHT

FINISHED FLOOR

14
'-0

"

3

108

2'
-0

"

3" 

1'-0"

14
'-0

"

114' - 0"

100' - 0"

CLEAR HEIGHT

FINISHED FLOOR

2'
-0

"

14
'-0

"

114' - 0"

100' - 0"

CLEAR HEIGHT

FINISHED FLOOR

2'
-0

"

NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

DRAWN BY:

SCALE:

P
R

O
F

E
S

S
IO

N
A

L 
S

E
A

L:
P

R
O

J
E

C
T

 I
N

F
O

:

SHEET NAME:

CURRENT
AS OF:

PLAN START 
DATE:

APPROVED FOR 
BID

APPROVED FOR 
REVIEW

APPROVED FOR 
CONSTRUCTION

#

10
50

 B
R

O
A

D
W

A
Y

 S
T

., 
W

R
IG

H
T

S
T

O
W

N
, W

I 5
41

80

W
W

W
.A

L
L

IA
N

C
E

B
U

IL
D

S
.C

O
M

P
H

O
N

E
: 

(9
20

)-
33

6-
34

00
   

 F
A

X
: 

(9
20

)-
33

6-
34

01

C
O

M
M

E
R

C
IA

L
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

IN
D

U
S

T
R

IA
L

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  
 D

E
S

IG
N

 /
 B

U
IL

D

1/4" = 1'-0"

9/7/2021 8:19:29 AM

P
:\
1
9
-1

3
8
 U

-H
a
u
l 
F

o
rt

 A
tk

in
s
o

n
\R

e
v
it
\1

9
-1

3
8
 U

-H
a
u
l 
F

o
rt

 A
tk

in
s
o

n
.r

v
t

107

O.R.V.

1
9
-1

3
8

RETURN
CANOPY

1
3
0

9
 N

. 
H

IG
H

 S
T

.
F

O
R

T
 A

T
K

IN
S

O
N

, 
W

I 
5
3

5
3
8

F
O

R
 G

D
P

 S
IT

E
 P

L
A

N
 A

P
P

R
O

V
A

L

U
-H

A
U

L
 o

f 
F

O
R

T
 A

T
K

IN
S

O
N

 #
7

5
0

0
7
7

01/09/2020

FOR GDP SITE PLAN APPROVAL

L
L
O

Y
D

 C
A

R
P

E
N

T
E

R

1
RETURN CANOPY 3D

1/4" = 1'-0"
2

RETURN CANOPY FLOOR
PLAN

1/4" = 1'-0"
3

NORTH ELEVATION
CANOPY

1/4" = 1'-0"
4

SOUTH ELEVATION
CANOPY

1/4" = 1'-0"
5

EAST ELEVATION CANOPY
1/4" = 1'-0"

6

WEST ELEVATION
CANOPY

TRUE

REVISIONS

# STAGE DATE



2'
-0

"
20

'-0
"

2'
-0

"

24
'-0

"

2'-0" 20'-0" 20'-0" 2'-0"

44'-0"

40'-0"

8" SCH 40 PIPE COLUMN (TYP.)

W8X21 BEAM LATERALLY
BRACED @ CENTER (TYP.)

TRUSSES BY MANUF.
@ 24" O.C. (TYP.)

14X14X1/2" BASE PLATE W/ 3/4" Ø 7" EMBED.
REDHEAD EPOXY ANCHORS (TYP.)

3

108

2'
-0

"
20

'-0
"

2'
-0

"

24
'-0

"

2'-0" 20'-0" 20'-0" 2'-0"

44'-0"

24" Ø SONOTUBE W/ (8) #5
VERTICALS & #3 TIES @ 10" O.C. (TYP.)

3

108
2'-0"

100' - 0"

96' - 0"

114' - 0"

ROOF TRUSS BY MANUF. @ 24" O.C. 

2X4 STRIPPING

FREE FRAMED MANSARD

2X6 NAILER

W8X21 BEAM

(2) HGA10KT TRUSS ANCHOR
PER TRUSS CONNECTION

LINER PANEL

SOFFIT MATERIAL 
OR METAL PANEL

MULTI RIB 29 GA PAINTED METAL ROOF PANEL,
#10 TEK @ 12" O.C. FIELD, #12 TEK @ 20" O.C. STITCH SCREW 

8" SCH 40 PIPE COLUMN

14X14X1/2" BASE PLATE W/ (4) 3/4" Ø 7"
EMBED. REDHEAD A7 EPOXY ANCHORS

3/16

2 ROW 3/8" Ø LAG W/ 1 1/2"
EMBED. @ 12" O.C. 

24" Ø SONOTUBE W/ (8) #5
VERTICALS & #3 TIES @ 10" O.C.

4

108

8" SCH 40 PIPE COLUMN

1/4" STEEL CAP

W8X21 BEAMW8X21 BEAM 6"

1/4

1/4

(2) 3/4" Ø A325 BOLTS

3X6X1/4" PLATE

3"

NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

DRAWN BY:

SCALE:

P
R

O
F

E
S

S
IO

N
A

L 
S

E
A

L:
P

R
O

J
E

C
T

 I
N

F
O

:

SHEET NAME:

CURRENT
AS OF:

PLAN START 
DATE:

APPROVED FOR 
BID

APPROVED FOR 
REVIEW

APPROVED FOR 
CONSTRUCTION

#

10
50

 B
R

O
A

D
W

A
Y

 S
T

., 
W

R
IG

H
T

S
T

O
W

N
, W

I 5
41

80

W
W

W
.A

L
L

IA
N

C
E

B
U

IL
D

S
.C

O
M

P
H

O
N

E
: 

(9
20

)-
33

6-
34

00
   

 F
A

X
: 

(9
20

)-
33

6-
34

01

C
O

M
M

E
R

C
IA

L
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

IN
D

U
S

T
R

IA
L

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  
 D

E
S

IG
N

 /
 B

U
IL

D

As indicated

9/7/2021 8:19:32 AM

P
:\
1
9
-1

3
8
 U

-H
a
u
l 
F

o
rt

 A
tk

in
s
o

n
\R

e
v
it
\1

9
-1

3
8
 U

-H
a
u
l 
F

o
rt

 A
tk

in
s
o

n
.r

v
t

108

O.R.V.

1
9
-1

3
8

RETURN
CANOPY

STRUCTURE

1
3
0

9
 N

. 
H

IG
H

 S
T

.
F

O
R

T
 A

T
K

IN
S

O
N

, 
W

I 
5
3

5
3
8

F
O

R
 G

D
P

 S
IT

E
 P

L
A

N
 A

P
P

R
O

V
A

L

U
-H

A
U

L
 o

f 
F

O
R

T
 A

T
K

IN
S

O
N

 #
7

5
0

0
7
7

01/09/2020

FOR GDP SITE PLAN APPROVAL

L
L
O

Y
D

 C
A

R
P

E
N

T
E

R

1/4" = 1'-0"
1

RETURN CANOPY
STRUCTURAL FLOOR
PLAN

1/4" = 1'-0"
2

RETURN CANOPY
FOUNDATION PLAN

3/4" = 1'-0"
3

SECTION (TYP.)

TRUE

1" = 1'-0"
4

BEAM TO COL. CONN.
(TYP.)

REVISIONS

# STAGE DATE



2'-0" TALL "PROPANE"
GREEN LETTERS

WHITE PROPANE TANK

NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

DRAWN BY:

SCALE:

P
R

O
F

E
S

S
IO

N
A

L 
S

E
A

L:
P

R
O

J
E

C
T

 I
N

F
O

:

SHEET NAME:

CURRENT
AS OF:

PLAN START 
DATE:

APPROVED FOR 
BID

APPROVED FOR 
REVIEW

APPROVED FOR 
CONSTRUCTION

#

10
50

 B
R

O
A

D
W

A
Y

 S
T

., 
W

R
IG

H
T

S
T

O
W

N
, W

I 5
41

80

W
W

W
.A

L
L

IA
N

C
E

B
U

IL
D

S
.C

O
M

P
H

O
N

E
: 

(9
20

)-
33

6-
34

00
   

 F
A

X
: 

(9
20

)-
33

6-
34

01

C
O

M
M

E
R

C
IA

L
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

IN
D

U
S

T
R

IA
L

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  
 D

E
S

IG
N

 /
 B

U
IL

D

As indicated

9/7/2021 8:19:35 AM

P
:\
1
9
-1

3
8
 U

-H
a
u
l 
F

o
rt

 A
tk

in
s
o

n
\R

e
v
it
\1

9
-1

3
8
 U

-H
a
u
l 
F

o
rt

 A
tk

in
s
o

n
.r

v
t

110

O.R.V.

1
9
-1

3
8

SITE
COMPONENT

DETAILS

1
3
0

9
 N

. 
H

IG
H

 S
T

.
F

O
R

T
 A

T
K

IN
S

O
N

, 
W

I 
5
3

5
3
8

F
O

R
 G

D
P

 S
IT

E
 P

L
A

N
 A

P
P

R
O

V
A

L

U
-H

A
U

L
 o

f 
F

O
R

T
 A

T
K

IN
S

O
N

 #
7

5
0

0
7
7

01/09/2020

FOR GDP SITE PLAN APPROVAL

L
L
O

Y
D

 C
A

R
P

E
N

T
E

R

1/2" = 1'-0"
1

PROPANE FILL STATION
DETAIL

12" = 1'-0"
2

PROPANE SIGNAGE
EXAMPLE

12" = 1'-0"
3

BIKE PATH REST STOP
(TYP.)

REVISIONS

# STAGE DATE



18
'-0

"

1'-11 1/2"

3"

1'-11 1/2"

3"

1'-11 1/2"

3"

1'-11 1/2"

3"

1'-11 1/2"

2'
-0

 1
/2

"

4"

1'
-4

"
14

'-3
 1

/2
"

ALUM. FORMED CABINETS (BLACK) W/ PILLOWED
& EMBOSSED 0.150" CLEAR POLYCARBONATE
FACES & BACK SPRAYED. LIT W/ WHITE LED'S

STEEL TORQUE TUBE (BLACK)

ALUM. FORMED CLADDING TO COVER HOIST

NON-LIT VINYL ADDRESS COPY

ALUM. FORMED SECONDARY CABINET. PILLOWED
WHITE POLYCARBONATE FACES W/ (5) LINES OF 8"
CHARACTER SLIP-IN READERBOARD TRACK. LIT W/
WHITE LED'S

MAIN STEEL PIPES (BLACK)

NOTE:
OPPOSITE SIDE OF SIGN
MATCHES THE FRONT

5'
-3

"
8'

-6
 1

/2
"

10'-9 1/2"

12
'-0

"
4'

-0
"

ALUMINUM FORMED
CABINET W/ WHITE LEDS

T-BAR DIVIDERS

WHITE POLYCARBONATE
TENANT FACE

ALUM. FORMED CLADDING

16
'-0

"

TENANT GRAPHICS TO BE
DETERMINED

NOTE:
OPPOSITE SIDE OF SIGN
MATCHES THE FRONT

8'-0"

NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

DRAWN BY:

SCALE:

P
R

O
F

E
S

S
IO

N
A

L 
S

E
A

L:
P

R
O

J
E

C
T

 I
N

F
O

:

SHEET NAME:

CURRENT
AS OF:

PLAN START 
DATE:

APPROVED FOR 
BID

APPROVED FOR 
REVIEW

APPROVED FOR 
CONSTRUCTION

#

10
50

 B
R

O
A

D
W

A
Y

 S
T

., 
W

R
IG

H
T

S
T

O
W

N
, W

I 5
41

80

W
W

W
.A

L
L

IA
N

C
E

B
U

IL
D

S
.C

O
M

P
H

O
N

E
: 

(9
20

)-
33

6-
34

00
   

 F
A

X
: 

(9
20

)-
33

6-
34

01

C
O

M
M

E
R

C
IA

L
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

IN
D

U
S

T
R

IA
L

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  
 D

E
S

IG
N

 /
 B

U
IL

D

1/2" = 1'-0"

9/7/2021 8:19:36 AM

P
:\
1
9
-1

3
8
 U

-H
a
u
l 
F

o
rt

 A
tk

in
s
o

n
\R

e
v
it
\1

9
-1

3
8
 U

-H
a
u
l 
F

o
rt

 A
tk

in
s
o

n
.r

v
t

112

O.R.V.

1
9
-1

3
8

SITE SIGNAGE
DETAILS

1
3
0

9
 N

. 
H

IG
H

 S
T

.
F

O
R

T
 A

T
K

IN
S

O
N

, 
W

I 
5
3

5
3
8

F
O

R
 G

D
P

 S
IT

E
 P

L
A

N
 A

P
P

R
O

V
A

L

U
-H

A
U

L
 o

f 
F

O
R

T
 A

T
K

IN
S

O
N

 #
7

5
0

0
7
7

01/09/2020

FOR GDP SITE PLAN APPROVAL

L
L
O

Y
D

 C
A

R
P

E
N

T
E

R

1/2" = 1'-0"
1

U-HAUL POLE SIGN
1/2" = 1'-0"

2
MULTI-TENANT SIGN

REVISIONS

# STAGE DATE



UP

UP

UP

WH

R
E

F

224'-0"

A

18
'-0

 1
/2

"
42

'-0
"

41
'-0

"
41

'-0
"

41
'-0

"
41

'-0
"

42
'-0

"

B

C

D

E

F

G

H

1234566.87

24
8'

-0
"

11'-3" 21'-1 3/4" 36'-0 1/4" 38'-9" 38'-9" 38'-9" 39'-4"

6.6 6.4

13'-3" 11'-7" 7'-6 3/4"

EXISTING RAISED CONC.

1

250

2

250

1'
-0

"

50
'-0

"
6"

1675 SF

D&R HITCHBAY

106

6" 54'-9 3/8"

208
1

2421 SF

SHOWROOM

102

89 SF

GM OFFICE

105

134 SF

BREAKROOM

103

47 SF

UNISEX RR

104

41
'-7

"

2549 SF

LOAD/UNLOAD

107

5'-4"

5'-4"

5'
-4

"
5'

-4
"

5'-4"

43 SF

UNISEX RR

108

7'
-0

"

5'-4"

5'
-4

"

5'-4"

5'
-4

"

5'-4"

5'
-4

"

5'-4"

5'
-4

"
6'

-5
"

6'-8"

5'-10 1/4"

7'
-5

"
5'

-4
"

5'
-4

"
7'

-0
"

5'
-4

"
5'

-4
"

5'
-4

"

5'
-4

"

5'
-4

"

5'-10 1/4"

5'
-4

"
5'

-4
"

41255 SF

CLIMATIZED STORAGE

101

C-3 J-8 J-8 J-8 J-8 C-3

D-3D-3D-3 B-8
B-2

B-8
C-3

C-3

C-3

C-3

C-1

C-3

C-3

B-8B-3B-8 D-3D-3
C-3

C-3

C-3

C-3

C-3

A-8 A-8
A-1

A-8

C-3

C-3
B-8D-3D-3B-8B-8

C-3

C-3

C-3

C-3

C-3

C-3

C-3

C-3

B-8 B-8

B-8 B-8

D-3

D-3 D-3 B-8 D-3

N-3

C-3

C-3C-3

C-3
B-8B-8 B-8 D-3 D-3

D-3D-3 B-8 B-2 B-8

C-3

C-1C-3

C-3
B-8B-8 B-1 D-3 D-3

C-3

C-3C-3

C-3
B-8B-8 B-8 D-3 D-3

B-3

D-3

D-3B-8

B-8D-3D-3

D-3D-3

B-8

B-8B-8

B-8

C-3

C-3

C-3

C-3

B-3B-1D-3D-3B-8B-3 B-8T-3B-8D-3D-1B-8B-8D-3B-8B-8D-3B-8

C-3

C-3

C-3

C-3

B-8B-8D-3D-3B-8B-8D-3D-3B-8B-8B-8D-3D-3B-8T-3

B-8B-8D-3D-3B-8B-8D-3D-3B-8B-8B-8D-3D-3B-8T-3

D-3B-8D-3T-3

D-3B-3B-3B-8B-8B-2B-8B-8B-3B-8B-8T-3

C-1

C-3
B-8B-8D-3D-3D-3D-3D-3D-3 B-8B-8B-8B-8B-8B-8T-3

B-8B-8B-8B-8B-8B-8B-8B-8T-3 D-3 D-3 D-3 D-2 D-3 D-3
C-3

C-3

B-3B-8B-8B-8B-8T-3 D-3 D-3 D-3 D-3 D-3 D-3
C-3

C-3
B-8B-3B-3

B-8B-8B-8B-8B-8B-8B-8B-8T-3 D-3 D-3 D-3 D-3 D-2 D-3

B-8B-8B-8B-8B-8T-3 D-3 D-3 D-3 D-3 D-3 D-3
C-3

B-8B-8B-8

B-3B-8B-8B-8B-8T-3 D-3 D-3 D-3 D-3 D-3 D-3
C-3

C-3

B-8B-8B-8B-8B-8T-3 D-3 D-3 D-3 D-3 D-3 D-3
C-3

C-3
B-8B-8B-8

B-3 B-3

C-3

C-3

C-1

C-3

C-3

A-8A-8 A-8A-8 A-8 A-8A-8A-8A-8
T-3

L-3

T-3 B-8 B-3 B-8 B-8 B-3 B-8 B-3B-3D-3 D-3 D-3 D-3 D-3 D-3

D-3D-3D-3D-3D-3D-3D-3 B-8B-8B-8B-8B-8B-8B-8B-8

H-8 H-8 H-8 H-8 H-8 G-3 G-3 H-8H-8H-8H-8H-8

J-8 J-8 J-8 J-8 C-3C-3 C-3

K-3O-3

D-3 D-3 D-3B-8 B-3 B-8

D-3 D-3 D-3 D-3B-8 B-8 B-8 B-8

B-3

B-8 B-1 B-8 B-8 B-8D-3 D-3

G-3 H-8 H-8 H-8 H-8 H-8 G-3

N.I.C.

113

147 SF

EXIST. MEN'S RR

109

166 SF

EXIST. WOMEN'S RR

110

EXISTING ELECTRICAL

EXISTING
SPRINKLER

CONC. RAMP
W/ 1:12 SLOPE
& HANDRAIL @
EA. SIDE

101-9

110-1

109-1

102-3

106-1

102-2

102-1

104-1

103-1

105-1

107-1

108-1

107-6107-5107-2 107-3 107-4

101-2

101-1

106-2

C-1

A-8

D-3

A-1

B-2

T-3

D-1

B-8

B-2

03

03

01
01

01 04

01

01

02

02

03

02

05

210

1

10'-0" 20'-0"

70
'-0

"

8'
-0

"
9'

-0
"

4"

9'
-0

"

4"

9'
-0

"

4"

9'
-0

"

4"

12
'-0

"

4"

12
'-0

"

4"

212

1

10'-4"
H-2 4'

-3
"

L-
1

3'-4"
H-1

3'-4"
H-1

3'-4"
H-1

3'
-4

"
L-

1

A

9'-1"
L-2

5'-4"
L-1

1

310

18
'-0

 1
/2

"
24

8'
-0

"

12
'-4

"
12

'-5
"

14
'-1

 6
3/

64
"

15
'-0

"
8'

-6
"

79
'-1

1 
17

/6
4"

9'
-9

 1
/4

"
11

3'
-1

1"

46'-9" 12'-2" 12'-4" 12'-8" 8'-11"

9'
-0

 1
/4

"
9'

-0
 1

/4
"

101-4

INFILL WALL TO
MATCH EXISTING

INFILL WALL TO
MATCH EXISTING

EXISTING CMU WALL

EXISTING RAISED CONC.
LANDSCAPE BED

127-2

127-3

127-1

127-4

6
'-
0
"X

7
'-
0
" 

O
P

E
N

IN
G

10

270 06

MECH/

SPRINK

207 SF

CORRIDOR

111

144 SF

CORRIDOR

112

N.I.C.

114

12'-2"
B-1

12'-0"
B-1

11'-7"
B-1

13'-8"
B-1

C-1 C-1 C-1 C-1

W16X36

B-2

LOCK 
EXISTING
DOORS

DRYWALL/ TOUCH UP PAINT ON CLIMATIZED
STORAGE EXISTING WEST WALL

(2) UNIT HEATERS ABOVE

115-1

112-2

RAMP ASPHALT
TO NEW O.H.D.

MASCERATING TOILET, LINE TO RUN OVERHEAD

EXISTING VCT
TO REMAIN

NEW 2X4 TILES/
TROFFER LIGHTS

69 SF

MECH.

115
115-2

MB

SERVICE SINKS

AIR COMPRESSOR

FRAME IN
OPENING
W/ PLYWOOD

BIKE STATION W/ (10) BIKE STANDS, 1 
BIKE TIRE AIR PUMP, & SIGNAGE 
DENOTING THE PUBLIC USE OF THE 
RESTROOMS & DRINKING FOUNTAINS

TY
P

.
2'

-0
"

3'-0" OF FRP
ON WALLS
SEE DETAIL

/2 202

EXISTING RAISED CONC.

24/7 LIGHTING

DF

DF

EXISTING
HI-LO DF

2122

INFILL WALL W/
METAL STUD FRAMING
SEE DETAIL /2 212

17'-6"
H-3

L-3

D-3 B-3 B-3

B-3

BICYCLE/
PEDESTRIAN PATH

NEW BENCH

VERIFY LOCATION ON SITE

D-3

VERIFY SIZE AND LOCATION 

OF EXISTING CURB RAMP

EXISTING WALL

DEMO WALL

PROPOSED WALL

WALL TYPES

DENOTES HANDICAP
ACCESSIBLE STORAGE
LOCKER

EXISTING WALL

FIBERGLASS REINFORCED
PANEL OVER 1/2" OSB

4'
-0

"

BUILDING STATISTICS
AREA SQ. FT. PERCENT

LOAD / UNLOAD 2,549 SF 3.6%

LOCKER LEASEABLE 28,655 SF 40.7%

OTHER SPACE (HALL, WALLS, R.R.) 6,563 SF 9.2%

D&R BAY 1,675 SF 2.3%

SHOWROOM 2,421 SF 3.4%

U-BOX AREA 21,363 SF 30.3%

TOTAL U-HAUL BUILDING 70,577 SF 100%

N.I.C. 7,351 SF 10.5%

NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

DRAWN BY:

SCALE:

P
R

O
F

E
S

S
IO

N
A

L 
S

E
A

L:
P

R
O

J
E

C
T

 I
N

F
O

:

SHEET NAME:

CURRENT
AS OF:

PLAN START 
DATE:

APPROVED FOR 
BID

APPROVED FOR 
REVIEW

APPROVED FOR 
CONSTRUCTION

#

10
50

 B
R

O
A

D
W

A
Y

 S
T

., 
W

R
IG

H
T

S
T

O
W

N
, W

I 5
41

80

W
W

W
.A

L
L

IA
N

C
E

B
U

IL
D

S
.C

O
M

P
H

O
N

E
: 

(9
20

)-
33

6-
34

00
   

 F
A

X
: 

(9
20

)-
33

6-
34

01

C
O

M
M

E
R

C
IA

L
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

IN
D

U
S

T
R

IA
L

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  
 D

E
S

IG
N

 /
 B

U
IL

D

As indicated

9/7/2021 8:19:49 AM

P
:\
1
9
-1

3
8
 U

-H
a
u
l 
F

o
rt

 A
tk

in
s
o

n
\R

e
v
it
\1

9
-1

3
8
 U

-H
a
u
l 
F

o
rt

 A
tk

in
s
o

n
.r

v
t

202

O.R.V

1
9
-1

3
8

FLOOR PLAN

1
3
0

9
 N

. 
H

IG
H

 S
T

.
F

O
R

T
 A

T
K

IN
S

O
N

, 
W

I 
5
3

5
3
8

F
O

R
 G

D
P

 S
IT

E
 P

L
A

N
 A

P
P

R
O

V
A

L

U
-H

A
U

L
 o

f 
F

O
R

T
 A

T
K

IN
S

O
N

 #
7

5
0

0
7
7

01/09/2020

FOR GDP SITE PLAN APPROVAL

L
L
O

Y
D

 C
A

R
P

E
N

T
E

R

1/16" = 1'-0"
1

FLOOR PLAN

WALL TYPES

MK DESCRIPTION TYPE INSULATION
FIRE

RATING REMARKS

01 3 5/8" 18 GA (362S137-43) @16" O.C. W/ 5/8" GWB EA SIDE INTERIOR WALL SOUND ATTENUATION BATT N/A SEE DETAIL 1 ON SHEET 260

02 3 5/8" 20 GA (362S137-33) @24" O.C. W/ GWB 1 SIDE & METAL PANEL 1 SIDE INTERIOR WALL SOUND ATTENUATION BATT N/A SEE DETAIL 2 ON SHEET 260

03 6" 18 GA (600S200-43) @16" O.C. W/ METAL PANEL 1 SIDE & GWB 1 SIDE INTERIOR WALL SOUND ATTENUATION BATT N/A SEE DETAIL 3 ON SHEET 260

04 6" 20GA (600S137-33) @24" O.C. W/ 5/8" GWB EA SIDE INTERIOR WALL SOUND ATTENUATION BATT N/A SEE DETAIL 4 ON SHEET 260

05 6" 18 GA (600S200-43) @24" O.C. W/ 3" KINGSPAN PANEL 1 SIDE & GWB 1 SIDE EXTERIOR WALL --- N/A SEE SHEET 270 FOR KINGSPAN PANEL DETAILS

06 3" KINGSPAN PANEL EXTERIOR WALL --- N/A SEE SHEET 270 FOR KINGSPAN PANEL DETAILS

TRUE

LOCKER UNIT SCHEDULE
TYPE QUAN. WIDTH DEPTH SQ. FT. PERCENT

A-1 2 10' - 0" 15' - 0" 300 SF 1%

A-8 13 10' - 0" 15' - 0" 1950 SF 7%

B-1 3 10' - 0" 10' - 0" 300 SF 1%

B-2 5 10' - 0" 10' - 0" 500 SF 2%

B-3 22 10' - 0" 10' - 0" 2200 SF 8%

B-8 131 10' - 0" 10' - 0" 13100 SF 46%

C-1 5 5' - 0" 5' - 0" 125 SF 0%

C-3 59 5' - 0" 5' - 0" 1475 SF 5%

D-1 2 5' - 0" 10' - 0" 100 SF 0%

D-2 2 5' - 0" 10' - 0" 100 SF 0%

D-3 110 5' - 0" 10' - 0" 5500 SF 19%

G-3 4 5' - 0" 8' - 0" 160 SF 1%

H-8 15 10' - 0" 8' - 0" 1200 SF 4%

J-8 8 10' - 0" 5' - 0" 400 SF 1%

K-3 1 8' - 0" 5' - 0" 40 SF 0%

L-3 1 5' - 0" 7' - 0" 35 SF 0%

N-3 1 8' - 0" 8' - 0" 64 SF 0%

O-3 1 7' - 0" 8' - 0" 56 SF 0%

T-3 15 7' - 0" 10' - 0" 1050 SF 4%

TOTAL LOCKER COUNT: 400 28655 SF 100%

1" = 1'-0"
2

FRP DETAIL

HEADER SCHEDULE
MK HEADER STUD JAMB STUD REMARKS

H-1 BOX HEADER 362S137-43

H-2 600PRO300-97 W/ 14 GA HDSC CLIP, 4/4
SCREW PATTERN

600PRO300-97

H-3 (2) 1200S162-54

LINTEL SCHEDULE
MK MEMBER BEARING REMARKS

L-1 (2) #5 BOND BEAM, GROUT 1 COURSE SOLID 4"

L-2 (3) #5 BOND BEAM, GROUT 3 COURSES SOLID 8"

L-3 (2) 5X3X5/6" ANGLES 4"

BEAM SCHEDULE
MK MEMBER REMARKS

B-1 W8X24

B-2 W16X36

COLUMN SCHEDULE
MK DESCRIPTION BASE PLATE ANCHOR BOLT REMARKS

C-1 6X6X3/8" TS 7X12X3/8" BP (4) 3/8" LDT REDHEAD W/ 3 1/2" EMBED.

REVISIONS

# STAGE DATE



NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

DRAWN BY:

SCALE:

P
R

O
F

E
S

S
IO

N
A

L 
S

E
A

L:
P

R
O

J
E

C
T

 I
N

F
O

:

SHEET NAME:

CURRENT
AS OF:

PLAN START 
DATE:

APPROVED FOR 
BID

APPROVED FOR 
REVIEW

APPROVED FOR 
CONSTRUCTION

#

10
50

 B
R

O
A

D
W

A
Y

 S
T

., 
W

R
IG

H
T

S
T

O
W

N
, W

I 5
41

80

W
W

W
.A

L
L

IA
N

C
E

B
U

IL
D

S
.C

O
M

P
H

O
N

E
: 

(9
20

)-
33

6-
34

00
   

 F
A

X
: 

(9
20

)-
33

6-
34

01

C
O

M
M

E
R

C
IA

L
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

IN
D

U
S

T
R

IA
L

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  
 D

E
S

IG
N

 /
 B

U
IL

D

As indicated

9/7/2021 9:32:32 AM

P
:\
1
9
-1

3
8
 U

-H
a
u
l 
F

o
rt

 A
tk

in
s
o

n
\R

e
v
it
\1

9
-1

3
8
 U

-H
a
u
l 
F

o
rt

 A
tk

in
s
o

n
.r

v
t

240

O.R.V.

1
9
-1

3
8

COLOR
ELEVATIONS

1
3
0

9
 N

. 
H

IG
H

 S
T

.
F

O
R

T
 A

T
K

IN
S

O
N

, 
W

I 
5
3

5
3
8

F
O

R
 G

D
P

 S
IT

E
 P

L
A

N
 A

P
P

R
O

V
A

L

U
-H

A
U

L
 o

f 
F

O
R

T
 A

T
K

IN
S

O
N

 #
7

5
0

0
7
7

01/09/2020

FOR GDP SITE PLAN APPROVAL

L
L
O

Y
D

 C
A

R
P

E
N

T
E

R

1/8" = 1'-0"
4

NORTH ELEV. COLOR

1/8" = 1'-0"
3

SOUTH ELEV. COLOR

3/64" = 1'-0"
1

EAST ELEV. COLOR

3/64" = 1'-0"
5

WEST ELEV. COLOR

3/32" = 1'-0"
2

ENLARGED EAST ELEV.
COLOR

REVISIONS

# STAGE DATE



FIN. FLOOR
100' - 0"

HIGH PARAPET
124' - 6"

LOW PARAPET
120' - 9"

A B C D E F G H

7

45 SQ. FT.

16.46 SQ. FT. 50.98 SQ. FT.27 SQ. FT. 27 SQ. FT. 61.86 SQ. FT. 28.56 SQ. FT. 54 SQ. FT. 22.63 SQ. FT.

552'-8"

266'-1" 158'-6" 128'-1"

7

FIN. FLOOR
100' - 0"

LOW PARAPET
120' - 9"

ABCDEFGH

FIN. FLOOR
100' - 0"

HIGH PARAPET
124' - 6"

LOW PARAPET
120' - 9"

A B C D E F G H

4'
-6

"

14
'-0

"

4

16 13

23 6

23

6

FIN. FLOOR
100' - 0"

LOW PARAPET
120' - 9"

ABCDEFGH

WP

VENT

EXISTING
ELECTRICAL

EXISTING
GAS

WP

EXISTING
ELECTRICAL

EXISTING
GAS

WP
WP WP WP

EXISTING
GAS

171717

4

1 NEW OVER HEAD DOOR

2 NEW SLIDING DOOR

3 NEW SERVICE DOOR

4 DEMO EXISTING

5 ATAS WOOD GRAIN ARCHITECTURAL PANEL

6 REPLACE EXISTING DOOR

7 LIFESTYLE BANNER, EXACT IMAGING T.B.D.

8 PAINT EXISTING SW6451 NURTURE GREEN

9
ATAS 7.2 SILVERSMITH GALV. ARCHITECTURAL
PANEL

10 PAINT EXISTING SW 6195 "ROCK GARDEN"

11 WHITE KINGSPAN SHADOWLINE PANEL

12 PAINT: SW 6767 "AQUARIUM"

13
EXISTING 3 COURSES OF SMOOTH FACE
BLOCK @ T.O.W.

14 NEW WAVE PANEL

16 EXISTING SPLIT FACE BLOCK WALL

15 8'-0" X 7'-0" DISPLAY DOORS

17 EXISTING SMOOTH FACE BLOCK WALL

18 EXISTING SCORED FACE BLOCK WALL

19 PAINT EXISTING SW ULTRA WHITE

20 PAINT SW 7040 "SMOKEHOUSE"

21 PAINT EXISTING SW 7011 "NATURAL CHOICE"

22 BLACK 'YOUR STORAGE PLACE' LETTERING

23
REMOVE GLAZING & INFILL WALL TO MATCH
EXISTING

24 PAINT EXISTING SW 6149 "RELAXED KHAKI"

25 NEW ARCHITECTURAL FENESTRATION

26 36'-0" X 4'-0" HANGER ROD AWNING

27 BLACK LETTERING

28 PAINT SW 6227 MEDITATIVE

29 24 HR. GUTTER LED LIGHTING

30
NEW METAL PANEL SW 7011 "NATURAL
CHOICE"

NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

DRAWN BY:

SCALE:

P
R

O
F

E
S

S
IO

N
A

L 
S

E
A

L:
P

R
O

J
E

C
T

 I
N

F
O

:

SHEET NAME:

CURRENT
AS OF:

PLAN START 
DATE:

APPROVED FOR 
BID

APPROVED FOR 
REVIEW

APPROVED FOR 
CONSTRUCTION

#

10
50

 B
R

O
A

D
W

A
Y

 S
T

., 
W

R
IG

H
T

S
T

O
W

N
, W

I 5
41

80

W
W

W
.A

L
L

IA
N

C
E

B
U

IL
D

S
.C

O
M

P
H

O
N

E
: 

(9
20

)-
33

6-
34

00
   

 F
A

X
: 

(9
20

)-
33

6-
34

01

C
O

M
M

E
R

C
IA

L
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

IN
D

U
S

T
R

IA
L

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  
 D

E
S

IG
N

 /
 B

U
IL

D

As indicated

9/7/2021 9:32:43 AM

P
:\
1
9
-1

3
8
 U

-H
a
u
l 
F

o
rt

 A
tk

in
s
o

n
\R

e
v
it
\1

9
-1

3
8
 U

-H
a
u
l 
F

o
rt

 A
tk

in
s
o

n
.r

v
t

242

O.R.V.

1
9
-1

3
8

EAST & WEST
ELEVATIONS

1
3
0

9
 N

. 
H

IG
H

 S
T

.
F

O
R

T
 A

T
K

IN
S

O
N

, 
W

I 
5
3

5
3
8

F
O

R
 G

D
P

 S
IT

E
 P

L
A

N
 A

P
P

R
O

V
A

L

U
-H

A
U

L
 o

f 
F

O
R

T
 A

T
K

IN
S

O
N

 #
7

5
0

0
7
7

01/09/2020

FOR GDP SITE PLAN APPROVAL

L
L
O

Y
D

 C
A

R
P

E
N

T
E

R

3/64" = 1'-0"
2

EAST ELEV.

3/64" = 1'-0"
4

WEST ELEV.

3/64" = 1'-0"
1

EXISTING EAST ELEV.

3/64" = 1'-0"
3

EXISTING WEST ELEV.

BUILDING SIGNAGE SQUARE FOOTAGE:
MAX. SIGN AREA FORMULA:
1 SF OF SIGN AREA PER 1 FT OF
BUILDING FACADE LENGTH

EAST ELEVATION:
SOUTH U-HAUL BUILDING MAX. SIGN AREA = 266.08 S.F.
PROPOSED SIGN AREA= 228.3 S.F.

MULTI-TENANT BUILDING MAX. SIGN AREA = 158.5 S.F.
PROPOSED SIGN AREA= 82.56 S.F.

NORTH U-HAUL BUILDING MAX. SIGN AREA = 128.08 S.F.
PROPOSED SIGN AREA= 22.63 S.F.

SOUTH ELEVATION:
MAX. SIGN AREA = 224 S.F.
PROPOSED SIGN AREA = 115 S.F.

REVISIONS

# STAGE DATE



FIN. FLOOR
100' - 0"

HIGH PARAPET
124' - 6"

LOW PARAPET
120' - 9"

A B C D E F G H

106-1 102-2 102-1

21

2124 2132

821821

225

20

24

5

12

26

27

21

10
1422

23

821 27

19

29

29 30

9
9 12

45 SQ. FT.

16.46 SQ. FT.

50.98 SQ. FT.27 SQ. FT. 27 SQ. FT.

14

61.86 SQ. FT.

NO GALV. PANEL, 
EXISTING CMU TO BE 
PAINTED AS NOTED

115' - 0"

112' - 0"

123' - 9"

21

NO FRAMING/ METAL 
PANEL. PAINT EXISTING 7

FIN. FLOOR
100' - 0"

HIGH PARAPET
124' - 6"

LOW PARAPET
120' - 9"

ABCDEFGH

101-4
127-3127-2127-1

21 1

106-2

11

FIN. FLOOR
100' - 0"

LOW PARAPET
120' - 9"

H

21

1 NEW OVER HEAD DOOR

2 NEW SLIDING DOOR

3 NEW SERVICE DOOR

4 DEMO EXISTING

5 ATAS WOOD GRAIN ARCHITECTURAL PANEL

6 REPLACE EXISTING DOOR

7 LIFESTYLE BANNER, EXACT IMAGING T.B.D.

8 PAINT EXISTING SW6451 NURTURE GREEN

9
ATAS 7.2 SILVERSMITH GALV. ARCHITECTURAL
PANEL

10 PAINT EXISTING SW 6195 "ROCK GARDEN"

11 WHITE KINGSPAN SHADOWLINE PANEL

12 PAINT: SW 6767 "AQUARIUM"

13
EXISTING 3 COURSES OF SMOOTH FACE
BLOCK @ T.O.W.

14 NEW WAVE PANEL

16 EXISTING SPLIT FACE BLOCK WALL

15 8'-0" X 7'-0" DISPLAY DOORS

17 EXISTING SMOOTH FACE BLOCK WALL

18 EXISTING SCORED FACE BLOCK WALL

19 PAINT EXISTING SW ULTRA WHITE

20 PAINT SW 7040 "SMOKEHOUSE"

21 PAINT EXISTING SW 7011 "NATURAL CHOICE"

22 BLACK 'YOUR STORAGE PLACE' LETTERING

23
REMOVE GLAZING & INFILL WALL TO MATCH
EXISTING

24 PAINT EXISTING SW 6149 "RELAXED KHAKI"

25 NEW ARCHITECTURAL FENESTRATION

26 36'-0" X 4'-0" HANGER ROD AWNING

27 BLACK LETTERING

28 PAINT SW 6227 MEDITATIVE

29 24 HR. GUTTER LED LIGHTING

30
NEW METAL PANEL SW 7011 "NATURAL
CHOICE"

NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

DRAWN BY:

SCALE:

P
R

O
F

E
S

S
IO

N
A

L 
S

E
A

L:
P

R
O

J
E

C
T

 I
N

F
O

:

SHEET NAME:

CURRENT
AS OF:

PLAN START 
DATE:

APPROVED FOR 
BID

APPROVED FOR 
REVIEW

APPROVED FOR 
CONSTRUCTION

#

10
50

 B
R

O
A

D
W

A
Y

 S
T

., 
W

R
IG

H
T

S
T

O
W

N
, W

I 5
41

80

W
W

W
.A

L
L

IA
N

C
E

B
U

IL
D

S
.C

O
M

P
H

O
N

E
: 

(9
20

)-
33

6-
34

00
   

 F
A

X
: 

(9
20

)-
33

6-
34

01

C
O

M
M

E
R

C
IA

L
 

 I
N

D
U

S
T

R
IA

L
 

 D
E

S
IG

N
 /

 B
U

IL
D

As indicated

9/7/2021 9:32:52 AM

P
:\
1
9
-1

3
8
 U

-H
a
u
l 
F

o
rt

 A
tk

in
s
o

n
\R

e
v
it
\1

9
-1

3
8
 U

-H
a
u
l 
F

o
rt

 A
tk

in
s
o

n
.r

v
t

244

O.R.V.

1
9
-1

3
8

ENLARGED
EAST & WEST

ELEV.

1
3
0

9
 N

. 
H

IG
H

 S
T

.
F

O
R

T
 A

T
K

IN
S

O
N

, 
W

I 
5
3

5
3
8

F
O

R
 G

D
P

 S
IT

E
 P

L
A

N
 A

P
P

R
O

V
A

L

U
-H

A
U

L
 o

f 
F

O
R

T
 A

T
K

IN
S

O
N

 #
7

5
0

0
7
7

01/09/2020

FOR GDP SITE PLAN APPROVAL

L
L
O

Y
D

 C
A

R
P

E
N

T
E

R

3/32" = 1'-0"
1

ENLARGED EAST ELEV. 1

3/32" = 1'-0"
2

ENLARGED WEST ELEV. 1

3/32" = 1'-0"
3

ENLARGED WEST ELEV. 2

BUILDING SIGNAGE SQUARE FOOTAGE:
MAX. SIGN AREA FORMULA:
1 SF OF SIGN AREA PER 1 FT OF
BUILDING FACADE LENGTH

EAST ELEVATION:
SOUTH U-HAUL BUILDING MAX. SIGN AREA = 266.08 S.F.
PROPOSED SIGN AREA= 228.3 S.F.

MULTI-TENANT BUILDING MAX. SIGN AREA = 158.5 S.F.
PROPOSED SIGN AREA= 82.56 S.F.

NORTH U-HAUL BUILDING MAX. SIGN AREA = 128.08 S.F.
PROPOSED SIGN AREA= 22.63 S.F.

SOUTH ELEVATION:
MAX. SIGN AREA = 224 S.F.
PROPOSED SIGN AREA = 115 S.F.

REVISIONS

# STAGE DATE



FIN. FLOOR
100' - 0"

HIGH PARAPET
124' - 6"

LOW PARAPET
120' - 9"

1234566.87 6.6 6.4

107-6

107-5107-2 107-3 107-4

39'-4" 56'-0"

MAIN ELECTRICAL MAIN SPRINKLER
1 1 1 1 3

9 8
20

11

21 21
29 12 115 SQ. FT.

224'-0"

46'-0"

2'
-6

"

115' - 0"

112' - 0"

120' - 9"

121' - 9"

FIN. FLOOR
100' - 0"

T.O. FTG.
96' - 0"

LOW PARAPET
120' - 9"

1 2 3 4 5 6 6.8 76.66.4

20 7

20
'-9

"

21

FIN. FLOOR
100' - 0"

HIGH PARAPET
124' - 6"

LOW PARAPET
120' - 9"

1234566.87 6.6 6.4

107-14 107-10107-13 107-12 107-11

14
'-0

"

9'
-0

"

12
'-0

"

10
'-0

"

7'
-0

"

WP WP

MAIN SPRINKLERMAIN ELECTRICAL
4 46 6 6 6 6

13 16

FIN. FLOOR
100' - 0"

LOW PARAPET
120' - 9"

1 2 3 4 5 6 6.8 76.66.4

17
13 16

13

WP

VENT

EXISTING
ELECTRICAL

1 NEW OVER HEAD DOOR

2 NEW SLIDING DOOR

3 NEW SERVICE DOOR

4 DEMO EXISTING

5 ATAS WOOD GRAIN ARCHITECTURAL PANEL

6 REPLACE EXISTING DOOR

7 LIFESTYLE BANNER

8 PAINT EXISTING SW6451 NURTURE GREEN

9
ATAS 7.2 SILVERSMITH GALV. ARCHITECTURAL
PANEL

10 PAINT EXISTING SW 6195 "ROCK GARDEN"

11 WHITE KINGSPAN SHADOWLINE PANEL

12 PAINT: SW 6767 "AQUARIUM"

13
EXISTING 3 COURSES OF SMOOTH FACE
BLOCK @ T.O.W.

14 NEW WAVE PANEL

16 EXISTING SPLIT FACE BLOCK WALL

15 8'-0" X 7'-0" DISPLAY DOORS

17 EXISTING SMOOTH FACE BLOCK WALL

18 EXISTING SCORED FACE BLOCK WALL

19 PAINT EXISTING SW ULTRA WHITE

20 PAINT SW 7040 "SMOKEHOUSE"

21 PAINT EXISTING SW 7011 "NATURAL CHOICE"

22 BLACK 'YOUR STORAGE PLACE' LETTERING

23
REMOVE GLAZING & INFILL WALL TO MATCH
EXISTING

24 PAINT EXISTING SW 6149 "RELAXED KHAKI"

25 NEW ARCHITECTURAL FENESTRATION

26 36'-0" X 4'-0" HANGER ROD AWNING

27 BLACK LETTERING

28 PAINT SW 6227 MEDITATIVE

29 24 HR. GUTTER LED LIGHTING

30
NEW METAL PANEL SW 7011 "NATURAL
CHOICE"

NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

DRAWN BY:

SCALE:

P
R

O
F

E
S

S
IO

N
A

L 
S

E
A

L:
P

R
O

J
E

C
T

 I
N

F
O

:

SHEET NAME:

CURRENT
AS OF:

PLAN START 
DATE:

APPROVED FOR 
BID

APPROVED FOR 
REVIEW

APPROVED FOR 
CONSTRUCTION

#

10
50

 B
R

O
A

D
W

A
Y

 S
T

., 
W

R
IG

H
T

S
T

O
W

N
, W

I 5
41

80

W
W

W
.A

L
L

IA
N

C
E

B
U

IL
D

S
.C

O
M

P
H

O
N

E
: 

(9
20

)-
33

6-
34

00
   

 F
A

X
: 

(9
20

)-
33

6-
34

01

C
O

M
M

E
R

C
IA

L
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

IN
D

U
S

T
R

IA
L

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  
 D

E
S

IG
N

 /
 B

U
IL

D

As indicated

9/7/2021 8:20:35 AM

P
:\
1
9
-1

3
8
 U

-H
a
u
l 
F

o
rt

 A
tk

in
s
o

n
\R

e
v
it
\1

9
-1

3
8
 U

-H
a
u
l 
F

o
rt

 A
tk

in
s
o

n
.r

v
t

246

O.R.V.

1
9
-1

3
8

NORTH &
SOUTH

ELEVATIONS

1
3
0

9
 N

. 
H

IG
H

 S
T

.
F

O
R

T
 A

T
K

IN
S

O
N

, 
W

I 
5
3

5
3
8

F
O

R
 G

D
P

 S
IT

E
 P

L
A

N
 A

P
P

R
O

V
A

L

U
-H

A
U

L
 o

f 
F

O
R

T
 A

T
K

IN
S

O
N

 #
7

5
0

0
7
7

01/09/2020

FOR GDP SITE PLAN APPROVAL

L
L
O

Y
D

 C
A

R
P

E
N

T
E

R

1/8" = 1'-0"
2

SOUTH ELEV.

1/8" = 1'-0"
4

NORTH ELEV.

1/8" = 1'-0"
1

EXISTING SOUTH ELEV.

1/8" = 1'-0"
3

EXISTING NORTH ELEV.

BUILDING SIGNAGE SQUARE FOOTAGE:
MAX. SIGN AREA FORMULA:
1 SF OF SIGN AREA PER 1 FT OF
BUILDING FACADE LENGTH

EAST ELEVATION:
SOUTH U-HAUL BUILDING MAX. SIGN AREA = 266.08 S.F.
PROPOSED SIGN AREA= 228.3 S.F.

MULTI-TENANT BUILDING MAX. SIGN AREA = 158.5 S.F.
PROPOSED SIGN AREA= 82.56 S.F.

NORTH U-HAUL BUILDING MAX. SIGN AREA = 128.08 S.F.
PROPOSED SIGN AREA= 22.63 S.F.

SOUTH ELEVATION:
MAX. SIGN AREA = 224 S.F.
PROPOSED SIGN AREA = 115 S.F.

REVISIONS

# STAGE DATE



 
 
1309 North High Street, Ft. Atkinson, WI 
 
September 7, 2021 
 
Alliance Construction & Design, Inc. (ACD) in conjunction with U-Haul, submit this written narrative for purposes of requesting 
an approval in the PDD process. 
 
The subject property is currently a commercial parcel containing a vacant commercial building, the former Kmart, and multi-
tenant spaces, some of which are currently leased. The proposed use would be to allow multi-tenant areas to function as they 
are as well as the north end of the property to remain primarily parking area. The north end of the building would be utilized 
as the “U-Box” storage area to allow for storage of the U-Box rentals as well as limited-term storage of personal effects in “U-
Boxes”. This area already has loading dock facilities. Additionally, the old “Kmart” site will be renovated for U-Haul climatized 
storage and retail facility allowing for indoor storage and retail sales of truck rentals, boxes, etc. as well as installation of trailer 
hitches. 
 
The images attached with the plan submittal show the refurbished look of the one-story building. Landscaping and green 
space will be added throughout the site. This will allow for aesthetic improvement as well as give purposeful directional flow 
for truck rental customers. 
 
The buildings will stay commercial in nature and no residential development would be added with the PDD. 
 
The surrounding properties consist of multi-family residential to the south and commercial uses to the north and west. To the 
east is N. High Street with Klement Park and Rock River opposite N. High Street. Two vehicular entrances currently exist off E. 
Blackhawk Drive and Woodland Drive, as well as one primary entrance centered on N. High Street. This proposal recognizes 
and will provide for storm water management practices. U-Haul seeks to have angled parking between the green space buffer 
and the shunting area. This area will feature U-Haul’s truck, cargo van, and pickup selection in a similar fashion to other 
automotive firms along primary road frontages. The plan also designates the landscape islands flanking the public parking for 
the U-Haul facility as well as the “shunting” area (the rental inventory). Lastly, we also designate an integral part of the U-Haul 
customer service plan – the Equipment Rental Return Canopy – which gives specific direction to customers for returning their 
rental. 
 
We do feel this redevelopment will be a substantial benefit for the City of Ft. Atkinson. Communities across the country are 
facing the challenges associated with big box stores closing, leaving underused and blighted infrastructure just like this former 
Kmart storefront. Repurposed uses for big box stores, with large surface lots, located on larger lots in cities have been low. 
However, these forgotten structures have been able to find reinvigoration through self-storage units and commercial uses 
associated with self-storage. In relationship to the comprehensive plan, we believe the proposal for the planned development 
is consistent with the comprehensive plan. The future land use map in the comprehensive plan designates this site in the 
“Planned Mixed Use” land use category, which permits a combination of light industrial, retail, and automotive service uses, 
and as a “potential redevelopment” location. 
 
 Current Zoning District: Urban Mixed Use (UMU)  
 
 
 
 
 



 Planned Developments and Zoning Ordinance Flexibilities:  
  

• This zoning district is oriented to accommodating office, commercial, with upper-story residential land uses. It is 
oriented to the mixed-use redevelopment of aging highway commercial areas. The subject property is typical of sites 
with UMU zoning. The redevelopment of this site is compliant with the City’s recently adopted Comprehensive Plan.  

• Several of the land uses proposed by U-Haul, and integral to the redevelopment are not permitted in the UMU 
district, and others require the granting of a conditional use permit (CUP).  
Therefore, approval of a Planned Development is required to create the unique zoning district to accommodate U-
Haul’s proposal.  

• The most appropriate base zoning district for this property is the UMU District, as the great majority of site activity 
will be of a customer service nature – which informs the use of a commercial zoning district; combined with the aging 
highway commercial character of the site.  

• Proposed Land Uses for the Project include the following as identified by City Planner that will need approval through 
the Planned Development:  

o Personal Storage of private property within partitioned building with individual access to each storage unit 
(Personal Storage land use – prohibited in the UMU District)  

o Outdoor Display of trucks and trailers for rental and Vehicle Rental of trucks and trailers (Vehicle Sales land 
use permitted only with an approved CUP in the UMU District)  

o Vehicle Service and Modification for adding trailer hitches (Vehicle Service and Repair land use permitted 
only with an approved CUP in the UMU District)  

o Retail sales of towing and moving supplies (Indoor Sales or Service land use permitted by right)  
o Moving pod rental and short-term storage and shipment (Indoor Storage land use prohibited in the UMU 

District)  
o Temporary Shelter Structure for returned rentals (prohibited City-wide)  
o Propane refueling (Outdoor Sales and Service land use permitted only with an approved CUP in the UMU 

District)  
o Large Development requirements (for commercial buildings exceeding 50,000 gross square feet) construction 

or modification reviewed as a CUP in any zoning district.  
• Proposed Development Configurations for the Project as identified by City Planner that will need approval through 

the Planned Development:  
 

o Minimum Pavement Setbacks of 10 feet from any right-of-way in the UMU District. Almost the entire site 
currently has 0 foot pavement setbacks. Note that the current redevelopment proposal will actually increase 
pavement setbacks in several areas, and may come close to providing an average pavement setback of 10 
feet. Good public benefit of the Planned Development.  

o Paved Area Setback along all Interior Lot Lines. Not provided for car wash out lot. City Planner recommends 
waiving this requirement.  

o Parking Lot Screening Requirement for any parking lot. Very little screening is provided now within the site. 
Note that the current redevelopment proposal will provide significant screening at the southwest corner of 
the site. Good public benefit of the Planned Development.  

o Minimum 50-foot entry throat length for east driveways, Minimum 25-foot entry throat depth for north and 
south driveways. Planned Development will bring all throat lengths into compliance.  

o Maximum height of parking lot fixtures of 20-feet. Current redevelopment proposal would retain existing 
lighting. City Planner recommends allowing current mounting fixture heights.  

o Maximum Light Level of 0.5 footcandles at all property & right-of-way lines. Current redevelopment proposal 
does not change existing fixtures. Planned Development proposal could adjust fixture aiming to address light 
spill. Good public benefit of the Planned Development.  



o Requirement to turn off parking lot lighting when business is closed. U-Haul rentals are a 24-hour service as 
customers can return or pick-up rentals 24 hours. May be able to reduce some lighting in non-directional 
traffic areas as part of Planned Development. 

o Building Foundation Landscaping requirement based on every 100 feet of building perimeter. None present 
now. Difficult to retrofit to this building. City Planner recommends waiving this requirement.  

o Paved Area Landscaping requirement based on every 10,000 square feet of paved area. None present now. 
Significant landscaping within or adjacent to the paved areas is proposed.  

o Street Frontage Landscaping requirement based on every 100 feet of street frontage. None present now. 
Significant landscaping within 10 feet of the rights-of-way is proposed.  

o Yard Landscaping requirement based on every 10,000 square feet of gross floor area. None present now. 
Difficult to retrofit to this building. City Planner recommends waiving this requirement.  

o On-Building Signage: Proposed On-Building Signage complies (including mural), except for fake storage doors 
using U-Haul orange. Resulting number of signs exceeds requirement based on one sign for every building 
wall, plus one sign for every customer entrance. Storage doors to be replaced with a lifestyle banner.  

o Free Standing Signage: Two freestanding signs are permitted for this site in the UMU District, each with a 
maximum area of 128 square feet. The maximum permitted height of a pylon sign is 18 feet. The maximum 
height of a monument sign is 6 feet. See attached revised signage for sign compliance. 

 
• Construction sequencing – 

o Permits to begin construction will be requested immediately upon final SIP approval by the City.  
o Once begun, the project will proceed through completion of all building and site alterations that are part of 

the final GDP and SIP plan approvals – with Substantial Completion planned for mid-August, 2022 excepting 
any landscape elements that are better served to be installed in October, 2022. 

o ACD will work with the local and State inspection departments to request partial occupancy of the Retail, 
Climatized Storage, Load-Unload and D&R areas at their earliest dates of occupany possible. This would be 
expected to be requested in early 2022 with the majority of the site improvements completed in 
Spring/Summer of 2022. 



City of Fort Atkinson 
City Engineer’s Office 

101 N. Main Street 
Fort Atkinson, WI 53538 

MEMORANDUM 

DATE: September 21, 2021  

TO: Fort Atkinson City Council  

FROM:  Andy Selle PE, City Engineer 

RE: Review and possible action relating to an estimate from Century Fence 
Company for pavement markings for 2021 road construction projects for 
$34,780  

BACKGROUND 
Road work within the City has affected a number of roads that have lane markings (see 
attached). Paving will be finished this week and those lane markings need to be repainted. 

DISCUSSION 
There are two approaches to marking: using epoxy paint and using latex paint. Epoxy paint will 
last three to five years. Latex paint will last one to two years. The cost of epoxy paint is about 
double that of latex paint.  The paint work done on Rockwell Ave was epoxy, applied in 2019, 
continues to hold up well. This contract is for epoxy paint as well.  

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 
Three firms were solicited for bids. Only one responded. Century Fence also performed the 
work on Rockwell Ave in 2019. The contract will be paid at the contract unit price with actual 
quantities measured in the field. The estimated total within the bid was $34,780. 

Funds are budgeted within the Traffic Control account as well as the Street Program account to 
pay for painting.  

RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends the City Council approve a contract with Century Fence using the unit prices 
noted in the bid. The final payment will be based on field measured quantities and is estimated 
at $34,780. 

ATTACHMENTS 
Century Fence Bid; Aerial views of Proposed Streets 

Agenda



2021 Pavement Marking - Fort AtkinsonProject Name: Bid Number:
Project Location: Jefferson County, WI Bid Date: 9/2/2021

Total PriceUnit PriceUnitItem Description Estimated Quantity

$6,475.00$2.502,590.00 LFMarking Line Epoxy 4" Double Yellow

$1,250.00$1.251,000.00 LFMarking Line Epoxy 4" White Skip

$2,109.00$1.901,110.00 LFMarking Line Epoxy 6"

$8,500.00$170.0050.00 EACHPavement Markings, Parking Spot

$250.00$250.001.00 EACHMarking Handicap Symbol Epoxy

$500.00$250.002.00 EACHMarking Left Turn Arrow Epoxy

$250.00$250.001.00 EACHMarking Right Turn Arrow Epoxy

$500.00$250.002.00 EACHMarking Straight Arrow Epoxy

$750.00$250.003.00 EACHMarking Word Epoxy

$1,200.00$300.004.00 EACHMarking Right/Thru Arrow Epoxy

$1,404.00$13.00108.00 LFMarking Stop Line Epoxy 18"

$892.00$4.00223.00 LFMarking Line Epoxy 8"

$10,700.00$20.00535.00 LFMarking Cross. Epoxy Block Pattern

$34,780.00Total Bid Price:

ACCEPTED:

The above prices, specifications and conditions are satisfactory
and hereby accepted.

Buyer:

Signature:

Date of Acceptance:

CONFIRMED:

Century Fence WI

Authorized Signature:

Estimator: Jason Voelker

(262) 993-3350
jvoelker@centuryfence.com

Page 1 of 19/2/2021 3:36:09 PM



 

 

 

 

Milwaukee Ave West 

Lillian St 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Rockwell Ave (West) 



 

 

 

 

Klement St 

Bluff St 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Milwaukee Ave Lillian St Bluff St Klement St Rockwell Ave
TOTAL BID

Double Yellow Centerline 2590 LF 1180 1110 300

White Skip Centerline 1000 LF 1000

Solid White Edge Line - 6" 1110 LF 1110

Parking Spot 50 EA 50

Handicap Logo 1 EA 1

Left Turn Arrow 2 EA 2

Right Turn Arrow 1 EA 1

Straight Arrow 2 EA 2

"Only" 3 EA 1 1 1

Right / Thru Arrow 4 EA 2 2

18" Stop bar 108 LF 50 24 34

8" Lane Divider 223 LF 95 85 43

Block Cross walk 535 LF 164 92 136 33 110



City of Fort Atkinson 
Engineer’s Office 

101 N. Main Street 
Fort Atkinson, WI 53538 

MEMORANDUM 

DATE: September 21, 2021 

TO: Fort Atkinson City Council   

FROM:  Andy Selle, P.E., City Engineer/Director of Public Works 

RE: Review and possible action relating to the 2022 Recycling Grant Application to 
the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources 

BACKGROUND 
The 2022 Recycling Grant Application has been completed and is attached for your reference. 

DISCUSSION 
This is an annual grant program through the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources. The 
grant award supplements the cost of both recycling and composting for the City. The City’s 
estimated recycling expenditures in 2022 is $219,389, as outlined in the table on page 2 of this 
memo. The total represents an estimated increase of 1.5% over estimated 2021 recycling 
expenditures. The WDNR provided $35,095 in grant funds for 2021. A similar amount was 
provided in 2020. If the application is approved, staff will budget a similar amount of revenue in 
the State Recycling revenue account (01-42-0042-6600) in the 2022 budget.  

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 
The WDNR provided $35,095 in grant funds for 2021. A similar amount was provided in 2020. If 
the application is approved, staff will budget a similar amount of revenue in the State Recycling 
revenue account (01-42-0042-6600) in the 2022 budget.  

RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the City Council approve the 2022 Recycling Grant and authorize staff to 
sign and submit the application to the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources. 

ATTACHMENT 
2022 Recycling Grant Application 

AGENDA



City of Fort Atkinson 
  Engineer’s Office 
  101 N. Main Street 
  Fort Atkinson, WI 53538 

 

 
 



State of Wisconsin
Department of Natural Resources

Report Status:

Submit By Date:

State of Wisconsin
Department of Natural Resources
Bureau of Community Financial Assistance CF/2
P.O. Box 7921, Madison, WI 53707-7921

RECYCLING GRANT TO RESPONSIBLE 
UNITS APPLICATION ONLINE FORM

Form 8700-222O    Rev. 6-16

NOTICE: This form is authorized by Chapter 287, Wis. Stats., and Chapter NR 542, Wis. Adm. Code.  To be eligbile to receive a 
grant, completion of this form is mandatory.  Failure to submit the completed form to the department by October 1, 2021 will result 
in denial or reduction of grant funds for 2022.

Responsible Unit (RU) Municipal Code County 

Best Way to Contact:

Alt Telephone:

Name:  

Title:

Address:

Telephone:

Fax:

Email:

B. Primary Contact
Selle, Andy 

101 N Main St

Fort Atkinson, WI 53538-1861

aselle@fortatkinsonwi.net

920-563-7760

Best Way to Contact:

Alt Telephone:

Name:  

Title:

Address:

Telephone:

Fax:

Email:

Houseman LeMire, Rebecca 

City Manager

101 N Main St

920-563-7760

rlemire@fortatkinsonwi.net

Fort Atkinson, WI 53538-1861

JeffersonCity of Fort Atkinson

In Progress

28226

SECTION 1:  CONTACT INFORMATION

A. Authorized Representative

2022

The DNR central office has your authorizing resolution on file.  According to our records, your 
authorizing resolution names the position of CITY MANAGER as your authorizing representative.

October 1, 2021

2022 Recycling Grant To Responsible Units Application (Form 8700-222O  Rev. 6-16) Page 1 of 3



A. Multiple Municipality Information
As a single member RU, you do not need to complete the member information.

SECTION 2:  RU PROGRAM INFORMATION

NOTICE:  Net eligible recycling and yard waste costs must not include the cost of collection, processing or 
marketing of recyclables from commercial, retail, industrial, or governmental facilities, or from buildings 
containing five or more dwelling units.

Total ineligible costs and revenue (Worksheet Line 21, Column E)

Total costs of recycling program (Worksheet Line 18, Column E)

SECTION 3:  ELIGIBLE PROGRAM COSTS AND ESTIMATED COLLECTION 
TONNAGE

$219,389

$0

The following is a summary of your program costs as indicated on Costs Worksheet

Total eligible recycling costs (Worksheet Line 22, Column E) $219,389

Tons of recyclables to be collected in 2022: 1,100.00

2022 Recycling Grant To Responsible Units Application (Form 8700-222O  Rev. 6-16) Page 2 of 3



SECTION 4:  CERTIFICATION

Municipality Name: City of Fort Atkinson

Mail to: Wendy Peich
Department of Natural Resources
Bureau of Community Financial Assistance - CF/2
P.O. Box 7921
Madison, WI 53707

Muni Code: 28226

NOTE:  It is still mandatory that this page is printed, signed by your responsible unit's authorized 
representative, dated, and mailed to the address above even if you are applying on-line.

Date SubmittedSignature of Authorized Representative 

Prepared by:  

I hereby acknowledge that an Annual Report of Recycling Program 
Accomplishments and Actual Costs for 2021 will be due by April 30, 2022 and that 
failure to submit this report could cause my 2022 grant to be delayed and/or 
withheld.

Name of Authorized Representative
Rebecca Houseman LeMire

This application is not complete unless it is signed by the party designated by the Responsible Unit in an 
authorizing resolution properly adopted by the Responsible Unit and on file with the DNR.  We 
recommend that position title, rather than names of individuals, appear on the authorizing resolution.  
Doing so minimizes the need to revise the authorizing resolution when staff changes occur.  Authorizing 
resolutions remain in effect until modified by the Responsible Unit and submitted to the DNR.

Authorized Representative

Submitted By: Confirmation #:

I hereby certify that as part of my Effective Recycling Program I understand I am 
obligated to notify the DNR about any changes to my program contact and/or 
authorizing resolution information.

I hereby certify that to the best of my knowledge, the information contained in this 
application and application attachments is correct and true. I understand and agree 
that any grant monies awarded as a result of this application shall be used in 
compliance with ch. 287, Wis. Stats., and chs. NR 542 and NR 544, Wis. Adm. 
Code.

Yes

Yes

Yes

Assurances

Recycling Consolidation Grant Eligibility Summary

2022 Recycling Grant To Responsible Units Application (Form 8700-222O  Rev. 6-16) Page 3 of 3



City of Fort Atkinson 
City Manager’s Office 

101 N. Main Street 
Fort Atkinson, WI 53538 

MEMORANDUM 

DATE: September 21, 2021  

TO: Fort Atkinson City Council 

FROM:  Rebecca Houseman LeMire, City Manager 

RE: Review and possible action relating to a proposal from Tactical Athlete Health 
and Performance Institute, LLC for the City’s participation in the Rebound 
program  

BACKGROUND 
The City of Fort Atkinson switched insurance providers earlier this year for the City’s liability, 
property, and worker’s compensation insurance to the League of Wisconsin Municipalities 
Mutual Insurance (LWMMI). As the Council recalls, moving to LWMMI saved the City about 
$49,000 in insurance premiums for the 2021-2022 insurance year, which runs from July 1, 2021 
to June 30, 2022.  

In addition to the cost savings, there are many other benefits of working with LWMMI for the 
City’s insurance needs. The City’s Management Team has already met with LWMMI’s worker’s 
compensation insurance carrier (United Hartland) on a loss control service plan and initiatives 
to help control the worker’s compensation insurance premiums. Worker’s compensation rates 
are set by the State, and the City pays premiums based on the number, type, and wages of 
employees. This static figure is multiplied by a modification factor or “Mod.” The Mod is 
calculated using the number and type of worker’s compensation claims over the past three full 
years (i.e. 2021 rates are based on claims from 2017, 2018, and 2019). The Mod is the piece of 
the worker’s compensation insurance premium formula that can be controlled by the City with 
proper attention to claims, light duty programs, and other efforts at returning employees to 
work. The City and LWMMI share the goals of reducing the Mod by immediately addressing 
injuries, determining proper treatment, and bringing employees back to work after injuries 
quickly and safely.  

DISCUSSION 
LWMMI has a relationship with Tactical Athlete Health and Performance Institute, LLC (known 
as “Rebound”). Rebound provides expedited, top-notch healthcare to injured public safety 
workers, helping them return to good health and get back to work more quickly than a 
traditional healthcare model. Using Rebound’s injury management model returns employees to 
work 30% faster than without the program. Rebound is so highly recommended by LWMMI that 
LWMMI has committed to paying 100% of the cost of the program for the first three years.  

AGENDA



 
 

2 
 

Please see the attached information about Rebound and the reimbursement letter from Matt 
Becker, CEO of LWMMI.  
 
Earlier in September, Clerk Ebbert, Chief Bump, and I met with Rebound representative Marcus 
Laurinaitis, who presented the program and its benefits for City staff. Rebound was developed 
for public safety employees; however, if the City’s Police, Fire, and Public Works Departments 
participate, then the benefit is extended to all City staff and family members, including retirees. 
The goal of the program is for an injured employee to see an orthopedic or other specialist 
within 24 hours of the injury. This benefit would be integrated into the nurse triage program 
through LWMMI, meaning that an injured employee could call the nurse after an injury and 
seek advice and resources to immediately seek necessary treatment and move towards 
recovery.  
 
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 
Per the attached proposal document, the cost of the Rebound program is $225 per Fire, Police, 
and DPW employee per year for the first two years and $325 per such employee for the 3rd 
year. The City has approximately 67 employees between the Fire (33% for volunteers), Police, 
and Public Works Departments. The total cost for Rebound is shown in Table 1 below.  
 

 
 
While the cost is based on the Police, Fire, and DPW employees, the benefits are extended to 
all employees, families, and retirees.  
 
Under the agreement, the City is responsible for the initial payment of $15,075 to start the 
program and will then be reimbursed by LWMMI per the attached letter. If approved, the City 
will pay for Rebound through the worker’s compensation insurance expenditure account (01-
51-5190-6000), and the reimbursement will be credited to the insurance recoveries account 
(01-48-0048-1200) or a similarly appropriate accounts.  
 
If, for any reason, the City or Rebound desires to terminate this agreement, 90 days of notice of 
termination is required. LWMMI has not committed to extending reimbursement for Rebound 
beyond the three-year term of the first agreement. Without 100% reimbursement moving 
forward, it would be difficult, for the City to pay for this additional employee benefit. The City 
will need to re-evaluate the program and any possible reimbursement in Year 3 before any 
extension.  
 
 

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3
10/1/21 - 9/30/22 10/1/22 - 9/30/23 10/1/23 - 9/30/24

Cost of Rebound $15,075.00 $15,075.00 $21,775.00
LWMMI Reimbursement $15,075.00 $15,075.00 $21,775.00
Total Cost to City $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

Table 1: City of Fort Atkinson Cost of Rebound Program



 
 

3 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the City Council approve the Agreement with Tactical Athlete Health 
and Performance Institute, LLC, for the Rebound Program for a three-year term, subject to the 
continued reimbursement of fees by LWMMI.  
 
ATTACHMENTS 
Rebound Proposal/Statement of Work (“Agreement”); LWMMI Reimbursement Letter; 
Rebound Information Overview document  



 

2505 N Oakland Avenue, Milwaukee, WI 53211 • 800.781.2320 • justrebound.com     

 
 
 

PROPOSAL/ STATEMENT OF WORK (SOW) 
by and between  

Tactical Athlete Health and Performance Institute LLC, a Delaware limited liability company doing business in 
Wisconsin as Rebound (“Rebound”) 

and the City of Fort Atkinson (“Client”) (LWMMI) 
 

Dated: September 8, 2021 

Introduction.  Rebound, Recover is dedicated to creating an integrated, comprehensive, and personalized health and 
performance program for Client.  Rebound’s innovative solutions will add value to the job for Client’s employees through 
implementation of programs targeting job preparation and recovery as well as provide resources and initiatives that 
support an improved process of management and prevention of injury.  Rebound’s research and clinical expertise will 
create integrated single-source service solutions for Client that will help reduce injury-related costs, streamline the 
management of injury treatment and rehabilitation, and lead to the implementation of a sustainable and efficient evidence-
based health, fitness, and performance programming.  This innovative program will lead to the discovery of new 
information, knowledge, and possibly tools that provide data and outcome driven metrics to improve the quality of life for 
a city worker, both during his/her career and post-retirement.  

Project Description.  The strategic phases of this project will begin with an initial period of consultative assessment that 
will inform the development of strategic research initiatives and implementation of targeted programs and practices.  Our 
short-term goals include (a) creating an awareness and understanding for the added value that Rebound brings to the 
individual employee, (b) identifying gaps in knowledge and practices that, if closed, will improve health of Client’s 
employees, and (c) establish an injury management system that rewards the employee and employer through efficiency, 
reduced costs, and reduced time lost.  

Specific Aims/Milestones.  Rebound will provide a team of experts and professionals who are licensed as physical 
therapists and athletic trainers, credentialed in advanced assessment of movement and strength and conditioning, trained 
in cutting edge technology and software, and established educators and researchers. The Rebound team will work with 
Client to:   

1. Establish and implement a network-based system for management of the treatment orthopedic injury.  Achieving 
this milestone will involve:  

a.  Full Assessment and determination of best practice for implementation of the Network based on workers 
compensation laws, HIPAA, and practice acts in the State of Wisconsin. 

b.  Selection of physicians (orthopedic and primary care) and physical therapists or athletic trainers for the 
Network; 

c.  Implementation of Rebound software for current employees; and  
d.  Access to the Rebound Network will be allowed for Client’s employees, current and future retired 

employees, and their immediate family members. 
2. Development of outcome metrics.  Achieving this milestone will involve: 

a.  Rebound will work with the Client Representative (as identified below) to obtain data necessary to build 
a metric model (i.e., days lost, # of injuries, body part, injury type, dollars spent on health claims, 
dollars spent on “backfill”, participation in healthy initiatives); and 

b.  Develop predictive/proprietary algorithm(s) for determination of # of injuries/lost days and the cost 
benefits of the collective and individual programs (such models and algorithms may require three (3) 
years of data in order to obtain a sample size large enough to create a valid and reliable metric). 



 

2505 N Oakland Avenue, Milwaukee, WI 53211 • 800.781.2320 • justrebound.com     

 

Implementation Timeline. Access to the Rebound Provider Network and advocacy services shall commence on 
October 1, 2021.   

Fees.   

Year 1.  Total Fees due and payable for the Services performed during the initial term of October 1, 2021 to September 
30, 2022 will be Fifteen Thousand Seventy-Five Dollars and 00/100 Cents ($15,075 = $225 x 67 total members payable 
in full by October 1, 2021. 

Year 2.  Total Fees due and payable for the Services performed during the term of October 1, 2022 to September 30, 2023 
will be Fifteen Thousand Seventy-Five Dollars and 00/100 ($15,075 = $225 x 67 total members payable in full by 
October 1, 2022. 

Year 3.  Total Fees due and payable for the Services performed during the term of October 1, 2023 to September 30, 2024 
will be Twenty-One Thousand Seven Hundred Seventy-Five Dollars and 00/100 Cents ($21,775 = $325 x 67 total 
members payable in full by October 1, 2023. 

Client Representative. 
Name: ____________________________ 
Email: ____________________________ 
Telephone Number:  _________________ 
Client Entities: 
____________________________ 
____________________________ 

 

Terms and Conditions. This SOW adopts and incorporates by reference Rebound’s standard terms and conditions, 
available at https://justrebound.com/terms-conditions/. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in or 
incorporated into any other document executed between the parties, the terms and conditions shall apply to this SOW and 
any subsequent orders, agreements, or SOWs and shall govern the relationship between the parties, unless there is a 
specific exception to the terms and conditions outlined in such SOW. By accepting this SOW, Client confirms Client has 
read and accepts the terms and conditions. 
 

 

 

[Signature Page Follows]



 

2505 N Oakland Avenue, Milwaukee, WI 53211 • 800.781.2320 • justrebound.com   
  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this SOW to be executed on the day and year of the 
first above written.  No portion of this SOW may be reproduced, duplicated, or revealed in any manner without 
the prior written consent of REBOUND. 
 
 
REBOUND: 
 
Tactical Athlete Health and Performance Institute LLC  
 
 
 
 
 
By: _________________________________ 
 
Luis Rivera, Founder and CEO 
 

CLIENT: 
 
_________________________________ 
 
 
 
By: _____________________ 
Name: _____________________ 
Title: _____________________ 
Address: 
____________________________ 
____________________________ 
 

 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 

 

League of Wisconsin Municipalities Mutual Insurance 

 

Re: Rebound 

 

LWMMI is committed to helping the employees in our communities achieve the best outcome after an 

injury. To make this happen, we have entered into an exclusive partnership with Rebound who 

specializes in getting our injured employees to the best physicians and physical therapists in your area. 

Quick access to these top providers improves the quality of care, achieves a better outcome, and 

accelerates the return to a normal work and family life.  

 

LWMMI believes this is an important service and is beneficial to the employee, municipality, and the 

program. As such, we have agreed to pay for the cost of this service based on the contract each 

municipality has signed with Rebound. Our only expectation is that when injuries do happen that the 

services of Rebound are utilized.  

 

We are excited to offer this service and believe it speaks to the core values of our program. And that is 

to put our members first. Feel free to reach out to me or your agent with any questions. 

 

Thanks. 

 

 

 

Matt Becker 

CEO 

LWMMI  

630-247-1370 

matt@lwmmi.org 



Hello!

Rebound began simply: An injured firefighter needed surgery but was
facing a six week delay.

As a physical therapist and athletic trainer who worked in sports-
medicine, I couldn’t believe this dedicated public safety worker was
facing that kind of lag in care. In the sports world, delays just didn't
happen for my pro athlete clients. 

I had to help.

I arranged for that firefighter to see a sports-medicine trained
orthopedic surgeon who scheduled surgery for later that week. Quickly,
the firefighter returned to good health and work, and his department
experienced dual wins of increased morale and financial savings.

Ten years later, Rebound is delivering that same expedited, top-notch
healthcare to injured public safety workers across the country. And
now, Vitality, our new innovative wellness division, helps employees
decrease the risk of illness and injury, while feeling better and
improving performance.

Thank you for your interest in Rebound, and we look forward to
creating a true partnership with your department. 

Sincerely,

Luis Rivera
Founder and CEO, Rebound

Employees return to
work 30% faster
after an injury with
Rebound's injury
management model.

Support from our
staff and treatment
from our elite
network of
providers means
employees feel
cared for and
valued.

Departments
countrywide report
that our program
pays for itself
within 10 weeks
through backfill
overtime savings.

Back on the job. Faster.



When public safety employees get injured, their absence has a profound impact on a
department's morale, budgets and staffing.

 

Rebound uses the principles of sports medicine to quickly bring your valuable team
members "back to the field," just like professional sports injury management. On average,
our treatment approach will return your employees to good health and work three months

faster than a traditional treatment approach.
 

Here's how we do it:

The Rebound Difference.

Our Navigators are athletic
trainers whose careers were
forged in the assessment,
treatment and rehabilitation
of injuries in collegiate and
professional sports. We
bring this same expertise to
your injured workers who
put their bodies to the test
every day. 

Rebound Advocates assist
employees every step of the
way in their injury recovery.
They eliminate healthcare
roadblocks so that workers
concentrate on just one
thing: getting better. They
follow up after every doctor's
appointment and keep all
stakeholders informed.

Our network of clinicians
and therapists are experts at
treating patients with
physically demanding jobs.
They are dedicated to giving
your workers priority
scheduling and procedures,
and they take training to
further understanding our
members' needs.

30%
REBOUND VS. STANDARD TREATMENT

JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP

WORKSTANDARD
TREATMENT

WORKINJURY
FASTER

INJURY

DELAYS



Firefighter Tom M. shares
his priority care following

a harrowing work injury.

Bouncing back
to health

Why we do what we do.

How Rebound is improving
healthcare for first responders -
because it's the right thing to do.

Revolutionizing
healthcare

Hear firsthand why clinicians and therapists in our network want to offer the best care possible
Providers who are honored to treat you

https://youtu.be/ykWqzDvunIM
https://youtu.be/qALl9fd-1io
https://youtu.be/suprEYOZE0Q


3D movement analysis giving you the most accurate
assessment for risk of injury
Individual movement coaching via the Rebound app,
as well as consultations with a virtual athletic trainer
Rebound Vitality Recovery Zones with gear from
Hyperice for expedited muscle recovery

Safe Movement and Muscle Recovery

Vitality brings innovative wellness to public safety workers, harnessing the power
of technology, data, cutting-edge gear and VIP-level services to safeguard your

employees' well-being, help them feel better and perform at their best. 

VITALITY FITNESS

Getting healthier. Staying healthier. 

Our proprietary blood test specifically
looks for risk factors associated with

public safety jobs. If concerns are found,
you will be referred to the best

cardiologist specialist in your region.

Cardiology Screening 

Organic meal delivery from our partner, Trifecta
Macro-balanced nutrition with quality proteins, organic
veggies and whole grains
Clean, paleo, keto, vegan and vegetarian programs
Diet-selection screening

Nutrition Built for Performance

Our proprietary blood test screens for
cancer risk factors associated with the
jobs of first responders. If a follow up is
indicated, you will be referred to the best

oncologist specialist in your region.

Cancer Screening 



Our Mission

What We Believe

What we believe.

Every day, public safety employees get injured working their demanding jobs. Rebound delivers
expedited, top-notch healthcare to injured public safety workers across the country, helping them
return to good health and get back to their busy lives as well as their challenging and important

work far more quickly than a traditional healthcare model.

We take great pride in establishing trustworthy, transparent and mutually beneficial partnerships with municipalities, insurance

companies, healthcare providers, and the members we serve. Together, we are committed to serve and protect public safety

employees and their families, and pledge to lead them through the complexities of the traditional healthcare system, help them

heal when injured so they get back to work quickly, and more important, guide them to live healthy and happy lives.

People-centered

Empathetic

Our Purpose

Our Values

Responsive & timely

Reliable & trustworthy 

Authentic & transparentCollaborative

Unafraid



What We Believe

We get it. We've been there.

Years' Experience

(800) 781-2320

www.justrebound.com

2505 N Oakland Ave, Milwaukee WI 53211

hello@justrebound.com

Our team is led by sports medicine trained therapists, experienced first responders and caring
advocates who uniquely understand the challenges your employees face.

 

We protect those who protect us.

100+ YEARS
expertise in sports medicine and

patient healthcare advocacy

90+ YEARS
combined in law enforcement,
firefighting and education

220
Municipalities

(and building)

50,000+
Lives Protected

(and growing)

10+ with proven
track record

MINORITY 
OWNED BUSINESS

Rebound: By the Numbers

9
States

(and expanding)


	Agenda
	City Council Minutes 9.7.21
	Plan Commission Minutes 9.14.21
	Permit Report August
	Monthly License Report
	5.f. 9.21.21 Holiday Parade Special Event.pdf
	Holiday Parade Memo 2021.pdf
	Holiday Parade Spec Event App 2021.pdf
	Holiday Parade Description 2021.pdf
	Holiday Parade Map 2021.pdf

	9.21.21 Council Packet - Virtual Meeting Ordinance.pdf
	9.21.21 Council Memo - Virtual Meetings.pdf
	Ord No Virtual Meeting Ord - Redline.pdf
	Ord No Virtual Meeting Ord - Clean.pdf

	9.21.21 Council Packet - UHaul GDP.pdf
	9.21.21 Council Memo - Uhaul GDP.pdf
	U-Haul GDP Report 8.4.21 Strike.pdf
	19-138 U-Haul Fort Atkinson.GDP Submittal.09-07-2021.pdf
	Sheets
	001 - TITLE SHEET
	100 - SITE DEMO
	102 - SITE PLAN
	103 - SITE GRADING PLAN
	104 - SITE MAINTENANCE & DETAILS
	106 - SITE PHOTOMETRIC PLAN
	107 - RETURN CANOPY
	108 - RETURN CANOPY STRUCTURE
	110 - SITE COMPONENT DETAILS
	112 - SITE SIGNAGE DETAILS
	202 - FLOOR PLAN
	246 - NORTH & SOUTH ELEVATIONS


	Written Narative 9-7-2021.pdf

	9.21.21 Council Packet - Pavement Markings
	9.21.21 Council Packet - 2022 Recycling Grant.pdf
	9.21.21 Council Memo 2022 Recycling Grant.pdf
	2022 Recycling Grant Application.pdf

	9.21.21 Council Packet - Rebound Program.pdf
	9.21.21 Council Memo Rebound Program.pdf
	City of Fort Atkinson (LWMMI) Proposal SOW 8SEPT21.pdf
	Rebound reimbursement letter.pdf
	Rebound Digital Introduction 4-1-21.pdf




